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amounts)a€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ AEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEJuly 31,a€<a€<October 31,46<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023ASSETSA€<A€<A€<A€<AE<a€<Current assets:A€ A€ A€ 4€4€&€<«Cash and cash
equivalents, unrestricteda€«$ 159,347a€<$ 249,952Restricted cash and cash equivalents - short-terma€<«a€« 9,686a€<«a€« 5,159Investments - short-terma€<«a€« 107,817a€<a€<« 103,760Accounts
receivable, neta€<«a€« 11,1614€<4€<« 3,809Unbilled receivablesa€<a€« 30,1694€<«a€<« 16,296Inventoriesa€<«a€« 129,3494€<«a€« 84,4560ther current assetsa€<«a€« 12,4394€<«a€« 12,881Total current
assetsa€«a€« 459,968a€<a€« 476,313Restricted cash and cash equivalents - long-terma€<a€« 49,148a€<a€« 44,465Inventories - long-terma€«a€« 2,743a€«a€« 7,329Project assets, neta€«a€«
248,7904€<a€<« 258,066Property, plant and equipment, neta€<a€« 121,382a€<4€« 89,6680perating lease right-of-use assets, neta€<«a€« 7,8844€ €« 8,352Goodwilla€«a€« 4,0754€<a€«
4,075Intangible assets, neta€<a€« 15,104a€<a€<« 16,0760ther assetsa€«a€« 39,816a€<a€« 51,176Total assets (1)a€«$ 948,910a€<$ 955,520LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITYA€ A€ <a€<a€<a€«a€«Current liabilities:4€<a€<«4€<a€<a€<a€«Current portion of long-term debta€«$ 12,2324€«$ 10,067Current portion of operating lease liabilitiesa€<«a€« 760a€<a€«
599Accounts payablea€«a€« 16,928a€«a€« 26,518Accrued liabilitiesa€<a€« 25,970a€<a€« 26,313Deferred revenuea€«a€« 10,649a€<a€« 2,406 Total current liabilitiesa€<a€« 66,539a€<a€«
65,903Long-term deferred revenuea€<a€« 1,979a€<a€« 732Long-term operating lease liabilitiesa€<a€« 8,7084€<4€« 8,992Long-term debt and other liabilitiesa€<«a€<« 126,720a€<a€« 119,588Total
liabilities (1)a€<«a€< 203,946a€<a€« 195,215Redeemable Series B preferred stock (liquidation preference of $64,020 as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023)a€<«a€< 59,857a€<«@a€« 59,857Total
equity:a€<«a€<a€<«a€«a€<a€<Stockholdersa€™ equity:a€<a€«a€<a€<«a€«@€<Common stock ($0.0001 par value); 1,000,000,000 shares authorized as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023;
553,840,943 and 450,626,862 shares issued and outstanding as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, respectivelya€<a€« 55a€«a€« 45Additional paid-in capitala€<a€« 2,277,417a€<a€«<
2,199,661Accumulated deficita€<a€« (1,600,134)a€<a€« (1,515,541)Accumulated other comprehensive lossa€«a€« (1,576)a€«a€« (1,672)Treasury stock, Common, at cost (376,340 and 246,468
shares as of July 31, 2024and October 31, 2023, respectively)a€«a€« (1,198)a€<«a€« (1,078)Deferred compensationa€<«a€« 1,198a€<a€« 1,078 Total stockholdersa€™ equitya€<«a€« 675,762a€<a€«
682,493Noncontrolling interestsa€<a€« 9,345a€<a€« 17,955Total equitya€<a€< 685,107a€<«a€« 700,448 Total liabilities, redeemable Series B preferred stock and total equitya€<$ 948,910&€<$
955,520(1)As of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, the combined assets of the variable interest entities (a€ceVIEsa€) were $318,699 and $235,290, respectively, that can only be used to settle
obligations of the VIEs. A These assets include cash of $4,239, accounts receivable of $726, unbilled accounts receivable of $8,403, operating lease right of use assets of $1,667, other current
assets of $137,326, restricted cash and cash equivalents of $625, project assets of $161,964 and other assets of $3,749 as of July 31, 2024, and cash of $4,797, unbilled accounts receivable of
$1,876, operating lease right of use assets of $1,680, other current assets of $50,713, A restricted cash and cash equivalents of $526, project assets of $170,444, derivative assets of $4,127 and
other assets of $1,125 as of October 31, 2023. The combined liabilities of the VIEs as of July 31, 2024 include short-term operating lease liabilities of $203, accounts payable of $184,900,
accrued liabilities of $497, deferred revenue of $132, long-term operating lease liability of $2,146 and other non-current liabilities of $2,725 and, as of October 31, 2023, include short-term
operating lease liabilities of $203, accounts payable of $165,824, long-term operating lease liability of $2,159 and other non-current liabilities of $187.4€<See accompanying notes to
consolidated financial statements.a€<3 Table of ContentsFUELCELL ENERGY,A INC.Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss(Unaudited)(Amounts in thousands, except
share and per share amounts)a€ <&€ <€ <4€ &€ &€ a€<a€<a€<Three Months Ended July 31,4€<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023Revenues:a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<Producta€<$ 2504€<$ -Servicea€ «a€«
1,4114€<4€< 9,841Generationa€<a€« 13,402a€<a€<« 10,982Advanced Technologiesa€«a€« 8,632a€<a€« 4,687Total revenuesa€<a€« 23,695a€<a€« 25,510Costs of
revenues:a€<a€<«a€«@€«a€<a€«Producta€«a€« 4,1814€4€< 2,910Servicea€<a€« 1,146a€<a€« 9,575Generationd€<«a€« 18,7614€«a€<« 17,483Advanced Technologiesa€<a€« 5,809a€<a€« 3,757Total costs
of revenuesa€<a€« 29,897a€<a€« 33,725Gross lossa€<a€« (6,202)a€<a€« (8,215)Operating expenses:a€<a€«a€«a€<a€<«a€«Administrative and selling expensesa€«a€« 14,599a€<«a€<« 17,560Research
and development expensesa€<a€« 12,816a€<a€« 15,620Total costs and expensesa€<a€« 27,415a€<a€« 33,180Loss from operationsa€«a€« (33,617)a€<«a€« (41,395)Interest expensea€«a€«
(2,555)a€<a€« (1,912)Interest incomed€<«a€« 3,269a€<a€« 3,966Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, neta€<«a€« -a4€<a€« 15,3370ther (expense) income, neta€<«a€« (2,218)a€<a€«<
403Loss before provision for income taxesa€<«a€« (35,121)a€«a€« (23,601)Provision for income taxesa€«a€« (2)a€<a€« -Net loss a€<a€« (35,123)a€<a€« (23,601)Net (loss) income attributable to
noncontrolling interestsa€«a€« (2,463)a€«a€« 678Net loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc.a€<a€« (32,660)a€ @€« (24,279)Series B preferred stock dividendsa€<«a€« (800)a€«a€« (800)Net loss
attributable to common stockholdersa€«$ (33,460)a€<$ (25,079)Loss per share basic and diluted:a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<«a€<Net loss per share attributable to common stockholdersa€<$ (0.07)a€<$
(0.06)Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstandinga€<«a€< 503,183,725a€<«a€« 415,867,594a€<4€ a€<a€<a€<a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€Three Months Ended July

31,a€<4€<A A A A 2024A A A A 20234€<Net lossa€<$ (35,123)a€<$ (23,601)a€<Other comprehensive loss:a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<Foreign currency translation adjustmentsa€«a€« 1414€ &€«
(164)a€<Total comprehensive lossa€«$ (34,982)a€«$ (23,765)a€<Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interestsa€<«a€« (2,463)a€<«a€<« 678a€«Comprehensive loss attributable
to FuelCell Energy, Inc.&€<$ (32,519)a€<$ (24,44 3)4€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€4 Table of ContentsFUELCELL ENERGY,A INC.Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Loss(Unaudited)(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)a€«a€«a€«a€a€«a€«a€«a€«@€«a€«Nine Months Ended July

31,4€<A A A A2024A A A A 2023A A A A Revenues:a€<a€<A€<A€<A€<A€AEProducta€<$ 2504€<$ 9,0954€<Servicea€«a€« 4,3974€<A€« 49,9134€<Generationa€<a€« 38,0134€<4€<« 28,9794€«Advanced



Technologiesa€<a€« 20,146a€<a€< 12,945a€<Total revenuesa€«a€« 62,806a€<a€« 100,932a€<«Costs of revenues:a€<a€<a€<«a€«a€«a€<a€<Producta€«a€« 9,5104€<a€<« 7,425a€<Serviced€a€«
4,3014€<a€< 40,6334€<Generationa€«a€« 61,079a€<a€« 51,166a€<Advanced Technologiesa€«a€« 12,917a€<a€« 10,779a€<Total costs of revenuesa€«a€<« 87,807a€a€<« 110,0034€<Gross lossa€<a€«
(25,001)a€<a€« (9,071)a€<Operating expenses:a€<a€ a€«a€<«a€«a€«@€«Administrative and selling expensesa€«a€« 48,659a€<«a€« 47,637a€<Research and development expensesa€«a€« 43,796a€<a€«
43,000a€<Total costs and expensesa€<a€« 92,4554€<a€« 90,637a€<Loss from operationsa€«a€« (117,456)4€<a€< (99,708)a€Interest expensed€«a€« (7,168)a€<«a€« (4,926)a€Interest incomea€ a€«
10,726a€<a€« 11,064a€<Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, neta€<«a€« -a€<a€« 15,337a€«Other (expense) income, neta€<a€« (3,278)a€<«a€« 216a€<Loss before provision for
income taxesa€<«a€« (117,176)a€<«a€< (78,017)a€« Provision for income taxesa€<«a€« (2)a€<«a€« (581)a€<Net lossa€«a€« (117,178)a€«a€« (78,598)a€« Net loss attributable to noncontrolling
interestsa€<«a€« (32,585)a€«a€« (1,394)a€«Net loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc.a€<a€« (84,593)a€<a€« (77,204)a€Series B preferred stock dividendsa€«a€« (2,400)a€«a€« (2,400)a€«Net
loss attributable to common stockholdersa€«$ (86,993)a€<$ (79,604)a€<Loss per share basic and diluted:a€<a€<4€<«a€<a€<a€<«a€«Net loss per share attributable to common stockholdersa€«
(0.19)4€<$ (0.19)a€<Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstandinga€<a€« 469,387,2644€<a€< 409,361,8264€<4€ A€ A€ A€ A€ AE<AE A€ A€ <aE<a€«a€<Nine Months Ended July

31,a€<A AAA2024A AAA2023A AAANetlossa€<$ (117,178)a€<$ (78,598)a€«Other comprehensive income (loss):a€<a€«a€«a€<a€<«a€«a€<Foreign currency translation adjustmentsa€<a€«<
964a€«@€« 132a€<Total comprehensive lossa€<$ (117,082)a€«$ (78,466)a€«Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interestsa€«a€« (32,585)a€<a€« (1,394)a€<«Comprehensive loss
attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc.a€<$ (84,497)a€<$ (77,072)a€<«a€<«See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.a€<5 Table of Contentsa€<«FUELCELL

ENERGY,A INC.Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity(Unaudited)(Amounts in thousands, except share
amounts)a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«af«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€<«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€<«a€<a€«a€«Common

StockA€ A€ A€ AEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEAEA A A A SharesA A A A AmountA A A A AdditionalPaid-

inCapitalA A A A AccumulatedDeficitA A A A AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveLossA A A A TreasuryStockA A A A DeferredCompensationa€<a€<Total Stockholders' Equitya€<a€<Noncontrolling
InterestsA A A A TotalEquityBalance, October 31, 20234€< 450,626,862a€<$ 45a€<$ 2,199,6614€<$ (1,515,541)a€<$ (1,672)a€<$ (1,078)a€<$ 1,0784€<$ 682,4934€<$ 17,9554€<$ 700,448Common
stock issued, non-employee compensationa€« 44,3983€<a€« 4€”4€<a€« 51a€<a€<« a€"a€<a€<« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« 51a€<a€« a€”a€<«a€« 51Stock issued under benefit plans, net of taxes
paid upon vesting of restricted stock awardsa€« 1,235,1923€«a€<« 4€"a€<a€« (926)a€<a€<« A€"a€<A€« AE"A€ A€« A€"a€<AE« A€"A€ A€« (926)a€ A€« A€”a€<a€« (926)Share based compensationa€«
A€”a€«@a€« 4€”a€«a€« 2,876a€«a€« 4€”a€<«a€« A€"a€<a€<« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« 2,876a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« 2,876Preferred dividends a€” Series Ba€« 4€”a€«a€« 4€”a€<«a€< (800)a€<a€« 4€"a€<a€«

4€”A€ A€« A€"a€<AE« A€"AE A€« (B00)AE<A€« A€”a€<a€« (800)Effect of foreign currency translationd€« 4€”a€<«a€« 4€”A€ A€« A€"A€<A€« A€"A€ A€« 33a€<a€« A€"A€A€« AE"A€<A€« 33a€<A€« €€ A€«
33Adjustment for deferred compensationa€« (44,398)4€ A€« A€”A€ A€« A€ A€ A€« AE"AE A€« A€ A€ A€« (51)A€ A€« 518€<a€« 4€"A€ A€« A€”a€<a€<« 4€”Contributions received from sale of
noncontrolling interesta€« 4€”a€<a€« 4€"4€«a€<« A€"A€ A€« A€"A€A€« A€"A€ A€« A€"A€A€« A€"A€ A€« a€"a€«a€« 25,1224a€<a€« 25,122Distribution to noncontrolling interestsa€« a€”a€<a€«
A€”a€«a€« A€"A€ A€« AE"AE A€« AE"A€ A€« A€"A€<AE« A€"AE<AE« a€"a€<AE« (236)aE«a€« (236)Net Lossa€« A€”a€«a€« A€”a€«a€<« a€"a€<a€< (19,793)a€<a€« A€"a€<A€« A€"A€<aE« A€"A€<aE«
(19,793)a€<a€< (24,606)a€<a€« (44,399)Balance, January 31, 20244€< 451,862,054a€<$ 458€<$ 2,200,8624€<$ (1,535,334)a€<$ (1,639)a€<$ (1,129)a€<$ 1,1294€<$ 663,9344€<$ 18,2354€<$
682,169Sale of common stock, net of feesa€« 6,463,716a€<a€« 1a€<a€< 5,892a€<a€« 4€"4€<a€« 4€"A€<a€« A€"a€ A€« A€"a€«a€« 5,893a€«a€« 4€”a€«a€« 5,893Common stock issued, non-employee
compensationa€« 46,3574€«a€< A€”A€<a€« 474€ A€« A€"A€<A€« A€"A€ A€« A€"A€<A€« A€"AE A€« 47a€ A€« 4€”a€<a€« 47Stock issued under benefit plans, net of taxes paid upon vesting of restricted
stock awardsa€< 68,5974€<4€<« A€"A€<A€« (52)A€ A€« A€"AE A€« AE"AE A€« AE"AE A€« AE"A€a€« (52)a€<a€« a€"a€<a€<« (52)Share based compensationa€« a€”a€<a€<« 4€"4€<a€« 3,002a8€<a€« a€"a€<a€<«
4€"A€ A€« A€"AE<AE« A€"A€ A€« 3,0024€<a€<« a€”a€<a€« 3,002Preferred dividends 4€” Series Ba€« 4€”4€<A€« 4€”a€<a€« (B00)A€ A€« A€"A€<AE« A€"A€ A€« A€"AE<AE« A€"A€ A€« (B00)AE A€« A€"A€ A€«
(800)Effect of foreign currency translationa€« 4€”a€<a€« 4€"a€<a€« 4€"a€<a€<« 4€"a€<a€« (78)a€ A€« 4€"a€ A€« 4€"a€<A€« (78)a€a€« a€”a€<a€« (78)Adjustment for deferred compensationa€«
(33,948)4€<a€<« A€”a€<A€« AE"A€ A€« A€"A€<AE« A€"A€ A€« (35)A€<a€« 35a€<A€« AE€"A€ A€« A€”a€<a€« a€”Distribution to non-controlling interesta€« 4€”a€<a€« 4€”A€ A€« A€"A€<A€« A€ A€ A€«
4€"8€<A€« 4€"a€<AE€« A€"a€<aE« AE"A€ <A< (425)a€<a€« (425)Net Lossa€« a€"a€«a€« a€”a€<a€« 4€"a€<A€< (32,140)a€a€« a€"A€ A€« 4€"A€ A€« a€"a€<a€« (32,140)a€<a€< (5,516)a€ a€«
(37,656)Balance, April 30, 20244€< 458,406,776a€<$ 46a€<$ 2,208,9514€<$ (1,567,474)a€<$ (1,717)a€<$ (1,164)a€<$ 1,1644€<$ 639,806a€<$ 12,2944€<$ 652,100Sale of common stock, net of
feesa€« 95,220,151a€<a€« 94€«a€« 65,839a€ A€« A€"a€<a€« a€"a€«a€« A€”a€<a€« a€”a€«a€« 65,848a€<a€« a€"a€«a€« 65,848Common stock issued, non-employee compensationa€« 70,360a€<a€«
A€"A€ A€« 478€<A€« A€"A€ A€« A€"AEAE« A€"AE A€« AE"AE€<AE« 4TA€ A€« A€”a€ A€« 47Stock issued under benefit plans, net of taxes paid upon vesting of restricted stock awardsa€« 195,1824€<4€«
A€”A€ A€« 308€<A€<« A€"A€<AE« A€"A€<AE« A€"A€<AE« A€"a€<aE« 30a€<«a€« 4€”a€«a€« 30Share based compensationa€« 4€”a€«a€<« 4€”a€<«a€« 3,3508€<«a€<« A€"A€<A€<« A€"A€<A€<« A€"A€ A€« A€" A€ A€«
3,350&€<a€« a€”a€«@€« 3,350Preferred dividends a€” Series Ba€« a€”a€<a€« a€”a€<a€« (800)a€«a€« a€”a€«a€« a€”a€«a€« a€”a€«a€« a€"a€<a€« (800)a€«a€« a€”a€«a€« (800)Adjustment for deferred
compensationd€« (51,526)a€ @€« 4€”a€<a€« a€"a€«a€« A€"A€ A€« A€"a€A€« (34)a€ A€« 34a€<a€« a€"a€«a€« a€”a€«a€« a€”Effect of foreign currency translationa€« 4€”a€<«a€« a€”a€<«a€« 4€”a€a€«
A€7a€«@€« 141a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« 141a€<a€« a€”a€<a€« 141Distribution to non-controlling interesta€« 4€”a€«a€« 4€"a€<«a€< a€"a€<a€<« a€"a€<a€<« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<ak«
(485)a€<a€< (485)Net Lossa€« a€"a€<a€<« A€”a€a€<« A€"A€<a€« (32,660)a€<a€<« A€"4€<a€<« A€"4€ A€« A€"4€ A€« (32,660)a€<a€< (2,464)a€<a€< (35,124)Balance, July 31, 20244€< 553,840,9434€<$
55a€<$ 2,277,4174€<$ (1,600,134)a€<$ (1,576)a€<$ (1,198)a€<$ 1,1984€<$ 675,762a€<$ 9,345a4€<$ 685,1074€<4€<6 Table of ContentsFUELCELL ENERGY,A INC.Consolidated Statements of
Changes in Equity(Unaudited)(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)a€<a€<a€«a€«a€<a€<a€«a€a€«a€<a€«a€ Q€ «a€«a€a€ A€ «a€«a€«a€ A€ A€ «at«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€a€«a€«a€«a€«Common
StockA A€<A€ A€ AEAEAEAE AL AL AEAEAEAE AL AEAEAEAE AL AL AEAtAE A€ A SharesA a€«Amounta€<a€<AdditionalPaid-

inCapitalA AccumulatedDeficitA AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveLossA TreasuryStockA DeferredCompensationA &€<Total Stockholders' EquityA &€<Noncontrolling

InterestsA a€<TotalEquityBalance, October 31, 20224€< 405,562,988a€<$ 414€<$ 2,094,076a€<$ (1,407,973)a€<$ (1,752)a€<$ (855)a€<$ 855a€<$ 684,392a€<$ 7,1054€<$ 691,497Common stock
issued, non-employee compensationa€« 21,106a€<a€<« 4€”A€ A€« 68a€<A€« A€"AE€ A€« AE"A€<A€« A€"A€ A€« AE"A€<a€« 68a€«a€« 4€”a€<a€« 68Stock issued under benefit plans, net of taxes paid
upon vesting of restricted stock awardsa€< 169,0653€<a€« a€”4€<a€« (314)a€<a€« a€"a€<a€<« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« (314)a€«a€« a€”a€<a€« (314)Share based compensationd€« a€"a€<a€«
4€”4€<A€< 2,637a€<a€« A€"A€«AE« AE"A€ A€« A€"AEAE« AE"AE€<A€« 2,637a€<a€« a€”a€<«a€« 2,637Preferred dividends 4€” Series Ba€« 4€”a€<a€<« A€”a€<A€« (B00)A€<a€« a€"a€ A€« A€”a€ A€«
A€”a€«@a€« 4€”a€«@a€« (800)a€<a€« a€"a€<«a€« (800)Effect of foreign currency translationd€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€<« A€"A€<a€« A€"A€<A€« 4478€<A€<« A€"a€<A€<« a€"a€<A€<« 447a€a€« 4€"a€a€«
447Adjustment for deferred compensationa€« (21,106)3a€«a€« A€”A€<a€« A€"A€A€« AE€"A€ A€« A€"A€<AE« (68)AE A€« 6BAE<AE« A€"a€<A€« A€”a€ A€« a€”Reclassification of redeemable non-
controlling interesta€< a€”a€<a€< a€"a€<a€<« A€"a€<A€« A€"A€<A€« A€"A€<AE« A€"A€<A€« A€"A€<a€« 4€"a€<a€« 3,030a€<a€« 3,030Distribution to non-controlling interesta€« 4€”a€<«a€« 4€"a€<«a€«
A€"A€ A€« A€"AE<AE« AE"AE A€« AE"AE<AE« A€"AE A€« A€"AE€<AE« (106)a€<a€« (106)Net Lossa€« 4€”A€ A€« A€”a€<A€« AE"A€ A€« (18,622)a€<A€« A€”A€ A€« A€"A€<AE« AE"a€«A€< (18,622)a€<a€<«
(2,464)a€<a€« (21,086)Balance, January 31, 20234€< 405,732,053a€<$ 41a€<$ 2,095,667a€<$ (1,426,595)a€<$ (1,305)a€<$ (923)a€<$ 923a€<$ 667,808a€<$ 7,565 a€<$ 675,373Sale of common
stock, net of feesa€« 949,4384€<a€« 4€"A€<A€« 2,6634€ A€« A€"A€<AE« A€"A€ A€« A€”A€<a€« A€"A€« A€« 2,6634€a€« 4€” 4€« 4€« 2,663Stock issued under benefit plans, net of taxes paid upon
vesting of restricted stock awardsa€« 57,222a€<a€<a€<a€<«a€« 4€"a€«a€« 4€”a€«a€« 4€"a€«a€« A€"a€<A€<« A€"a€« A€« A€"a€<A€« 4€" 4€« &€« 4€”Share based compensationd€« a€"a€<a€« 4€"4€<a€«
3,1944€<4€« A€”A€<A€« A€"A€A€« A€"A€ A€« A€”a€« a€« 3,1944€A€« 4€” A€« 4€« 3,194Preferred dividends 4€” Series Ba€« 4€”4€<A€<« 4€”a€<a€« (B00)A€<A€<« A€”A€AE« AE"A€ A€« A€"AE<AE« A€"AE«
4€« (800)a€<«a€« a€” a€« a€« (800)Effect of foreign currency translationa€« a€”a€<«a€« 4€”a€<a€« a€”a€<«a€« a€”a€<«a€« (151)a€«a€« a€”a€«a€« a€"a€« a€« (151)a€«a€« a€” a€« a€« (151)Distribution to
noncontrolling interesta€« 4€”4€ A€« 4€”a€<a€« A€"A€ A€« A€"A€<AE« A€"A€ A€« A€"AE<AE« A€"AE« A€« A€"A€ A€« (143) &€« &€« (143)Net lossa€« A€”A€ A€« A€ A€ A€ A€<A€<aE« (34,303)a€ A€«
4€"8€<a€« 4€"a€<a€« 4€"a€<« A€« (34,303)a€<a€« 392 a€« a6« (33,911)Balance, April 30, 2023&€< 406,738,7134€<$ 41a€<$ 2,100,7244€<$ (1,460,898)a€<$ (1,456)a€<$ (923)a€<$ 923a€<$
638,4114€<$ 7,814 4€<$ 646,225Sale of common stock, net of feesa€« 37,931,2044€<4€« 3a€<a€« 83,2684€<a€<« A€"A€A€« A€"A€ A€« A€"A€A€« A€"A€« A€« B3,2714€<4€« 4€” A€« 4€<¢
83,271Common stock issued, non-employee compensationa€« 42,6014€«a€<« a€”a€<a€« 105a€<a€« a€"a€«a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€«a€« a€”a€« a€<« 105a€a€« a€” a€« a€« 105Stock issued under benefit
plan, net of taxes paid upon vesting of restricted stock awardsa€« 34,1644€<a€<aA€<A€A€« (58)A€ A€« A€"A€<AE« AE"A€ A€« A€"AE€<AE« A€"A€« A€« (5B)A€ A€« A€” 4€« 4€« (58)Share based
compensationa€« 4€"4€<«a€« 4€"A€<A€« 3,166a€<A€« AE"A€ A€« AE"A€ A€« AE"A€AE<« A€"A€« 4€< 3,166a€<a€< 4€” a€« &€« 3,166Preferred dividends &€” Series Ba€<« a€”a€<a€<« 4€"a€<a€« (800)a€a€«
A€"A€ A€« AE"AE<AE« AE"AE A€« A€"AE<« A€« (800)A€ A€« A€” A€« A€« (BO0)Effect of foreign currency translationa€« 4€”4€<a€<« A€ A€ A€« A€"A€ A€« A€"AEAE« (164)A€<a€« A€"A€ A€« A€"A€« A€«
(164)a€<a€« a€” a€« a€« (164)Adjustment for deferred compensationa€« (42,601)a€«a€<« a€”a€<a€« 4€”4€<a€<« A€"a€<a€« a€"4€«a€« (103)a€<a€« 103a€« a€« a€"a€ @€« a€” a€« a€« a€”Distribution to
noncontrolling interesta€< a€”a€<a€< a€”a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€<a€« a€"a€« a€« a€"a€<a€« (150) a€« a€« (150)Net lossa€« a€”a€<«a€« a€”a€«a€«a€<a€«ac« (24,279)a€a€«
4€78€<A€< 4€"a€<A€< 4€"a€< A€ (24,279)a€<a€<« 678 a€« 46« (23,601)Balance, July 31, 20234€« 444,704,0814€<$ 444€<$ 2,186,405a€<$ (1,485,177)a€<$ (1,620)a€<$ (1,026)a€<$ 1,026a€<$
699,6524€<$ 8,342a€<$ 707,9944€<See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.a€<4€<7 Table of ContentsFUELCELL ENERGY,A INC.Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows(Unaudited)(Amounts in thousands)a€ «a€ «a€«a€ «a€ A€ A€ <A€<AE<A€<a€<Nine Months Ended July 31,4€<A A A A 2024A A A A 20234€<Cash flows from operating
activities:a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<a€«a€«Net lossa€<$ (117,178)a€<$ (78,598)a€ Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<a€«a€«Share-based
compensationa€<a€« 9,227a€«a€« 8,997a€Depreciation and amortizationa€<a€« 27,3894€<a€« 18,659a€<«Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, neta€«a€« -a€<«a€«
(15,337)a€«Non-cash interest expense on finance obligationsa€<a€« 1,633a€<a€« 2,573a€<Unrealized loss (gain) on derivative contractsa€<a€« 8,267a€<a€« (479)a€«Operating lease costsa€<a€«
1,052a€<4€< 1,159a€<Operating lease paymentsa€<a€« (931)a€<«a€« (911)a€Impairment of property, plant and equipment and project assetsa€<a€« 1,107a€<a€« 2,375a€«Other, neta€<a€«
2294a€<a€« 211a€«(Increase) decrease in operating assets:a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<a€«a€<Accounts receivablea€<a€« (7,352)a€<a€« (5,217)a€<Unbilled receivablesa€«a€« (7,976)a€«a€«
(25,610)a€<Inventoriesa€«a€« (44,893)a€<«a€« 5,348a€<Other assetsa€<a€« (33,337)a€«a€« (12,023)a€<«(Decrease) increase in operating liabilities:a€<a€<a€«a€<«a€<a€<a€«Accounts payablea€«a€«
(5,985)a€<a€« 907a€<Accrued liabilitiesa€«a€« 507a€<a€« (4,154)a€Deferred revenued€<a€« 9,490a€<a€« (22,322)a€<Net cash used in operating activitiesa€<«a€« (158,751)a€<«a€«
(124,422)a€«Cash flows from investing activities:a€<a€«a€<«a€<a€<a€«a€«Capital expendituresa€«a€« (37,176)a€<«a€« (28,102)a€«Project asset expendituresa€«a€« (11,769)a€<a€«
(35,392)a€«Maturity of held-to-maturity debt securitiesa€<a€« 506,770a€<«a€< 120,850a€<Purchases of held-to-maturity debt securitiesa€«a€« (476,803)a€<a€« (195,849)a€«Net cash used in
investing activitiesa€<a€« (18,978)a€<«a€« (138,493)a€<Cash flows from financing activities:a€<a€<a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<Repayment of debt and finance obligationsa€<a€« (8,782)a€<a€«
(42,185)a€<Proceeds from the issuance of debta€<a€<« 13,000a€<a€« 80,500a€<Payment for debt issuance costsa€<«a€« (343)a€<a€« (2,917)a€<Expenses related to common stock issued for stock
plansa€«a€« 120a€<a€« 56a€<«Contributions received from sale of noncontrolling interesta€<«a€< 25,1224€<a€« -a4€Distribution to noncontrolling interesta€<«a€« (1,146)a€<a€« (399)a€<Payments for
taxes related to net share settlement of equity awardsa€<a€« (1,072)a€<a€« (428)a€«Common stock issuance, net of feesa€«a€« 71,739a€<a€< 85,9344€<Payment of preferred dividendsa€«a€«
(2,400)a€<a€« (2,400)a€<Net cash provided by financing activitiesa€<a€« 96,238a€<«a€<« 118,161a€<Effects on cash from changes in foreign currency ratesa€<a€« 96a€<«a€« 132a4€«Net decrease in
cash, cash equivalents and restricted casha€<«a€« (81,395)a€<a€« (144,622)a€<«Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash-beginning of perioda€<a€<« 299,576a€<a€« 481,044a€<Cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash-end of perioda€«$ 218,181a€<$ 336,42248€<a€<a€<4€«a€<a€<a€«a€«@€<Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 4€<a€<a€<a€<«a€<«a€<a€<«Cash and
cash equivalents, unrestricteda€«$ 159,347a€<$ 303,679a€<Restricted cash and cash equivalents - short-terma€<a€« 9,686a€<«a€« 6,078a€Restricted cash and cash equivalents - long-terma€«a€«
49,148a€<4€<« 26,665a€<Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted casha€«$ 218,181a€«$ 336,4224€<a€<a€«A€«A€<a€<a€a€«a€<Supplemental cash flow disclosures:a€<4€«a€<a€<a€<«a€a€<Cash
interest paida€«<$ 4,988a€<$ 1,474a€<«Noncash financing and investing activity:a€<a€<a€«a€<«a€<a€<a€Recognition of operating lease liabilitiesa€«a€« -a€<a€« 2,147a€<Recognition of operating
lease right-of-use assetsa€<a€« -4€<a€« 2,147a€«Noncash reclassifications from inventory to project assetsa€<«a€« 4,586a€<a€« -a€<Accrued purchases of fixed assets, cash to be paid in subsequent
perioda€«a€« 2,295a€<a€« 1,469a€<Accrued purchases of project assets, cash to be paid in subsequent perioda€<a€« 261a€<a€« 2,671a€<a€<«See accompanying notes to consolidated financial
statements.4€<8 Table of ContentsFUELCELL ENERGY,A INC.NotesA to Consolidated Financial Statements(Unaudited)(Tabular amounts in thousands, except share and per share
amounts)NoteA 1. Nature of Business and Basis of PresentationHeadquartered in Danbury, Connecticut, FuelCell Energy, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the 4€ceCompany,a€ a€ceFuelCell
Energy,a€ a€cewe,a€ a€ceus,a€ or a€oeoura€) is a global leader in delivering environmentally responsible distributed baseload energy platform solutions through our proprietary fuel cell
technology. Today, we offer commercial technology that produces clean electricity, heat, clean hydrogen, and water and is also capable of recovering and capturing carbon for utilization and/or
sequestration, depending on product configuration and application. We also continue to invest in product development and commercializing technologies that are expected to add new
capabilities to our platformsa€™ abilities to deliver hydrogen and long duration hydrogen-based energy storage through our solid oxide technologies, as well as further enhance our existing
platformsa€™ carbon capture solutions. &€<FuelCell Energy is focused on advancing sustainable clean energy technologies that address some of the worlda€™s most critical challenges around
energy access, security, resilience, reliability, affordability, safety and environmental stewardship. As a leading global manufacturer of proprietary fuel cell technology platforms, FuelCell
Energy is uniquely positioned to serve customers worldwide with sustainable products and solutions for industrial and commercial businesses, utilities, governments, municipalities, and
communities.a€<Basis of Presentationa€<The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the rulesA and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (&€eSECa€) regarding interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not contain all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (24€eGAAPA€) for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments necessary to fairly present the
Companya€™s financial position as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 and results of operations as of and for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 have been included.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 4€<Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP
have been condensed or omitted. The balance sheet as of October 31, 2023 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date, but it does not include all of the information and
footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements.A These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Companya€™s financial statements and notes thereto for the
fiscalA year ended October 31, 2023, which are contained in the Companya€™s Annual Report on FormA 10-K previously filed with the SEC. The results of operations for the interim periods
presented are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for any other interim period or for the full fiscalA year.&€<Principles of Consolidation&€<The unaudited consolidated
financial statements reflect our accounts and operations and those of our subsidiaries in which we have a controlling financial interest. We use a qualitative approach in assessing the
consolidation requirement for each of our variable interest entities ("VIEs"), which are tax equity partnerships further described in Note 3. 4€ceTax Equity Financings.a€ This approach focuses
on determining whether we have the power to direct those activities of the tax equity partnerships that most significantly affect their economic performance and whether we have the obligation
to absorb losses, or the right to receive benefits, that could potentially be significant to the tax equity partnerships. For all periods presented, we have determined that we are the primary
beneficiary in all of our tax equity partnerships. We evaluate our tax equity partnerships on an ongoing basis to ensure that we continue to be the primary beneficiary.Use of EstimatesThe
preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, revenue recognition, lease right-of-use assets
and liabilities, excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventories, product warranty accruals, loss accruals on service agreements, share-based compensation expense, allowance for doubtful
accounts, depreciation and 9 Table of Contentsamortization, impairment of goodwill and in-process research and development intangible assets, impairment of long-lived assets (including
project assets), valuation of derivatives, and contingencies. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results in future periods may differ from those
estimates.LiquidityOur principal sources of cash have been proceeds from the sale of our products and projects, electricity generation revenues, research and development and service



agreements with third parties, sales of our common stock through public equity offerings, and proceeds from debt, project financing and tax monetization transactions. We have utilized this
cash to accelerate the commercialization of our solid oxide platforms, develop new capabilities to separate and capture carbon, develop and construct project assets, invest in capital
improvements and expansion of our operations, perform research and development, pay down existing outstanding indebtedness, and meet our other cash and liquidity needs.a€<As of July 31,
2024, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $159.3 million compared to $250.0 million as of October 31, 2023. During the year ended October 31, 2023 and the nine months ended July
31, 2024, the Company invested in United States (U.S.) Treasury Securities. The amortized cost of the U.S. Treasury Securities outstanding totaled $107.8 million as of July 31, 2024, compared
to $103.8 million as of October 31, 2023 and is classified as Investments - short-term on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. On April 25, 2024, the Company (through one of its indirect
subsidiaries) entered into three related term loan facilities (which are referred to herein as the a€ceDerby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facilitya€ and the a&€ceDerby Subordinated Back Leverage
Loan Facilitya€), resulting in aggregate gross loan proceeds of $13.0 million. See Note 15. 4€eDebta€ for additional information regarding the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and
the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility. On April 10, 2024, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 (the & ceAmendmenta€) to the Open Market Sale Agreement, dated

JulyA 12, 2022 (the 4€0ce2022 Sales Agreementa€), with Jefferies LLC, B. Riley Securities,A Inc., Barclays Capital Inc., BMO Capital Markets Corp., BofA Securities,A Inc., Canaccord Genuity
LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Loop Capital Markets LLC (each an a€oeAgenta€ and together, the 4€ceAgentsa€) (the 2022 Sales Agreement as amended
by the Amendment, the &€ceAmended Sales Agreementd€), with respect to an at the market offering program under which the Company may, from time to time, offer and sell shares of its
common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $300.0 million (exclusive of any amounts previously sold under the 2022 Sales Agreement prior to its amendment). Between April 10,
2024 (the date of the Amended Sales Agreement) and July 31, 2024, approximately 101.7 million shares of the Companya€™ s common stock were sold under the Amended Sales Agreement at
an average sale price of $0.72 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $73.6 million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds to the Company of
approximately $71.7 million after deducting sales commissions totaling approximately $1.5 million and fees totaling approximately $0.4 million. See Note 11. a€ceStockholdersa€™ Equitya€ and
Note 18. 4€ceSubsequent Eventsa€ for additional information regarding the 2022 Sales Agreement, the Amended Sales Agreement and the sales made following the end of the quarter under the
Amended Sales Agreement.a€<During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company closed on a tax equity financing transaction with Franklin Park 2023 FCE Tax Equity Fund, LLC
(&€ceFranklin Parka€), a subsidiary of Franklin Park Infrastructure, LLC, for two fuel cell power plant installations -- the 14.0 megawatt (4€ceMWa€) Derby Fuel Cell Project and the 2.8 MW
SCEF Fuel Cell Project, both located in Derby, Connecticut (collectively, the &€ceDerby Projectsa€). Franklin Parka€™s tax equity commitment with respect to the Derby Projects totaled $30.2
million. Of this amount, approximately $9.1 million was received on October 31, 2023 and the remaining approximately $21.1 million was received during the nine months ended July 31, 2024.
In connection with the initial closing of this tax equity financing transaction in fiscal year 2023, the Company paid closing costs of approximately $1.8 million, which included appraisal fees, title
insurance expenses and legal and consulting fees. During the first quarter of fiscal year 2024, the Company completed the Technical Improvement Plan to bring the Groton Project (defined
elsewhere herein) to its rated capacity and the Groton Project reached its design rated output of 7.4 MW. The Company achieved all conditions precedent required for the first annual funding
from East West Bancorp, Inc. (4€ceEast West Banka€) under the tax equity financing transaction between the Company and East West Bank and, as a result, the Company received a $4.0
million contribution during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 which is recorded as noncontrolling interest on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.a€<10 Table of ContentsWe believe that our
unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, expected receipts from our contracted backlog, funds received upon the maturity of U.S. Treasury Securities, and release of short-term restricted cash
less expected disbursements over the next twelveA months will be sufficient to allow the CompanyA toA meet its obligations for at least oneA year from the date of issuance of these financial
statements.&€<To date, we have not achieved profitable operations or sustained positive cash flow from operations. The Companya€™s future liquidity, for the remainder of fiscal year 2024 and
in the long-term, will depend on its ability to (i)A timely complete current projects in process within budget, (ii)A increase cash flows from its generation operating portfolio, including by
meeting conditions required to timely commence operation of new projects, operating its generation operating portfolio in compliance with minimum performance guarantees and operating its
generation operating portfolio in accordance with revenue expectations, (iii) )A obtain financing for project construction and manufacturing expansion, (iv)A obtain permanent financing for its
projects once constructed, (v)A increase order and contract volumes, which would lead to additional product sales, service agreements and generation revenues, (vi)A obtain funding for and
receive payment for research and development under current and future Advanced Technologies contracts, (vii) successfully commercialize its solid oxide, hydrogen and carbon capture
platforms, (viii)A implement capacity expansion for solid oxide product manufacturing, (ix) implement the product cost reductions necessary to achieve profitable operations, (x)A manage
working capital and the Companya€ ™s unrestricted cash balanceA and (xi)A access the capital markets to raise funds through the sale of debt and equity securities, convertible notes, and other
equity-linked instruments.We are continually assessing different means by which to accelerate the Companya€™s growth, enter new markets, commercialize new products, and enable capacity
expansion. Therefore, from time to time, the Company may consider and enter into agreements for one or more of the following: negotiated financial transactions, minority investments,
collaborative ventures, technology sharing, transfer or other technology license arrangements, joint ventures, partnerships, acquisitions or other business transactions for the purpose(s) of
geographic or manufacturing expansion and/or new product or technology development and commercialization, including hydrogen production through our carbonate and solid oxide platforms
and storage and carbon capture, sequestration and utilization technologies. Our business model requires substantial outside financing arrangements and satisfaction of the conditions of such
arrangements to construct and deploy our projects to facilitate the growth of our business. The Company has invested capital raised from sales of its common stock to build out its project
portfolio. The Company has also utilized and expects to continue to utilize a combination of long-term debt and tax equity financing (e.g., sale-leaseback transactions, partnership flip
transactions and the monetization and/or transfer of eligible investment and production tax credits) to finance its project asset portfolio as these projects commence commercial operations,
particularly in light of the passage of the Inflation Reduction Act in August 2022. The Company may also seek to undertake private placements of debt securities to finance its project asset
portfolio. The Company is also pursuing financing to support its commercial efforts which includes deployment of modules to the repowering opportunities in the Korean market including the
GGE project (as defined elsewhere herein). The proceeds of any such financing, if obtained, may allow the Company to reinvest capital back into the business and to fund other projects. We may
also seek to obtain additional financing in both the debt and equity markets in the future. If financing is not available to us on acceptable terms if and when needed, or on terms acceptable to us
or our lenders, if we do not satisfy the conditions of our financing arrangements, if we spend more than the financing approved for projects, if project costs exceed an amount that the Company
can finance, or if we do not generate sufficient revenues or obtain capital sufficient for our corporate needs, we may be required to further reduce or slow planned spending, further reduce
staffing, sell assets, seek alternative financing and take other measures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.a€<NoteA 2. Recent
Accounting PronouncementsRecently Adopted Accounting GuidanceThere is no recently adopted accounting guidance.Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet EffectiveIn November 2023, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (4€eFASB&€) issued guidance to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment
expenses. In addition, the guidance enhances interim disclosure requirements, clarifies circumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provides new
segment disclosure requirements for entities with a single reportable segment and contains other disclosure requirements. The purpose of the guidance is to enable investors to better
understand 11 Table of Contentsan entitya€™ s overall performance and assess potential future cash flows. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact that the new guidance will have on our consolidated
financial statements.&€<In December 2023, the FASB issued guidance to enhance income tax disclosures by providing information to better assess how an entitya€™ s operations, related tax
risks, tax planning and operational opportunities affect its tax rate and prospects for future cash flows. Additional disclosures will be required to the annual effective tax rate reconciliation
including specific categories and further disaggregated reconciling items that meet the quantitative threshold. Additionally, disclosures will be required relating to income tax expense and
payments made to federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions. This guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2024. We are currently evaluating
the impact that the new guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.&€<Note 3. Tax Equity Financingsa€<«Derby Tax Equity Financing TransactionSince the Derby Projects
became operational during the first quarter of fiscal year 2024, we have begun to allocate profits and losses to noncontrolling interests under the hypothetical liquidation at book value ("HLBV")
method. For the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024, the net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests totaled $(1.8) million and $(28.6) million, respectively. There were no amounts
allocated to noncontrolling interest for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2023 for Derby Fuel Cell Holdco, LLC (the partnership that acquired the equity interests in the project company
that owns the Derby Projects) because the Derby Projects were not yet operational at that time. As such, the Company had not yet allocated profits or losses to the noncontrolling interest under
the HLBV method. During the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024, the Company made priority return distributions to Franklin Park of $0.3 million and $0.7 million, respectively.Groton
Tax Equity Financing Transactiond€<The Company closed on a tax equity financing transaction in August 2021 with East West Bank for the 7.4 MW fuel cell project (the a€aeGroton Projecta€)
located on the U.S. Navy Submarine Base in Groton, CT. East West Banka€™s tax equity commitment totaled $15.0 million.A 4€<During each of the three and nine month periods ended July 31,
2024, the Company made priority return distributions to East West Bank of $0.1 million. There were no priority return distributions in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2023. For the
three and nine months ended July 31, 2024, the net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests for Groton Station FuelCell Holdco, LLC (the partnership that acquired the equity interests in the
project company that owns the Groton Project) totaled $(0.2) million and $(3.5) million, respectively. For the three and nine months ended July 31, 2023, the net income (loss) attributable to
noncontrolling interests totaled $0.1 million and $(2.8) million, respectively. &€<Yaphank Tax Equity Financing Transactiona€<The Company closed on a tax equity financing transaction in
November 2021 with Renewable Energy Investors, LLC (a€eREI4€), a subsidiary of Franklin Park Infrastructure, LLC, for the 7.4 MW fuel cell project (the 4€aeLIPA Yaphank Projecta€) located
in Yaphank Long Island. REI&€™s tax equity commitment totaled $12.4 million.A 4€<During the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company made priority return distributions to
REI of $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. During each of the nine month periods ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company made priority return distributions to REI of $0.4 million.
For the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest for YTBFC Holdco, LLC (the partnership that acquired the equity interests in the
project company that owns the LIPA Yaphank Project) totaled $(0.4) million and $0.6 million, respectively. For the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, net (loss) income attributable to
noncontrolling interest for YTBFC Holdco, LLC totaled $(0.5) million and $1.4 million, respectively.4€<12 Table of ContentsNoteA 4. Revenue RecognitionContract BalancesContract assets as of
July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 were $50.1 million ($19.9 million long-term) and $42.1 million ($25.8 million long-term), respectively. The contract assets relate to the Companya€™s rights
to consideration for work completed but not yet billed. These amounts are included on a separate line item as Unbilled receivables, and balances expected to be billed later than oneA year from
the balance sheet date are included within Other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. We bill customers for power platform and power platform component sales based on
certain contractual milestones being reached. We bill service agreements based on the contract price and billing terms of the contracts. Generally, our Advanced Technologies contracts are
billed based on actual revenues recorded, typically in the subsequentA month. Some Advanced Technologies contracts are billed based on contractual milestones or costs incurred.Contract
liabilities as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 were $12.6 million and $3.1 million, respectively. These amounts are included on a separate line item as Deferred revenue, and balances
expected to be recognized as revenue beyond oneA year from the balance sheet date are included within Long-term deferred revenue on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
contract liabilities relate to the advance billings to customers for services that will be recognized over time and in some instances for deferred revenue relating to variable consideration for
previously sold products. The net change in contract liabilities represents customer billings offset by revenue recognized. Consideration Payable to a CustomerAs of October 31, 2023, the
Company had recorded $6.3 million ($6.0 million long-term) as consideration payable to Toyota Motor North America (&€ Toyotad€), which is included within Accrued liabilities and Long-term
debt and other liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company received payment for the sale of an investment tax credit with respect to the Toyota project at the
Port of Long Beach during the year ended October 31, 2023. The net amount of $6.3 million is being recorded as a reduction to revenue during the period of measurement, which is the 20-year
term of the hydrogen production and power purchase agreement between Toyota and the Company (a€ceToyota HPPAA€) that commenced in the first quarter of fiscal year 2024. Advanced
Technologies Revenue &€“ EMTEC Joint Development Agreement and Rotterdam Pilot Project Purchase Ordera€<In May 2023, the Company entered into a second letter agreement with
ExxonMobil Technology and Engineering Company (formerly known as ExxonMobil Research and Engineering Company) (4€ccEMTEC&€), pursuant to which the parties agreed that the
conditions to the Companya€™ s agreement to invest in the future demonstration of the technology for capturing carbon at an ExxonMobil refinery located in Rotterdam, Netherlands (such
demonstration, the &€ceRotterdam Projecta€) were met in April 2023 and, as a result, the Company will recognize $2.5 million of the $5.0 million milestone payment received in fiscal year 2022
under the Companya€™ s Joint Development Agreement with EMTEC as revenue across future deliverables to EMTEC. Of this $2.5 million, the Company recognized revenue of $1.4 million
through July 31, 2024. The other $2.5 million of the $5.0 million milestone payment received in fiscal year 2022 under the Companya€™s Joint Development Agreement with EMTEC was applied
during fiscal year 2023 to discount EMTEC&€™ s purchase of the Companya€™s fuel cell module and detailed engineering design for the Rotterdam Project. &€<On January 31, 2024, the
Company received a purchase order valued at $11.6 million from Esso Nederland B.V. (4€eEsso0a€), an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation and EMTEC, for fuel cell modules as well as
engineering, procurement, fabrication, testing and delivery services required for the construction and implementation of the modular point source carbon capture pilot plant at the Rotterdam
Project. The Company expects that this pilot plant will be completed and commissioned early in calendar year 2026.4€<On and effective as of March 31, 2024, the Company and EMTEC entered
into Amendment No. 5 (4€ceAmendment No. 53€) to the Joint Development Agreement between the Company and EMTEC (as amended, the 4€ceJoint Development Agreementa€). In
Amendment No. 5, the Company and EMTEC further extended the term of the Joint Development Agreement such that it will end on December 31, 2026 (unless terminated earlier), so that the
Company and EMTEC may pursue continued work to allow for technical readiness of the Generation 2 Technology fuel cell module as well as additional continuous technology development. In
parallel with the Joint Development Agreement, the Company and EMTEC will pursue pioneer commercial deployments of the Generation 2 Technology with third parties, with the Company as
the fuel cell module manufacturer for such deployments. Amendment No. 5 also removed the cap on the maximum amount of research costs to be reimbursed by EMTEC, and instead includes
an expected annual budget for the 13 Table of Contentsanticipated work through the remaining term of the Joint Development Agreement of at least $10.0 million per year, subject to approval
by EMTEC.A a€<In addition, Amendment No. 5 provides the Company with the ability to pursue new carbon capture projects with third parties for the remaining duration of the term of the Joint
Development Agreement using Generation 1 Technology or Generation 2 Technology (provided that the use of Generation 2 Technology must be limited to the use of Generation 2 physical fuel
cell properties and design elements in Generation 1 Technology modules), with any new sales of such activities, authorized work, and carbon capture projects, when summed together, having
the capability of capturing no more than 250,000 tons of CO2 on a cumulative annual basis. Under Amendment No. 5, following expiration of the term of the Joint Development Agreement, the
Company will also have the opportunity to continue to service continuing obligations for such projects entered into during the term of the Joint Development Agreement (e.g., completion of
contracted builds, service and repair/replacement of components, etc.). To allow the Company to pursue such projects, in Amendment No. 5, EMTEC also granted to the Company a worldwide,
non-exclusive, royalty-free, irrevocable (during the term of the Joint Development Agreement), non-sub-licensable license to EMTECa€™ s Generation 1 Technology as well as to EMTECa€™s
Generation 2 Technology physical fuel cell properties and design elements.a€<Long-Term Service Agreement with Gyeonggi Green Energy Co., Ltd.4€<On May 28, 2024, the Company and
Gyeonggi Green Energy Co., Ltd. (4€eGGEA&€) entered into a long-term service agreement (the &€eLTSA&€) with respect to GGEa€™s 58.8 MW fuel cell power platform in Hwaseong-si, Korea
(the 4€eGGE Platforma€). The GGE Platform is comprised of 21 SureSource 3000 molten carbonate fuel cells (each a &€cePlanta€). Each Plant is comprised of two 1.4-MW carbonate fuel cell
modules. Pursuant to the LTSA, GGE and the Company have agreed that (i) GGE will purchase from the Company 42 1.4-MW carbonate fuel cell modules to replace existing fuel cell modules at
the GGE Platform, (ii) the Company will provide certain balance of plant replacement components if and to the extent the parties reasonably determine existing components should be replaced,



and (iii) the Company will provide long term operations and maintenance services for the GGE Platform. The total amount payable by GGE under the LTSA for the 42 replacement fuel cell
modules, balance of plant replacement components, and service is $159.6 million USD, with payments to be made over time as such replacement fuel cell modules are commissioned and the
service obligations under the LTSA for such Plants commence. a€<Pursuant to the LTSA, the Company will provide various performance guarantees for each Plant related to power generation,
fuel consumption, water consumption and heat production. If a Plant fails to achieve such performance requirements, the Company may be required to compensate GGE for such
underperformance.a€<«The Companya€™ s service obligations under the LTSA will commence with respect to individual Plants as the Company replaces each Planta€™ s existing fuel cell modules
and commissions the replacement fuel cell modules. The term of the LTSA with respect to each Plant will continue for seven years from the date of commissioning of the replacement fuel cell
modules for such Plant. Commissioning of the first six 1.4-MW replacement fuel cell modules is expected to be completed in the fall of calendar year 2024, with an additional 30 1.4-MW
replacement fuel cell modules expected to be commissioned throughout the course of calendar year 2025, and the remaining six 1.4-MW replacement fuel cell modules expected to be
commissioned in the first half of calendar year 2026.a€<Remaining Performance ObligationsRemaining performance obligations are the aggregate amount of total contract transaction price that
is unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied. As of July 31, 2024, the Companya€™s total remaining performance obligations were: $178.4 million for service agreements (expected to be recognized as
revenue over approximately three to fifteen years which is based on the remaining term of the service agreements), $396.4 million for generation power purchase agreements (a€cePPAsa€)
(expected to be recognized as revenue over approximately nineteen to twenty years based on the PPA terms remaining), $10.9 million for Advanced Technologies contracts (expected to be
recognized within approximately two years) and $136.7 million for product purchase agreements (expected to be recognized within the next year). 4€<14 Table of ContentsNoteA 5. Investments
a€“ Short-TermThe Company began to invest in U.S. Treasury Securities during fiscal year 2023. The outstanding U.S. Treasury Securities are classified as held-to-maturity and are recorded at
amortized cost. A The contractual maturities of investments as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 were within one year and the weighted average yield to maturity was 5.35% and 5.45%,
respectively.A€<A€ A€ <A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ AEAEAEAEAmortizeda€«Gross unrealizeda€«Gross unrealizeda€<«a€<A A A A costA A A A gainsa€<lossesFair valueU.S. Treasury
Securitiesa€«a€<a€<a€«a€«a€«a€<a€«a€«As of July 31, 20244€<$ 107,817$ -$ (2)$ 107,815As of October 31, 2023a€<$ 103,760$ 1$ -$ 103, 7614a€<a€<NoteA 6. InventoriesInventories (current and
long-term) as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in thousands):A€<a€ A€ A€<a€ A€<A€a€<a€July 31,a€<October 31,4€<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023Raw materialsa€<$
37,737a€<$ 36,200Work-in-process (1)a€<a€« 94,355a€<a€« 55,585Inventoriesa€<«a€« 132,092a€«a€« 91,785Inventories 4€“ currenta€<a€« (129,349)a€<a€« (84,456)Inventories a€“ long-term
(2)a€<$ 2,7434€<$ 7,329(1)Work-in-process includes the standard components of inventory used to build the typical modules or module components that are intended to be used in future project
asset construction or power plant orders or for use under the Companya€™s service agreements.(2)Long-term inventory includes modules that are contractually required to be segregated for
use as exchange modules for specific project assets.Raw materials consist mainly of various nickel powders and steels, various other components used in producing cell stacks and purchased
components for balance of plant. Work-in-process inventory is comprised of material, labor, and overhead costs incurred to build fuel cell stacks and modules, which are subcomponents of a
power platform.NoteA 7. Project AssetsProject assets as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in thousands):a€<a€<a€a€<«a€<a€<a€«a€«a€«a€«a€July 31,4€«October
31,4€<Estimateda€<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A Useful LifeProject Assets 4€“ Operatinga€<$ 308,657&€<$ 213,7534€<4-20 yearsAccumulated depreciationa€<&€« (59,971)4€ &€«
(46,263)a€<a€<Project Assets &€ Operating, neta€«a€« 248,686a€<a€<« 167,490a€«a€<Project Assets a€“ Construction in progressa€«a€« 104a€<a€« 90,576a€<a€«Project Assets, neta€«$
248,790a€<$ 258,066a€<a€<«a€<The estimated useful lives of these project assets are 20 years for balance of plant and site construction, and four to seven years for modules. Project assets as of
July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 included twelve and nine, respectively, completed, commissioned installations generating power with respect to which the Company has a PPA with the end-
user of power and site host with a net aggregate value of $248.7 million and $167.5 million as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, respectively. Certain of these assets are the subject of sale-
leaseback arrangements with Crestmark Equipment Finance (&€ceCrestmarka€). The increase in operating project assets as of July 31, 2024, compared to October 31, 2023, is a result of the
inclusion of the Toyota Project and the Derby Projects, all of which became operational during the nine months ended July 31, 2024. Project assets as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 also
include installations with carrying values of $0.1 million and $90.6 million, respectively, which are being developed and constructed by the Company in connection with projects for which we
have entered into PPAs. 15 Table of ContentsProject construction costs incurred for long-term project assets are reported as investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows.NoteA 8. Goodwill and Intangible AssetsAs of July 31, 2024 and OctoberA 31, 2023, the Company had goodwill of $4.1 million and intangible assets of $15.1 million and $16.1 million,
respectively, that were recorded in connection with the Companya€™s 2012 acquisition of Versa Power Systems,A Inc. (4€ceVersaa€) and the 2019 Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project acquisition. The
Versa acquisition intangible asset represents an indefinite-lived in-process research and development intangible asset for cumulative research and development efforts associated with the
development of solid oxide fuel cell stationary power generation. The Company completed its annual qualitative impairment analysis of goodwill and in-process research and development
(&€eIPR&DA€) assets for fiscal year 2024 as of July 31, 2024, and determined that there was no impairment of goodwill or the indefinite-lived IPR&D intangible asset. Amortization expense for
the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project-related intangible asset for each of the three month periods ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.3 million and for each of the nine month periods ended July
31, 2024 and 2023 was $1.0 million.The following tables summarize the carrying value of the Companya€™s intangible assetsA as of July 31, 2024A andA October 31, 2023 (in

thousands):a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<a€«a€«a€<a€«a€As of July 31, 2024A A A A Gross AmountA A A A AccumulatedAmortizationA A A A Net AmountIn-Process Research and Developmenta€<$ 9,592a€<$
-4€<$ 9,592Bridgeport PPAA€<A€<« 12,3204€4€« (6,808)4€<4€« 5,512Totala€«$ 21,9124€<$ (6,808)a€<$ 15,1044€ A€ <AE<AEAEAEAEAEAEAEAs of October 31, 2023A A A A Gross

AmountA A A A AccumulatedAmortizationA A A A Net AmountIn-Process Research and Developmenta€«$ 9,5924€<$ -a€<$ 9,592Bridgeport PPAA€<a€« 12,3204€<a€< (5,836)a€<a€« 6,484Totala€$
21,9124€<$ (5,836)a€<$ 16,076a€<a€<NoteA 9. Accrued LiabilitiesAccrued liabilities as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in
thousands):a€<A€<A€<A€<A€A€<A€a€a€July 31,a€<October 31,a€<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023Accrued payroll and employee benefits (1)a€<$ 8,147a€<$ 7,752Consideration payable to a customer
(2)a€<a€« 2,550a€<a€« 3,958Accrued service agreement and PPA costs (3)a€<«a€« 10,557a€<a€« 10,742Accrued legal, taxes, professional and othera€<a€« 4,716a€<a€« 3,861Accrued liabilitiesa€«$
25,9704€<$ 26,313(1)The balance in this account represents accrued payroll, payroll taxes and accrued bonus for both periods. A (2)The balance represents the net amount due to Toyota as an
accrued liability, which will be reduced over time against billings to Toyota for hydrogen sales under the terms of the Toyota HPPA.(3)Accrued service agreement costs include loss accruals on
service agreements of $9.3 million and $9.5 million as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, respectively. The accruals for performance guarantees on service agreements and PPAs were $1.3
million and $1.2 million as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, respectively. 4€<NoteA 10. LeasesThe Company enters into operating lease agreements for the use of real estate, vehicles,
information technology equipment, and certain other equipment. We determine if an arrangement contains a lease at inception, which is the date on which the terms of the contract are agreed
to and the agreement creates enforceable rights and obligations. The impacts of accounting for operating leases are included in Operating lease right-of-use assets, Operating lease liabilities,
and Long-term operating lease liabilities in the Companya€™s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company currently has no finance leases.16 Table of ContentsOperating lease expense for each
of the threeA month periods ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.4 million, and for the nine month periods ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 was $1.1 million and 1.2 million, respectively. As of
July 31, 2024, the weighted average remaining lease term (inA years) was approximately 17 years and the weighted average discount rate was 7.0%. Lease payments made during the

threeA months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively, and for each of the nine month periods ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.9
million.Undiscounted maturities of operating lease liabilities as of July 31, 2024 were as follows (in thousands):a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<A A A A OperatingLeasesA A A A Due Year 1a€<$ 1,3074€<Due
Year 24€<€< 1,243a€<Due Year 34€<«a€« 1,288a€<Due Year 4a€<a€< 1,307a€<Due Year 5a€<a€< 8804€<Thereaftera€«a€« 12,122a€<Total undiscounted lease paymentsa€«a€« 18,147a€<Less
imputed interesta€<a€« (8,679)a€<Total discounted lease paymentsa€«<$ 9,4684€<a€a€NoteA 11. Stockholdersa€™ Equity2022 Open Market Sale Agreement and Amended Sales AgreementOn
July 12, 2022, the Company entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement (the 4€2022 Sales Agreementa€) with Jefferies LLC, B. Riley Securities, Inc., Barclays Capital Inc., BMO Capital
Markets Corp., BofA Securities, Inc., Canaccord Genuity LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Loop Capital Markets LLC (each, an a€ceAgenta€ and together, the
4€ceAgentsa€) with respect to an at the market offering program under which the Company could, from time to time, offer and sell up to 95.0 million shares of the Companya€™s common stock.
Pursuant to the 2022 Sales Agreement, the Company was required to pay and has paid each Agent a commission equal to 2.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale of shares made by such
Agent under the 2022 Sales Agreement. &4€<On AprilA 10, 2024, the Company and the Agents entered into Amendment No.A 1 (the 4€ceAmendment&€) to the 2022 Sales Agreement (the 2022
Sales Agreement as amended by the Amendment, the &€ceAmended Sales Agreementa€), with respect to anA at the marketA offering program under which the Company may, from time to time,
offer and sell shares of the Companya€™s common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $300.0 million (exclusive of any amounts previously sold under the 2022 Sales Agreement
prior to its amendment). Pursuant to the Amended Sales Agreement, the Company is required to pay and has paid each Agent a commission equal to 2.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale
of shares made by such Agent under the Amended Sales Agreement.d€<During the three months ended July 31, 2024, approximately 95.2 million shares of the Companya€™s common stock
were sold under the Amended Sales Agreement at an average sale price of $0.71 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $67.3 million before deducting sales commissions and
fees, and net proceeds to the Company of approximately $65.9 million after deducting sales commissions totaling approximately $1.3 million and fees totaling approximately $0.1
million.&€<During the nine months ended July 31, 2024, approximately 101.7 million shares of the Companya€™s common stock were sold under the Amended Sales Agreement at an average
sale price of $0.72 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $73.6 million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds to the Company of approximately $71.7
million after deducting sales commissions totaling approximately $1.5 million and fees totaling approximately $0.4 million.a€<As of July 31, 2024, approximately $226.4 million of shares
remained available for sale under the Amended Sales Agreement.4€<See Note 18. 4€ceSubsequent Eventsa€ for information regarding sales made under the Amended Sales Agreement
following the end of the quarter.a€<4€<17 Table of ContentsNoteA 12. Redeemable Preferred StockThe Company is authorized to issue up to 250,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01
per share, in one or more series, of which 105,875 shares were designated as 5% SeriesA B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (a€ceSeriesA B Preferred Stocka€) in

MarchA 2005.SeriesA B Preferred StockAs of July 31, 2024, the Company had 105,875 shares of SeriesA B Preferred Stock, with a liquidation preference of $1,000.00 per share, authorized for
issuance. As of July 31, 2024 and OctoberA 31, 2023, there were 64,020 shares of SeriesA B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding, with a carrying value of $59.9 million. Dividends of $0.8
million were paid in cash during each of the three month periods ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, and dividends of $2.4 million were paid in cash during each of the nine month periods ended July
31, 2024 and 2023.NoteA 13. Loss Per ShareThe calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was as follows (in thousands, except share and per share
amounts):4€<a€<a€<a€ Q€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ <a€«a€«a€«a€«a€<Three Months Ended July 31,Nine Months Ended July

31,8€<4€<20244€<2023A A A A 20244€<20234€<A A A A Numeratora€ i€ a€ € € A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ <aE«aE«a€Net loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc.$ (32,660)a€<$ (24,279)a€<$
(84,593)a€<$ (77,204)a€<«a€<Series B preferred stock dividendsa€« (800)a€«a€« (800)a€<a€« (2,400)a€<a€« (2,400)a€<a€«Net loss attributable to common stockholders$ (33,460)a€<$ (25,079)a€<$
(86,993)a€<$ (79,604)a€«a€<Denominatora€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«a€ac«a€«a€«a€@€«a€«Weighted average common shares outstanding a€“ basica€« 503,183,725a€<a€<« 415,867,5944a€a€«
469,387,2644€<4€<« 409,361,826a€<a€<Effect of dilutive securities (1)a€« -a€<a€« -a€<a€« -4€<a€« -a4€<a€<Weighted average common shares outstanding a€“ diluteda€« 503,183,7254€<a€«
415,867,594a€<«a€< 469,387,2644€<a€< 409,361,826a€a€<Net loss to common stockholders per share a€“ basic$ (0.07)a€<$ (0.06)a€<$ (0.19)a€«$ (0.19)a€<a€«Net loss to common stockholders
per share 4€“ diluted (1)$ (0.07)a€<$ (0.06)a€<$ (0.19)a€<$ (0.19)a€<a€<(1)Due to the net loss to common stockholders in each of the periods presented above, diluted loss per share was
computed without consideration to potentially dilutive instruments as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. As of July 31, 2024 and 2023, potentially dilutive securities excluded from the
diluted loss per share calculation are as follows:&€ &€ &€ <a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€July 31,a€July 31,4€a€<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023a€<Outstanding options to purchase common stocka€<a€<
17,318a€<a€<« 18,291a€<Unvested Restricted Stock Unitsa€<a€« 16,772,4194€<a€<« 7,280,9524€<5% Series B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stocka€<a€« 37,837a€a€«
37,8374€<Total potentially dilutive securitiesa€<a€< 16,827,5744€<4€<« 7,337,0804€4€<4€<18 Table of ContentsNoteA 14. Restricted CashAs of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, there was
$58.8 million and $49.6 million, respectively, of restricted cash and cash equivalents pledged as performance security, reserved for future debt service requirements, and reserved for letters of
credit for certain banking requirements and contracts. The allocation of restricted cash is as follows (in thousands):a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<a€«a€<July 31,a€«October

31,4€<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023Cash Restricted for Outstanding Letters of Credit (1)a€<$ 14,1524€<$ 14,152Cash Restricted for Crestmark Sale-Leaseback Transactionsa€<a€« 2,907a€a€«
2,901Debt Service and Performance Reserves related to OpCo Financing Facilitya€<a€« 22,535a€<a€« 19,698Debt Service and Performance Reserves related to the Senior and Subordinated
Back Leverage Loan Facilitiesa€<a€< 13,819a€<a€< 9,2940thera€«a€« 5,421a€<a€« 3,579Total Restricted Casha€«a€« 58,834a€a€« 49,624 Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents a€“ Short-Term
(2)a€<a€« (9,686)a€«a€« (5,159)Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents a€“ Long-Terma€<$ 49,148a€<$ 44,465(1)Letters of credit outstanding as of July 31, 2024 expire on various dates through
OctoberA 2029. (2)Short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents are amounts expected to be released and classified as unrestricted cash within twelveA months of the balance sheet
date.a€<NoteA 15. DebtDebt as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in thousands):a€ A€ <a€a€<A€<A€a€<a€a€July 31,4€<October

31,a€<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023Liberty Bank Term Loan Agreement (Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility)a€<$ 5,9384€<$ 4€”Connecticut Green Bank Term Loan Agreement (Derby
Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility)a€<a€« 2,740a€<a€« 4€”Connecticut Green Bank Loan (Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility)a€<«a€« 3,500a€<a€< a€”Connecticut Green Bank Loan
(Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility)a€<a€« 8,0004€<a€< 8,000Liberty Bank Term Loan Agreement (Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility)a€<a€< 5,549a€<a€«
5,876Amalgamated Bank Loan (Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility)a€<a€« 5,535a€<a€« 5,873Finance obligation for sale-leaseback transactionsa€«a€« 18,817a€<a€« 18,814State of
Connecticut Loana€«a€« 6,247a€<a€<« 6,908Finance lease obligationsa€«a€« a€”a€<a€« 120pCo Financing Facilitya€<a€<« 71,9924€<a€<« 77,510Deferred finance costsa€«a€« (3,342)a€«a€«
(3,526)Total debt and finance obligationsa€«a€« 124,976a€<a€<« 119,467Current portion of long-term debt and finance obligationsa€«a€« (12,232)a€<a€< (10,067)Long-term debt and finance
obligationsa€«$ 112,7444€<$ 109,4004€<Derby Back Leverage Financinga€<«On April 25, 2024, FuelCell Energy Derby Finance Holdco, LLC (&€ceDerby Holdco Borrowera€), a wholly owned
subsidiary of FuelCell Energy Finance, LLC (a€ceFCEFa€), which, in turn, is a wholly owned subsidiary of FuelCell Energy,A Inc. (&€ceParenta€), entered into: (i) a Credit Agreement (the
4€ceDerby Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreementa€) with, by and among Liberty Bank, in its capacities as a lender (a&€ceLiberty Lendera€), administrative agent (the 4€ceSenior
Administrative Agenta€), and lead arranger, and Connecticut Green Bank, in its capacity as a lender (a€0eGreen Bank Lendera€ and, collectively with Liberty Lender, the 4€ceDerby Senior Back
Leverage Lendersa€), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed an aggregate of $9.5 million to be provided 68% by Liberty Lender and 32% by Green Bank Lender (such facility, the
a€mDerby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility,a€ each such term loan, a &€ceDerby Senior Back Leverage Loana€ and such term loans together, the 4&€meDerby Senior Back Leverage Loansa€);
and (ii) a Credit Agreement (the 4€ceDerby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreementa€) with Connecticut Green Bank, as administrative agent (the 4€ceSubordinated Administrative
Agenté€) and lender (&€ceDerby Subordinated Back Leverage Lendera€), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed $3.5 million (such facility, the &€ceDerby Subordinated Back
Leverage Loan Facilityd€ and such term loan, the &€ceDerby Subordinated Back 19 Table of ContentsLeverage Loana€). The Derby Senior Back Leverage Lenders and the Derby Subordinated
Back Leverage Lender are referred to collectively as the a&€ceDerby Back Leverage Lenders.a€Derby Holdco Borrowera€™ s obligations under the Derby Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement
and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement are secured by a lien on all of Derby Holdco Borrowera€™s assets, consisting principally of its Class B Member Interests (the
a€eDerby Class B Interestsa€) in Derby Fuel Cell Holdco, LLC (the 4€ceDerby Tax Equity Holdcoa€). A TheA Class A Membership Interests (the &€ceDerby Class A Interestsa€) in the Derby Tax
Equity Holdco are held by Franklin Park (see Note 1 for further discussion of the tax equity financing transaction structure). A DerbyA Holdco Borrower is also the Managing Member of the
Derby Tax Equity Holdco. A The Derby Tax Equity Holdcoa€ ™s primary asset is ownership of all of the outstanding equity interests in Derby Station Fuel Cell, LLC and SCEF1 Fuel Cell, LLC
(the 4€ceDerby Project Companiesa€). A The Derby Project Companies, in turn, are the owners of theA fuel cell power plants located in Derby, Connecticut (which are referred to herein as the



a€aeDerby Projectsa€). A As additional context concerning the relationship among the parties with respect to the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back
Leverage Loan Facility more fully described below, on October 19, 2018, the Derby Project Companies and ParentA entered into an Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (the
d€ceDerby Amended and Restated PPA&€) with The Connecticut Light and Power Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (&€0eCLPCA€), pursuant to which the Derby Project Companies agreed to
sell to CLPC, and CLPC agreed to purchase from the Derby Project Companies, all of theA electricity output produced by the Derby Projects pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Derby
Amended and Restated PPA.At the closing (the a€ceDerby Closinga€) of each of the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, which
occurred simultaneously on April 25, 2024 (the &€ceDerby Closing Date&€), the entire amount of each of the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back
Leverage Loan Facility was drawn down in the aggregate amount of $13.0 million. A After payment of fees and transaction costs (including fees to the Derby Back Leverage Lenders and legal
costs) of approximately $0.2 million in the aggregate, the remaining proceeds of approximately $12.8 million were used as follows: (i) approximately $0.9 million was used to fund debt service
and module replacement reserve accounts (&4€ceDSCR Reserve Accountsa€) for the Derby Senior Back Leverage Lenders in amounts of approximately $0.6 million for Liberty Lender and
approximately $0.3 million for Green Bank Lender; (ii) approximately $0.4 million was used to fund a DSCR Reserve Account for the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Lender; and (iii) the
remaining amount of approximately $11.5 million was released to Parent from the Derby Back Leverage Lenders. A Additionally, the Company incurred legal fees of approximately $0.2 million
in relation to the financing that was not deducted from the debt proceeds. The Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of
such Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date at a rate per annum equal to 7.25%. A Quarterly principal amortization and interest payments are required to be made by Derby
Holdco Borrower on the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan based on a seven-year amortization period. A The Derby Senior Back Leverage Loans have a seven-year term, maturing on March 31,
2031. The Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of such Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan until the
maturity date at a rate per annum equal to 8%. A Pursuant to the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, during the a&€ceDerby Interest Only Perioda€ (as defined below), Derby
Holdco Borrower is required to make quarterly payments of interest only until June 30, 2031. A Following the end of the 4€ceDerby Interest Only Period,a€ principal and interest payments are
required to be made quarterly in quarterly level payments (a€cemortgage stylea€) of principal and interest until the maturity date on March 31, 2038. A Each of the Derby Senior Back Leverage
Credit Agreement and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement contains certain reporting requirements and other affirmative and negative covenants which are customary for
transactions of this type. Included in the covenants are covenants that: (i) Derby Holdco Borrower maintain a &€ceSeniora€ debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into account
debt service obligations on the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loans) of not less than 1.25:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested every quarter) and a 4€ceTotala€ debt service coverage
ratio (which is computed taking into account debt service obligations on both the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loans and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan) of not less than 1.10:1.00
(based on the trailing 12 months and tested on a quarterly basis); (ii) Derby Holdco Borrower may make distributions or dividends only if the foregoing debt to equity coverage ratios have been
satisfied and Derby Holdco Borrower is not in default under any provisions of either the Derby Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement or the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit
Agreement, including having made all required deposits into reserve accounts; (iii) Derby Holdco Borrower is required to exercise its right under the Derby Tax Equity Holdco limited liability
company agreement to acquire the Derby Class A Interests from Franklin Park 20 Table of Contentsduring the ninety day period beginning on the &€ceFlip Pointa€ (which, pursuant to the Derby
Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement, is the date on which the holder of Derby Class A Interests has realized a certain return on investment and, accordingly, Derby Holdco
Borrower, as holder of the Derby Class B Interests, has the right to purchase the Derby Class A Interests); and (iv) the consent of the Senior Administrative Agent is required prior to Derby
Holdco Borrowera€™s taking certain material actions under the Derby Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement. Each of the Derby Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and
the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and customary events of default that cause, or entitle the Derby Back
Leverage Lenders to cause, the outstanding loans to become immediately due and payable. A In addition to customary events of default for transactions of this kind, the events of default include
if a Change of Control occurs (meaning Parent no longer directly or indirectly owns Derby Holdco Borrower), a cross default (meaning that a default under the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan
Facility shall be deemed a default under the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility and vice versa) or if CLPC should become insolvent, is in bankruptcy or commits a specified
number of payment defaults with regard to its payment obligations to the Derby Project Companies.The Derby Senior Back Leverage Loans may be prepaid at any time at the option of Derby
Holdco Borrower provided that (i) each prepayment on or prior to the second anniversary of the Derby Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 3% of the principal amount being prepaid;
(ii) each prepayment after the second anniversary of the Derby Closing Date but on or prior to the fourth anniversary of the Derby Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 2% of the
principal amount being prepaid; and (iii) each prepayment after the fourth anniversary of the Derby Closing Date but on or prior to the seventh anniversary of the Derby Closing Date shall
require a prepayment fee of 1% of the principal amount being prepaid. The Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan may be prepaid at any time without premium or penalty.OpCo Financing
Facility Interest Rate Swap &€“ Fair Value AdjustmentThe Companya€™s interest rate swap related to the OpCo Financing Facility (as defined elsewhere herein) is recorded at its fair value
each reporting period, with the resulting gains/losses recorded to other income/expense. The interest rate swap is a Level 2 asset/liability since the value can be determined based on the
observed values for underlying interest rates. The fair value adjustment for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024 resulted in a loss of $2.4 million and $3.2 million, respectively. The
Company has recorded a derivative asset within other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, which had an estimated fair value of $0.1 million and $3.3 million as of July 31, 2024 and
October 31, 2023, respectively.a€<NoteA 16. Benefit PlansLong-Term Incentive PlansThe Board periodically approves Long-Term Incentive Plans which include performance-based awards tied
to the Companya€™s common stock price as well as time-vesting awards. None of the awards granted as part of Long-Term Incentive Plans include any dividend equivalent or other stockholder
rights.A To the extent the awards are earned, they may be settled in shares or cash of an equivalent value at the Companya€™s option. Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards for Fiscal Year
2024:4€<On December 11, 2023, the Companya€™s Board of Directors (the 4€ceBoarda€) approved certain awards to be made under the Companya€™s Long-Term Incentive Plan for fiscal year
2024 (the 4€ceLTI Plana€). The LTI Plan is as a sub-plan consisting of awards made under the Companya€™s 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (as amended and restated from time to time, the
4€022018 Omnibus Incentive Plana€).A The participants in the LTI Plan are members of senior management. The awards under the LTI Plan consist of two components: &€<1)Relative Total
Shareholder Return (34€eTSR4€) Performance Share Units (a4€cePSU&€). The PSUs granted during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 will be earned over the performance period ending on
OctoberA 31, 2026, but will remain subject to a continued service-based vesting requirement until the third anniversary of the date of grant.A The performance measure for the relative TSR
PSUs is the TSR of the Company relative to the TSR of the Russell 2000 from October 31, 2023 through OctoberA 31, 2026. The Compensation Committee established the performance
assessment criteria for the relative TSR PSUs as the TSR of the Company relative to the TSR of the Russell 2000, with the award calibration being 100% plus or minus 0.5x the difference
between the Companya€™s TSR and the Russell 2000 Index composite TSR. A The award is capped at 200% of the target number of PSUs, and the award is further capped at 100% of the target
number of PSUs if the Companya€™s absolute TSR over the performance period is negative. A The Companya€™s TSR is calculated by subtracting the Companya€™s beginning 21 Table of
Contentsstock price (defined as the average closing price of the Companya€™s common stock over the 20 consecutive trading days ending on October 31, 2023) from the ending stock price
(defined as the average closing price of the Companya€™s common stock over the 20 consecutive trading days ending on October 31, 2026), adding any dividends during the period, and then
dividing the result by the Companya€™s beginning stock price. Given that the performance period is still open, the Company has reserved shares equal to 200% of the target number of PSUs,
subject to performance during the remaining performance period as well as vesting based on continued service until December 11, 2026 (the third anniversary of the grant date). 2)Time-vesting
Restricted Stock Units (4€ceRSU&€). A The time-vesting RSUs granted during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 will vest at a rate of one-third of the total number of RSUs on each of the first
three anniversaries of the date of grant.A On December 11, 2023, 6,548,760 RSUs were awarded to senior management under the LTI Plan, which included 3,274,384 PSUs (all of which were
contingent) and 3,274,376 time-based vesting RSUs. The 3,274,384 PSUs granted during the three months ended January 31, 2024 were contingent upon approval by the Companya€™s
stockholders of additional authorized shares under the Companya€™s 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan, which approval was obtained at the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the &€ceAnnual
Meetinga€) on April 4, 2024. In addition to the awards granted to senior management, during the nine months ended July 31, 2024, the Board also granted a total of 6,145,308 time-based
vesting RSUs to certain salaried employees to promote ownership of the Companya€™s equity and retention.A Of the time-based vesting RSUs granted during the nine months ended July 31,
2024, 3,978,496 were contingent upon approval by the Companya€™ s stockholders of additional authorized shares of common stock under the Companya€™s 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan,
which approval was obtained at the Annual Meeting. The time-based vesting RSUs granted during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 vest at a rate of one-third of the total number of RSUs
granted on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant.A PSUs are issued assuming participants achieve 100% target performance. The Company also reserves additional shares
assuming the maximum performance targets are met.Share-Based Compensation Share-based compensation was reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Loss as follows (in thousands):a€<4€<a€ a€<a€«a€a€a€«a€«a€<a€«a€«a€«a€«a€«Three Months Ended July 31,a€<Nine Months Ended July

31,a€<A A A A 2024A A A A 2023a€<2024A A A A 2023Cost of revenuesa€«<$ 463a€<$ 389a€<$ 1,2114€<$ 1,137Administrative and selling expensea€<a€« 2,3044€<A€« 2,285a4€<A€« 6,4984€ A€«
6,546Research and development expensea€«a€« 483a€<«a€« 375a€«a€« 1,257a€<a€<« 1,034a€<a€<$ 3,250a€<$ 3,049a€<$ 8,966a€<$ 8,717a€Restricted Stock Units Including Performance Share
UnitsThe following table summarizes our RSU activity for the nine months ended July 31, 2024:4€<4€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<Restricted Stock UnitsA A A A 4€<SharesA A A A Weighted-Average Fair
ValueOutstanding as of October 31, 20234€<4€< 6,543,1384€«$ 5.06Granted - time-vesting RSUsa€<a€« 9,419,6844€<«4€<« 1.27CGranted - PSUsa€«a€« 3,274,3844a€<a€« 1.63Vesteda€«a€«
(2,273,544)a€<a€< 7.03Forfeiteda€«a€« (191,243)a€<a€« 3.190utstanding as of July 31, 20244€<a€< 16,772,419a€<$ 2.15a€<4€<22 Table of ContentsNoteA 17. Commitments and
ContingenciesService AgreementsUnder the provisions of its service agreements, the Company provides services to maintain, monitor, and repair customer power plants to meet minimum
operating levels. Under the terms of such service agreements, the particular power plant must meet a minimum operating output during defined periods of the term. If minimum output falls
below the contract requirement, the Company may be subject to performance penalties and/or may be required to repair or replace the customera€™s fuel cell module(s).Power Purchase
AgreementsUnder the terms of the Companya€™s PPAs, customers agree to purchase power from the Companya€™s fuel cell power plants at negotiated rates. Electricity rates are generally a
function of the customersa€™ current and estimated future electricity pricing available from the grid. As owner or lessee of the power plants, the Company is responsible for all operating costs
necessary to maintain, monitor and repair the power plants. Under certain agreements, the Company is also responsible for procuring fuel, generally natural gas or biogas, to run the power
plants. In addition, under the terms of some of the PPAs, the Company may be subject to a performance penalty if the Company does not meet certain performance requirements.Project Fuel
ExposureCertain of our PPAs for project assets in our generation operating portfolio expose us to fluctuating fuel price risks as well as the risk of being unable to procure the required amounts
of fuel and the lack of alternative available fuel sources. We seek to mitigate our fuel risk using strategies including: (i) fuel cost reimbursement mechanisms in our PPAs to allow for pass
through of fuel costs (full or partial) where possible, which we have done with our 14.9 MW operating project in Bridgeport, CT; (ii) procuring fuel under fixed price physical supply contracts
with investment grade counterparties, which we have done for twenty years for our Tulare BioMAT project, the initial seven years of the eighteen year PPA for our LIPA Yaphank Project
(through September 2028), six years of the twenty year PPA for our 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby Projects (through October 2029), and the initial two years of the twenty year hydrogen power
purchase agreement for our Toyota project (through May of 2025); and (iii) potentially entering into future financial hedges with investment grade counterparties to offset potential negative
market fluctuations. The Company does not take a fundamental view on natural gas or other commodity pricing and seeks commercially available means to reduce commodity exposure. If the
Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result in impairment charges.The Company net settled certain natural gas purchases under previous normal purchase
normal sale contract designations during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023 for one contract and the second quarter of fiscal year 2024 for other contracts, which resulted in a change to
mark-to-market accounting. The Company recorded a mark-to-market net loss of $0.9 million and $5.1 million associated with the natural gas contract derivatives for the three and nine months
ended July 31, 2024, respectively. The Company has recorded derivative assets within other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, which had an estimated fair value of $1.9 million and
$4.1 million as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, respectively. The Company has recorded derivative liabilities within long-term debt and other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, which had an estimated fair value of $2.9 million and zero as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, respectively. The natural gas contract derivatives are classified as Level 2 financial
assets/liabilities since the values can be determined based on readily observable inputs for underlying natural gas forward prices.OtherAs of July 31, 2024, the Company had unconditional
purchase commitments aggregating to $73.2 million for materials, supplies and services in the normal course of business.Legal ProceedingsFrom time to time, the Company is involved in legal
proceedings, including, but not limited to, regulatory proceedings, claims, mediations, arbitrations and litigation, arising out of the ordinary course of its business (a€ceLegal Proceedingsa€).
Although the Company cannot assure the outcome of such Legal Proceedings, management presently believes that the result of such Legal Proceedings, either individually, or in the aggregate,
will not have a material adverse effect on the 23 Table of ContentsCompanya€™s consolidated financial statements, and no material amounts have been accrued in the Companya€™s
consolidated financial statements with respect to these matters. Note 18. Subsequent EventsAmended Sales AgreementSubsequent to July 31, 2024, the Company sold

approx1matelyA 2.2A million shares of its common stock under the Amended Sales Agreement at an average price of ' $0. 51A per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately

$1.1A million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds to the Company of approximately $1.1A million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately
$21.9A thousand. As of the date of this report, approximately $225.3 million of shares remained available for sale under the Amended Sales Agreement.a€<&€<24 Table of

ContentsITEMA 2.A AAA AA A A A MANAGEMENT4€™S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONSFORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTSThis Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains statements that the Company believes to be a€ceforward-looking statementsa€ within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the 4€ePSLRA4€). All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Form 10-K, including statements regarding the Companya€™s future
financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, expectations, future performance, business operations and business prospects, are forward-looking statements. Words such as
a€ceexpects,a€ a€ceanticipates,a€ a€oeestimates,a€ d€cegoals,a€ a€ceprojects,a€ a€mintends,a€ a€ceplans,a€ d€ebelieves,a€ a€cepredicts,a€ a€oeshould,a€ a€oeseeks,a€ a€cewill, 4€
a€mecould,a€ a€cewould,a€ 4€emay,a€ d€ceforecast,a€ and similar expressions and variations of such words are intended to identify forward-looking statements and are included, along with
this statement, for purposes of complying with the safe harbor provisions of the PSLRA. Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts, nor assurances of future performance. Instead,
such statements are based only on our beliefs, expectations, and assumptions regarding the future. As such, the realization of matters expressed in forward-looking statements involves inherent
risks and uncertainties. Such statements relate to, among other things, the following: (i)A the development and commercialization by FuelCell Energy,A Inc. and its subsidiaries of fuel cell
technology and products and the market for such products; (ii) the expected timing of completion of our ongoing projects; (iii) our business plans and strategies; (iv) the markets in which we
expect to operate; (v) expected operating results such as revenue growth and earnings; (vi) our belief that we have sufficient liquidity to fund our business operations for the next 12 months;
(vii) future funding under Advanced Technologies contracts; (viii) future financing for projects, including equity and debt investments by investors and commercial bank financing, as well as
overall financial market conditions; (ix) the expected cost competitiveness of our technology; and (x) our ability to achieve our sales plans, manufacturing capacity expansion plans, market
access and market expansion goals, and cost reduction targets. The forward-looking statements contained in this report are subject to risks and uncertainties, known and unknown, that could
cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth in or contemplated by the forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, the risks described in our
Annual Report on FormA 10-K for the fiscalA year ended OctoberA 31, 2023 and in the section below entitled &€celtemA 1A. Risk Factors,a€ and the following risks and uncertainties: general
risks associated with product development and manufacturing; general economic conditions; changes in interest rates, which may impact project financing; supply chain disruptions; changes in



the utility regulatory environment; changes in the utility industry and the markets for distributed generation, distributed hydrogen, and fuel cell power plants configured for carbon capture or
carbon separation; potential volatility of commodity prices that may adversely affect our projects; availability of government subsidies and economic incentives for alternative energy
technologies; our ability to remain in compliance with U.S. federal and state and foreign government laws and regulations; our ability to regain and maintain compliance with the listing rules of
The Nasdaq Stock Market; our ability to implement a reverse stock split and the impacts of a reverse stock split, if implemented; rapid technological change; competition; the risk that our bid
awards will not convert to contracts or that our contracts will not convert to revenue; market acceptance of our products; changes in accounting policies or practices adopted voluntarily or as
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (2€0eGAAPA€); factors affecting our liquidity position and financial condition; government appropriations; the ability of
the government and third parties to terminate their development contracts at any time; the ability of the government to exercise d€cemarch-ina€ rights with respect to certain of our patents;
our ability to successfully market and sell our products internationally; our ability to develop new products to achieve our long-term revenue targets; our ability to implement our strategy; our
ability to reduce our levelized cost of energy and deliver on our cost reduction strategy generally; our ability to protect our intellectual property; litigation and other proceedings; the risk that
commercialization of our new products will not occur when anticipated or, if it does, that we will not have adequate capacity to satisfy demand; our need for and the availability of additional
financing; our ability to generate positive cash flow from operations; our ability to service our long-term debt; our ability to increase the output and longevity of our platforms and to meet the
performance requirements of our contracts; our ability to expand our customer base and maintain relationships with our largest customers and strategic business allies; and concerns with,
threats of, or the consequences of, pandemics, contagious diseases or health epidemics, including the novel coronavirus, and resulting supply chain disruptions, shifts in clean energy demand,
impacts to our customersa€™ capital budgets and investment plans, and impacts on the demand for our products.We cannot assure you that: we will be able to meet any of our development or
commercialization schedules; any of our new products or technologies, once developed, will be commercially successful; our power plants will be commercially successful; we will be able to
obtain financing or raise capital to achieve our business plans; the government will 25 Table of Contentsappropriate the funds anticipated by us under our government contracts; the
government will not exercise its right to terminate any or all of our government contracts; or we will be able to achieve any other result anticipated in any other forward-looking statement
contained herein.Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our ability to
control, and that actual results may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors discussed herein. Any forward-looking statement made
by us in this report is based only on information currently available to us and speaks only as of the date on which it is made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking
statement, whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.Management&€™s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations is provided as a supplement to the accompanying financial statements and footnotes to help provide an understanding of our financial condition,
changes in our financial condition and results of operations. The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as well as managementa€™s assessment of the Companya€ ™s ability to
meet its obligations as they come due over the next twelveA months. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, revenue
recognition, lease right-of-use assets and liabilities, loss accruals on service agreements, excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventories, product warranty accruals, loss accruals on service
agreements, share-based compensation expense, allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization, impairment of goodwill and in-process research and development intangible
assets, impairment of long-lived assets (including project assets), valuation of derivatives, and contingencies. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions
are reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results in future
periods may differ from those estimates. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with information included in our Annual Report on FormA 10-K for the fiscalA year ended
OctoberA 31, 2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (4€0eSEC&€). Unless otherwise indicated, the terms &€ceCompanya€, 4€ceFuelCell Energya€, 4€cewea€, a€ceusa€, and
a€ceoura€ refer to FuelCell Energy,A Inc. and its subsidiaries. All tabular dollar amounts are in thousands.OVERVIEW Headquartered in Danbury, Connecticut, FuelCell Energy is a global
leader in delivering environmentally responsible distributed baseload energy platform solutions through our proprietary fuel cell technology. Today, we offer commercial technology that
produces clean electricity, heat, clean hydrogen, and water and is also capable of recovering and capturing carbon for utilization and/or sequestration, depending on product configuration and
application. We also continue to invest in product development and commercializing technologies that are expected to add new capabilities to our platformsa€™ abilities to deliver hydrogen and
long duration hydrogen-based energy storage through our solid oxide technologies, as well as further enhance our existing platformsa€™ carbon capture solutions. FuelCell Energy is focused
on advancing sustainable clean energy technologies that address some of the worlda€™s most critical challenges around energy access, security, resilience, reliability, affordability, safety and
environmental stewardship. As a leading global manufacturer of proprietary fuel cell technology platforms, FuelCell Energy is uniquely positioned to serve customers worldwide with sustainable
products and solutions for industrial and commercial businesses, utilities, governments, municipalities, and communities.FuelCell Energy, based in Connecticut, was founded in 1969 as a New
York corporation to provide applied research and development services on a contract basis. We completed our initial public offering in 1992 and reincorporated in Delaware in 1999. We began
selling stationary fuel cell power plants commercially in 2003.RECENT DEVELOPMENTSSales Under Amended Open Market Sale AgreementSubsequent to July 31, 2024, the Company sold
approximately 2.2 million shares of its common stock under the Amended Sales Agreement (as defined below) at an average price of $0.51 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of
approximately $1.1 million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds to the Company of approximately $1.1 million 26 Table of Contentsafter deducting sales commissions
and fees totaling approximately $21.9 thousand. As of the date of this report, approximately $225.3 million of shares remained available for sale under the Amended Sales Agreement.RESULTS
OF OPERATIONSManagement evaluates our results of operations and cash flows using a variety of key performance indicators, including revenues compared to prior periods and internal
forecasts, costs of our products and results of our cost reduction initiatives, and operating cash use. These are discussed throughout the a&€ceResults of Operationsa€ and &€ceLiquidity and
Capital Resourcesa€ sections. Results of Operations are presented in accordance with GAAP.Comparison of ThreeA Months Ended July 31, 2024 and 2023Revenues and Costs of revenuesOur
revenues and cost of revenues for the threeA months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:&€ € <4€ A€ <A€<AE<AE<AE<AE<AE<AE<AE<AE<aEThree Months Ended July 31,a4€<Change(dollars
in thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Total revenuesa€<$ 23,695a€<$ 25,510a€<$ (1,815)a€<«(7)%Total costs of revenuesa€«a€« 29,897a€a€« 33,725a€a€«
(3,828)4€<(11)%Gross lossa€<$ (6,202)a€<$ (8,215)a€<$ 2,0134€<25%Gross margina€«a€<«(26.2) %a€ &€ «(32.2)%A€ A€ <€ <4€ &€ &€ <Total revenues for the threeA months ended July 31, 2024 of
$23.7 million reflects a decrease of $1.8 million from $25.5 million for the same period in the priorA year. Cost of revenues for the threeA months ended July 31, 2024 of $29.9 million reflects a
decrease of $3.8 million from $33.7 million for the same period in the priorA year. A discussion of the changes in product revenues, service agreements revenues, generation revenues and
Advanced Technologies contract revenues follows.Product revenuesOur product revenues and related costs for the threeA months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as

follows: A€ <A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ <a€<Three Months Ended July 31,4€<Change(dollars in thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Product revenuesa€<$ 250a€<$
-4€<$ 250a€<«N/ACost of product revenuesa€«a€« 4,181a€<«a€« 2,910a€<a€« 1,271a€<44%Gross loss from product revenuesa€<$ (3,931)a€<$ (2,910)a€<$ (1,021)a€<(35)%Product revenues gross
margind€<a€<«(1572.4)%a€<a€<N/A&€<a€<a€<a€«a€«a€<Product revenues were $0.3 million during the three months ended July 31, 2024 and there were no product revenues in the comparable
prior year period. The product revenues during the three months ended July 31, 2024 were recognized under the Companya€™s new sales contract with Ameresco, Inc., which was entered into
during the second quarter of fiscal year 2024, pursuant to which the Company is to provide a 2.8 MW platform to the Sacramento Sewer District. Cost of product revenues increased $1.3
million for the threeA months ended July 31, 2024 to $4.2 million, compared to $2.9 million in the same period in the priorA year. Manufacturing variances, primarily related to production
volumes and unabsorbed overhead costs, totaled approximately $3.5 million for the threeA months ended July 31, 2024, compared to approximately $2.4 million for the threeA months ended
July 31, 2023. For the threeA months ended July 31, 2024, we operated at an annualized production rate of approximately 29.3 MW in our Torrington, CT manufacturing facility, compared to an
annualized production rate of 28.9 MW for the threeA months ended July 31, 2023. 27 Table of ContentsService agreements revenuesService agreements revenues and related costs for the
threeA months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:2€ A€ <€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ Three Months Ended July 31,4€<Change(dollars in

thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A2023A A A A $A A A A %Service agreements revenuesa€«$ 1,4114€<$ 9,8414€<$ (8,430)4€<(86)%Cost of service agreements revenuesa€<a€« 1,146a€<a€«
9,575a€ @€« (8,429)a€«(88)%Gross profit from service agreements revenuesa€<$ 265a€<$ 266a€«$ (1)a€«0%Service agreements revenues gross
margina€«a€<18.8%a€«a€<2.7%a€«a€a€<a€<a€«@a€<Service agreements revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2024 decreased $8.4 million to $1.4 million from $9.8 million for the three
months ended July 31, 2023. The decrease in service agreements revenues during the three months ended July 31, 2024 was primarily driven by the fact that there were no module exchanges
during the quarter. During the three months ended July 31, 2023, there were two new module exchanges at the plants owned by Korea Southern Power Company in Korea, which achieved
commercial operations in fiscal year 2018, and a module exchange at the plant at Trinity College.Cost of service agreements revenues decreased $8.4 million to $1.1 million for the three months
ended July 31, 2024 from $9.6 million for the threeA months ended July 31, 2023. Cost of service agreements revenues includes maintenance and operating costs and costs of module exchanges.
The decrease in costs is primarily due to the fact that there were no module exchanges during the three months ended July 31, 2024, compared to three module exchanges during the three
months ended July 31, 2023. Overall gross profit from service agreements revenues was $0.3 million for the three months ended July 31, 2024, which remains unchanged from a gross profit of
$0.3 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023. The overall gross marginA was 18.8% for the three months ended July 31, 2024 compared to a gross margin of 2.7% in the comparable
priorA year period. Gross margin was higher during the three months ended July 31, 2024 primarily due to the fact that the comparable prior year quarter included a reserve established for
obsolete inventory of approximately $0.8 million, while there was no comparable reserve established during the three months ended July 31, 2024. Generation revenuesGeneration revenues and
related costs for the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:a€<3a€<a€«a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<a€«a€«a€<a€«a€«a€<Three Months Ended July 31,a€<Change(dollars in

thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Generation revenuesa€<$ 13,4024€<$ 10,982a€<$ 2,4204€<22%Cost of generation revenuesa€<a€« 18,7614€<a€« 17,4834€ &€«
1,2784a€<7%Gross loss from generation revenuesa€<$ (5,359)a€<$ (6,501)a€<$ 1,1424€<18%Generation revenues gross margina€«a€<(40.0)%a€<«a€<(59.2)%a€a€<a€<a€«a€<«a€<Revenues from
generation for the three months ended July 31, 2024 totaled $13.4 million, which represents an increase of $2.4 million from the $11.0 million of revenue recognized for the three months ended
July 31, 2023. The increase reflects revenue of $0.9 million generated by the Toyota Project, which became operational during the first quarter of fiscal year 2024, and revenue of $4.7 million
generated by the 14.0 MW Derby Fuel Cell Project and the 2.8 MW SCEF Fuel Cell Project, both located in Derby, Connecticut (collectively, the &€ceDerby Projectsa€), both of which became
operational in December 2023, partially offset by lower revenue from other plants due to lower output resulting from routine maintenance activities. Generation revenues for the three months
ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 reflect revenue from electricity generated under our power purchase agreements (a4€0ePPAsa€), the sale of renewable energy credits, and additionally for the
three months ended July 31, 2024, the sale of hydrogen from the Toyota Project. Cost of generation revenues totaled $18.8 million in the three months ended July 31, 2024, compared to $17.5
million in the three months ended July 31, 2023. The overall increase in cost of generation revenues is primarily related to the increased size of the installed fleet with the Toyota Project and
Derby Projects achieving commercial operations in the first quarter of fiscal year 2024. Both periods include expensed construction costs related to the Toyota Project, which were $0.2 million
in the three months ended July 31, 2024, compared to $6.2 million in the three months ended July 31, 2023 (which also included expensed gas costs). During the three months ended July 31,
2024, the Company incurred a 28 Table of Contentsmark-to-market net loss of $0.9 million related to natural gas purchase contracts. There was no comparable loss in the comparable quarter of
the prior year as the Company changed its designation from normal purchase normal sale in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023 for one contract, and in the second quarter of fiscal year 2024
for other contracts, as a result of net settling certain natural gas purchases under previous normal purchase normal sale contract designations, which resulted in a change to mark-to-market
accounting. Cost of generation revenues included depreciation and amortization of approximately $7.3 million and $5.4 million for the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
Cost of generation revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2024 also includes an impairment charge of $1.1 million relating to project assets under construction relating to the PPAs for
Trinity College and for UConn (as defined elsewhere herein). The units to be installed at Trinity College and UConn are first article units of our solid oxide fuel cell (&€ceSOFCa€) product. In
reviewing our project cost estimates for these PPAs during the third quarter of fiscal year 2024, it was determined that the expected project costs for these contracts would exceed the expected
cash flows and therefore an impairment charge was required. The impairment charge of $1.1 million represents the unrecoverable costs incurred through July 31, 2024 for the Trinity College
and UConn projects.We currently have four projects with fuel sourcing risk, which are the Toyota Project, which requires procurement of renewable natural gas (&€eRNGa€), and our 14.0 MW
and 2.8 MW Derby Projects, and our 7.4 MW project in Yaphank Long Island (the 4&€ceYaphank Projecta€), which require natural gas for which there is no pass-through mechanism. A two-year
(through May of 2025) fuel supply contract has been executed for the Toyota Project. Six-year (through October 2029) fuel supply contracts have been executed for the 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW
Derby Projects. We are currently in the midst of a seven-year contract (through September 2028) for our 7.4 MW Yaphank Project. The Company will look to extend the duration of these
contracts should market and credit conditions allow. A If the Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result in impairment charges to the Derby Project assets or
the Yaphank Project asset and further impairment charges for the Toyota Project asset. We had 62.8 MW of operating power plants in our generation operating portfolio as of July 31, 2024,
which increased from 43.7 MW as of July 31, 2023 and which includes the Derby Projects and the Toyota Project, all of which became operational in December 2023. Advanced Technologies
contract revenuesAdvanced Technologies contract revenues and related costs for the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as

follows:A€ A€ <A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ AE A€ A€ A€ <a€<Three Months Ended July 31,4€<Change(dollars in thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Advanced Technologies contract
revenuesa€«$ 8,632a€«$ 4,687a€<«$ 3,945a€<84%Cost of Advanced Technologies contract revenuesa€«a€« 5,809a€<«a€« 3,757a€<«a€« 2,052a€<55%Gross profit from Advanced Technologies
contractsa€<$ 2,8234€«$ 930a€<$ 1,893a€<204%Advanced Technologies contract gross margind€<a€<32.7%4a€<a€<19.8%a€«a€«a€«a€<a€«a€«Advanced Technologies contract revenues increased
to $8.6 million from $4.7 million. Advanced Technologies contract revenues recognized under our Joint Development Agreement with ExxonMobil Technology and Engineering Company
(&€eEMTECA€) were approximately $1.8 million, revenues arising from the purchase order received from Esso Nederland B.V. (4€aEssoa€), an affiliate of EMTEC and Exxon Mobil
Corporation, related to the Rotterdam project A were approximately $3.5 million and revenue recognized under government contracts and other contracts were approximately $3.3 million for
the three months ended July 31, 2024. This compares to Advanced Technologies contract revenues recognized under our Joint Development Agreement with EMTEC of approximately $2.8
million and revenue recognized under government contracts and other contracts of approximately $1.9 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023.Cost of Advanced Technologies contract
revenues increased to $5.8 million for the three months ended July 31, 2024, compared to $3.8 million for the same period in the priorA year as a result of the higher activity discussed above.
Advanced Technologies contracts for the three months ended July 31, 2024 generated a gross profit of $2.8 million, compared to a gross profit of $0.9 million for the same period in the

priorA year. The increase was due primarily to the higher revenues and lower costs recognized under government and other contracts during the three months ended July 31, 2024 compared to
the three months ended July 31, 2023. 29 Table of ContentsAdministrative and selling expensesAdministrative and selling expenses were $14.6 million and $17.6A million for the three months
ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Administrative and selling expenses were lower during the three months ended July 31, 2024 than during the three months ended July 31, 2023
primarily due to lower legal, consulting and shareholder relations expenses and lower compensation expense.Research and development expensesResearch and development expenses
decreased to $12.8 million for the three months ended July 31, 2024 compared to $15.6 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023. The decrease is primarily due to a decrease in
spending on the Companya€™s ongoing commercial development efforts related to our solid oxide power generation and electrolysis platforms and carbon separation and carbon recovery
solutions compared to the comparable prior year period, as well as a shift in engineering resource allocation toward supporting the increase in funded Advanced Technologies activities



described above.Loss from operationsLoss from operations for the three months ended July 31, 2024 was $33.6 million compared to $41.4 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023. This
decrease was driven primarily by a $5.8 million decrease in operating expenses and a $2.0 million decrease in gross loss.Interest expenselnterest expense for the three months ended July 31,
2024 and 2023 was $2.6 million and $1.9 million, respectively. Interest expense for the three months ended July 31, 2024 includes interest on: the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan A Facility
and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility (in each case as defined elsewhere herein), which were entered into in April 2024; the OpCo Financing Facility (as defined elsewhere
herein), which was entered into in May 2023; the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility (in each case as defined elsewhere
herein), which were entered into in August 2023; and the Crestmark sale-leaseback transactions. Interest expense for the three months ended July 31, 2023 includes interest associated with
finance obligations for failed sale-leaseback transactions and interest on the loans associated with the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project, which were terminated in May 2023.Interest incomelnterest
income was $3.3 million and $4.0 million for the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease in interest income during the three months ended July 31, 2024 was
primarily driven by lower investible cash balances compared to the three months ended July 31, 2023. Interest income for the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 represents interest
earned on money market investments and investments in U.S. Treasury Securities. Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, netThe gain on extinguishment of finance obligations
and debt, net was $15.3 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and represents the gain on the payoff of certain finance obligations of the Company to PNC Energy Capital, LLC
(&€ePNCa€) (which occurred in May 2023), partially offset by the write-off of debt issuance costs. There was no gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net for the three months
ended July 31, 2024. Other (expense) income, netOther (expense) income, net was ($2.2) million and $0.4 million for the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Other
expense, net for the three months ended July 31, 2024 relates primarily to an unrealized loss of $2.4 million on the OpCo Financing Facility interest rate swap derivative. Other income, net for
the three months ended July 31, 2023 relates primarily to foreign currency exchange gains.30 Table of ContentsProvision for income taxesWe have not paid federal or state income taxes in
severalA years due to our history of net operating losses, although we have paid foreign income and withholding taxes in Korea. Provision for income tax recorded for each of the three months
ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.0 million.SeriesA B preferred stock dividendsDividends recorded on our 5% SeriesA B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (a€ceSeriesA B
Preferred Stocka€) were $0.8 million for each of the three month periods ended July 31, 2024 and 2023.Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interestsNet (loss) income attributable to
noncontrolling interests is the result of allocating profits and losses to noncontrolling interests under the hypothetical liquidation at book value (4€ceHLBVa€) method. HLBV is a balance sheet-
oriented approach for applying the equity method of accounting when there is a complex structure, such as the flip structure of our tax equity financings with East West Bancorp, Inc. (a&€ceEast
West Banka€), Renewable Energy Investors, LLC (4€0eREIa€), and Franklin Park 2023 FCE Tax Equity Fund, LLC (a€ceFranklin Parka€).For the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, net
(loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $(0.2) million and $0.1 million, respectively, for the Groton Project tax equity financing transaction with East West Bank.For the
three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $(0.4) million and $0.6 million, respectively, for the LIPA Yaphank Project tax equity
financing transaction with REI. For the three months ended July 31, 2024, net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $(1.8) million for the Derby Projects tax equity financing
transaction with Franklin Park. The loss was primarily a result of accelerated depreciation allocated to the noncontrolling interest under the HLBV method. There was no comparable net loss for
the three months ended July 31, 2023, as the Derby Projects began operations in the first quarter of fiscal year 2024.Net loss attributable to common stockholders and net loss per common
shareNet loss attributable to common stockholders represents the net loss for the period less the preferred stock dividends on the SeriesA B Preferred Stock. For the three month periods ended
July 31, 2024 and 2023, net loss attributable to common stockholders was $33.5 million and $25.1 million, respectively, and net loss per common share was $0.07 and $0.06, respectively. The
increase is primarily due to the lack of gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net during the three months ended July 31, 2024 (compared to the gain that benefitted the
comparable prior year period), partially offset by a decrease in loss from operations and the increased net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests for the three months ended July 31, 2024
compared to the three months ended July 31, 2023. The net loss per common share for the three months ended July 31, 2024 benefited from the higher number of weighted average shares
outstanding due to share issuances since July 31, 2023.4€<31 Table of ContentsComparison of NineA Months Ended July 31, 2024 and 2023Revenues and Costs of revenuesOur revenues and
cost of revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows: € A€ A€ <€ <A€ A€ A€ A€ <AE€ A€ A€ <a€<a€<«a€«Nine Months Ended July 31,4€<Change(dollars in

thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Total revenuesa€«$ 62,806a€<$ 100,9324€<$ (38,126)a€<«(38)%Total costs of revenuesa€«a€« 87,807a€<a€<« 110,0034€ A€«
(22,196)4€<(20)%Gross lossa€«$ (25,001)a€<$ (9,071)a€<$ (15,930)4€<176%Gross margini€«a€<«(39.8)%Aa€ a€<(9.0)%a€<a€a€a€<a€<a€«Total revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 of
$62.8 million reflects a decrease of $38.1 million from $100.9 million for the same period in the priorA year. Cost of revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 of $87.8 million reflects a
decrease of $22.2 million from $110.0 million for the same period in the priorA year. A discussion of the changes in product revenues, service agreements revenues, generation revenues and
Advanced Technologies contract revenues follows.Product revenuesOur product revenues and related costs for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as

follows: A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ <a€Nine Months Ended July 31,4€<Change(dollars in thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Product revenuesa€«$ 250a€<$
9,0954€<$ (8,845)a€<(97)%Cost of product revenuesa€«a€« 9,510a€<«a€« 7,425a€<a€<« 2,085a€28%Gross (loss) profit from product revenuesa€«<$ (9,260)a€<$ 1,670a€<$ (10,930)a€<(654)%Product
revenues gross margina€<a€<«N/Aa€«a€«18.4%a€ a€<«a€<a€«a€Product revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 was $0.3 million compared to $9.1 million for the nine months ended July
31, 2023. Our December 2021 Settlement Agreement with POSCO Energy Co., Ltd. and its subsidiary, Korea Fuel Cell Co., Ltd. (4€eKFCa€), included an option to purchase an additional 14
modules (in addition to the 20 modules that were purchased by KFC during fiscal year 2022). This option included a material right related to an extended warranty obligation for the modules.
The option was not exercised by KFC as of the expiration date of December 31, 2022 and, as a result, the Company recognized $9.1 million of product revenues for the nine months ended July
31, 2023, which represents the consideration allocated to the material right if the option had been exercised.Cost of product revenues increased $2.1 million for the nine months ended July 31,
2024 to $9.5 million, compared to $7.4 million in the same period in the priorA year. Manufacturing variances, primarily related to production volumes and unabsorbed overhead costs,
increased to approximately $8.6 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024, compared to approximately $6.8 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023. For the nine months ended
July 31, 2024, we operated at an annualized production rate of approximately 31.1 MW in our Torrington, CT manufacturing facility, compared to an annualized production rate of 31.9 MW for
the nine months ended July 31, 2023. 4€<32 Table of ContentsService agreements revenuesService agreements revenues and related costs for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023
were as follows:A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ <a€<a€<a€<Nine Months Ended July 31,4€<Change(dollars in thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Service agreements
revenuesa€«$ 4,397a€<«$ 49,913a€<$ (45,516)a€<(91)%Cost of service agreements revenuesa€«a€« 4,301a€<a€« 40,633a€<a€< (36,332)a€<(89)%Gross profit from service agreements revenuesa€«$
964€<$ 9,280a€<$ (9,184)a€<(99)%Service agreements revenues gross margina€<«a€«2.2%a€<«a€«18.6%a€«a€«a€«a€<a€«a€«Service agreements revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2024
decreased $45.5 million to $4.4 million from $49.9 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023. The decrease in service agreements revenues during the nine months ended July 31, 2024
was primarily driven by the fact that there were no module exchanges during the period. During the nine months ended July 31, 2023, there were one new module exchange at the plant at
Trinity College, two new module exchanges at the plant in Woodbridge, CT, which originally achieved commercial operations in fiscal year 2017, and 12 new module exchanges at the plants
owned by Korea Southern Power Company in Korea, which achieved commercial operations in fiscal year 2018.Cost of service agreements revenues decreased $36.3 million to $4.3 million for
the nine months ended July 31, 2024 from $40.6 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023. Cost of service agreements revenues includes maintenance and operating costs and costs of
module exchanges. The decrease in costs is primarily due to the fact that there were no module exchanges during the nine months ended July 31, 2024, compared to fifteen module exchanges
during the nine months ended July 31, 2023. Overall gross profit from service agreements revenues was $0.1 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024, which reflects a decrease from a
gross profit of $9.3 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023. The overall gross marginA was 2.2% for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 compared to a gross margin of 18.6% in the
comparable priorA year period. Gross margin was lower during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 primarily due to the lack of module exchanges during the nine months ended July 31, 2024
and the fact that the comparable prior year period included module exchanges that were performed pursuant to service agreements with higher margins.Generation revenuesGeneration
revenues and related costs for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:8€<a€<a€ € 4€<a€<a€<a€«a€«a€«a€<a€<a€<«a€Nine Months Ended July 31,a€<«Change(dollars in
thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Generation revenuesa€«$ 38,0134€<$ 28,9794€<$ 9,0344€<31%Cost of generation revenuesa€«a€« 61,079a€<a€<« 51,166a€ &€«
9,9134€<19%Gross loss from generation revenuesa€<$ (23,066)a€<$ (22,187)a€«$ (879)a€«4%Generation revenues gross margina€«a€<«(60.7)%a€ a€<(76.6)%a€ a€a€<a€<a€«a€«Revenues from
generation for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 totaled $38.0 million, which represents an increase of $9.0 million from revenue recognized of $29.0 million for the nine months ended July
31, 2023. The increase reflects revenue of $2.2 million generated by the Toyota Project, which became operational during the first quarter of fiscal year 2024, and revenue of $11.4 million
generated by the Derby Projects, both of which became operational in December 2023, partially offset by lower revenue from other plants due to lower output resulting from routine
maintenance activities. Generation revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 reflect revenue from electricity generated under our PPAs, the sale of renewable energy credits,
and additionally for the nine months ended July 31, 2024, the sale of hydrogen from the Toyota Project.Cost of generation revenues totaled $61.1 million in the nine months ended July 31, 2024,
compared to $51.2 million in the nine months ended July 31, 2023. The overall increase in cost of generation revenues is primarily related to the increased size of the installed fleet with the
Toyota Project and Derby Projects achieving commercial operations in the first quarter of fiscal year 2024, as well as maintenance activities performed at the Tulare BioMAT and Groton
projects during the first quarter of fiscal year 2024. Both nine month periods include expensed construction and gas costs related to the Toyota Project, which were $6.3 million in the nine
months ended July 31, 2024, compared to $17.8 million in the 33 Table of Contentsnine months ended July 31, 2023. During the nine months ended July 31, 2024, the Company incurred a mark-
to-market net loss of $5.1 million related to natural gas purchase contracts. There was no comparable loss in the comparable prior year period as the Company changed its designation from
normal purchase normal sale in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023 for one contract, and in the second quarter of fiscal year 2024 for other contracts, as a result of net settling certain natural
gas purchases under previous normal purchase normal sale contract designations, which resulted in a change to mark-to-market accounting. Cost of generation revenues included depreciation
and amortization of approximately $21.3 million and $14.9 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Cost of generation revenues for the nine months ended July
31, 2024 also includes an impairment charge of $1.1 million relating to project assets under construction relating to the PPAs for Trinity College and for UConn (as defined elsewhere herein).
The units to be installed at Trinity College and UConn are first article units of our SOFC product. In reviewing our project cost estimates for these PPAs during the third quarter of fiscal year
2024, it was determined that the expected project costs for these contracts would exceed the expected cash flows and therefore an impairment charge was required. The impairment charge of
$1.1 million represents the unrecoverable costs incurred through July 31, 2024 for the Trinity College and UConn projects. Cost of generation revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2023
includes an impairment charge of $2.4 million relating to a project asset for which a PPA was ultimately not awarded. We currently have four projects with fuel sourcing risk, which are the
Toyota Project, which requires procurement of RNG, and our 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby Projects, and our 7.4 MW Yaphank Project, which require natural gas for which there is no pass-
through mechanism. A two-year (through May of 2025) fuel supply contract has been executed for the Toyota Project. Six-year (through October 2029) fuel supply contracts have been executed
for the 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby Projects. We are currently in the midst of a seven-year contract (through September 2028) for our 7.4 MW Yaphank Project. The Company will look to extend
the duration of these contracts should market and credit conditions allow. A If the Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result in impairment charges to the
Derby Project assets or the Yaphank Project asset and further impairment charges for the Toyota Project asset. Advanced Technologies contract revenuesAdvanced Technologies contract
revenues and related costs for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:4€<a€ A€ A€ <A€<A€ A€ A€ «A€<a€<a€a€«a€<a€«Nine Months Ended July 31,4€<Change(dollars in
thousands)A A A A 2024A A A A 2023A A A A $A A A A %Advanced Technologies contract revenuesa€«$ 20,146a€<$ 12,945a€<$ 7,2014€<56%Cost of Advanced Technologies contract
revenuesa€«a€« 12,9174€«4€« 10,779a€<4€« 2,1384€<20%Gross profit from Advanced Technologies contractsa€<$ 7,2294€<$ 2,166a€<$ 5,0634€<234%Advanced Technologies contract gross
margind€«a€<«35.9%a€«a€<16.7%a€a€<a€a€@€<a€<«Advanced Technologies contract revenues increased to $20.1 million from $12.9 million. Advanced Technologies contract revenues
recognized under our Joint Development Agreement with EMTEC were approximately $7.0 million, revenues arising from the purchase order received from Esso, an affiliate of EMTEC and
Exxon Mobil Corporation, related to the Rotterdam project were approximately $7.2 million and revenue recognized under government contracts and other contracts were approximately $6.0
million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024. This compares to contract revenues recognized under our Joint Development Agreement with EMTEC of approximately $7.9 million, and

A revenue recognized under government contracts and other contracts of approximately $5.1 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023. Cost of Advanced Technologies contract revenues
increased to $12.9 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024, compared to $10.8 million for the same period in the priorA year as a result of the higher activity discussed above. Advanced
Technologies contracts for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 generated a gross profit of $7.2 million, compared to a gross profit of $2.2 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023. The
increase in gross profit was due primarily to the higher revenues and lower costs recognized under government and other contracts during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 compared to the
nine months ended July 31, 2023.Administrative and selling expensesAdministrative and selling expenses were $48.7 million and $47.6A million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively. Administrative and selling expenses were higher during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 than 34 Table of Contentsduring the nine months ended July 31, 2023 primarily
due to an increase in compensation expense resulting from an increase in headcount in support of sales, marketing and business expansion, partially offset by lower legal, consulting and
shareholder relations expenses. A Research and development expensesResearch and development expenses increased to $43.8 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 compared to
$43.0 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023. The increase is primarily due to an increase in spending, including spending for labor (including increased headcount) and materials, on
the Companya€™s ongoing commercial development efforts related to our solid oxide power generation and electrolysis platforms and carbon separation and carbon recovery solutions
compared to the comparable priorA year period, partially offset by a shift in engineering resource allocation toward supporting the increase in funded Advanced Technologies activities
described above.Loss from operationsLoss from operations for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 was $117.5 million compared to $99.7 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023. This
increase was driven primarily by a $15.9 million increase in gross loss and a $1.8 million increase in operating expenses for the nine months ended July 31, 2024.Interest expenselnterest
expense for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023 was $7.2 million and $4.9 million, respectively. Interest expense for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 includes interest on: the
Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility (in each case as defined elsewhere herein), which were entered into in April 2024; the OpCo
Financing Facility (as defined elsewhere herein), which was entered into in May 2023; the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility
(in each case as defined elsewhere herein), which were entered into in August 2023; and the Crestmark sale-leaseback transactions. Interest expense for the nine months ended July 31, 2023
includes interest associated with finance obligations for failed sale-leaseback transactions and interest on the loans associated with the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project, which were terminated in
May 2023.Interest incomelnterest income was $10.7 million and $11.1 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease in interest income during the nine
months ended July 31, 2024 was primary driven by lower investible cash balances compared to the nine months ended July 31, 2023. Interest income for the nine months ended July 31, 2024
and 2023 represents interest earned on money market investments and investments in U.S. Treasury Securities. Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, netThe gain on
extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net was $15.3 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and represents the gain on the payoff of certain finance obligations of the
Company to PNC (as defined elsewhere herein) (which occurred in May 2023), partially offset by the write-off of debt issuance costs. There was no gain on extinguishment of finance obligations
and debt, net for the nine months ended July 31, 2024. Other (expense) income, netOther (expense) income, net was ($3.3) million and $0.2 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively. Other expense, net for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 primarily relates to a loss on the OpCo Financing Facility interest rate swap derivative of $3.2 million. There was



no comparable loss or gain in the comparable prior year period as the OpCo Financing Facility was drawn down in the third quarter of fiscal year 2023. Other income, net for the nine months
ended July 31, 2023 relates primarily to foreign currency exchange gains. Provision for income taxesWe have not paid federal or state income taxes in severalA years due to our history of net
operating losses, although we have paid foreign income and withholding taxes in Korea. Provision for income tax recorded for the nine months ended 35 Table of ContentsJuly 31, 2024 and
2023 was $2.0 thousand and $0.6 million, respectively. The provision for income tax recorded for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 reflects the realization of withholding taxes on customer
deposits.SeriesA B preferred stock dividendsDividends recorded on our SeriesA B Preferred Stock were $2.4 million for each of the nine month periods ended July 31, 2024 and 2023.Net loss
attributable to noncontrolling interests For the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $(3.5) million and $(2.8) million, respectively,
for the Groton Project tax equity financing transaction with East West Bank.For the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled
$(0.5) million and $1.4 million, respectively, for the LIPA Yaphank Project tax equity financing transaction with REI. For the nine months ended July 31, 2024, net loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest totaled $(28.6) million for the Derby Projects tax equity financing transaction with Franklin Park. The loss is primarily driven by the Investment Tax Credit (&€celTC&€)
attributable to the noncontrolling interest for the 2023 tax year. A The ITC reduces the noncontrolling interesta€™s claim on hypothetical liquidation proceeds in the HLBV waterfall and is
nonrecurring. The loss also is a result of accelerated depreciation allocated to the noncontrolling interest under the HLBV method. The above noted items resulted in a reduction in liquidation
proceeds which drove the loss in the nine months ended July 31, 2024. There was no comparable net loss for the nine months ended July 31, 2023, as the Derby Projects began operations in the
first quarter of fiscal year 2024. Net loss attributable to common stockholders and net loss per common shareNet loss attributable to common stockholders represents the net loss for the period
less the preferred stock dividends on the SeriesA B Preferred Stock. For the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, net loss attributable to common stockholders was $87.0 million and
$79.6 million, respectively, and net loss per common share for each of the periods presented was $0.19. The increase in net loss attributable to common stockholders is primarily due to the
increased loss from operations, offset by the increased loss attributable to noncontrolling interests. The net loss per common share for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 benefited from the
higher number of weighted average shares outstanding due to share issuances since July 31, 2023.LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCESOverview, Cash Position, Sources and UsesOur
principal sources of cash have been proceeds from the sale of our products and projects, electricity generation revenues, research and development and service agreements with third parties,
sales of our common stock through public equity offerings, and proceeds from debt, project financing and tax monetization transactions. We have utilized this cash to accelerate the
commercialization of our solid oxide platforms, develop new capabilities to separate and capture carbon, develop and construct project assets, invest in capital improvements and expansion of
our operations, perform research and development, pay down existing outstanding indebtedness, and meet our other cash and liquidity needs.As of July 31, 2024, unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents totaled $159.3 million compared to $250.0 million as of OctoberA 31, 2023. During the year ended October 31, 2023 and the nine months ended July 31, 2024, the Company invested
in United States (U.S.) Treasury Securities. The amortized cost of the U.S. Treasury Securities outstanding totaled $107.8 million as of July 31, 2024 compared to $103.8 million as of October
31, 2023 and is classified as Investments - short-term on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.On April 10, 2024, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 (the &€ceAmendmenté€) to the Open
Market Sale Agreement, dated JulyA 12, 2022 (the 4€0e2022 Sales Agreement&€), with Jefferies LLC, B. Riley Securities,A Inc., Barclays Capital Inc., BMO Capital Markets Corp., BofA
Securities,A Inc., Canaccord Genuity LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Loop Capital Markets LLC (each, an a€oeAgenta€ and together, the 4€ceAgentsa€) (the
2022 Sales Agreement 36 Table of Contentsas amended by the Amendment, the &€ceAmended Sales Agreementa€), with respect to an at the market offering program under which the Company
may, from time to time, offer and sell shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $300.0 million (exclusive of any amounts previously sold under the 2022 Sales
Agreement prior to its amendment). During the three months ended July 31, 2024, approximately 95.2 million shares of the Companya€™s common stock were sold under the Amended Sales
Agreement at an average sale price of $0.71 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $67.3 million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds to the
Company of approximately $65.9 million after deducting sales commissions totaling approximately $1.3 million and fees totaling approximately $0.1 million.During the nine months ended July
31, 2024, approximately 101.7 million shares of the Companya€™s common stock were sold under the Amended Sales Agreement at an average sale price of $0.72 per share, resulting in gross
proceeds of approximately $73.6 million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds to the Company of approximately $71.7 million after deducting sales commissions
totaling approximately $1.5 million and fees totaling approximately $0.4 million.Subsequent to July 31, 2024, the Company sold approximatelyA 2.2A million shares of its common stock under
the Amended Sales Agreement at an average price of $0.51A per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $1.1A million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net
proceeds to the Company of approximately $1.1A million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately $21.9A thousand. As of the date of this report, approximately $225.3
million of shares remained available for sale under the Amended Sales Agreement. See Note 11. a€ceStockholdersa€™ Equitya€ for additional information regarding the 2022 Sales Agreement
and the Amended Sales Agreement.During the nine months ended July 31, 2024, the Company (through one of its indirect subsidiaries) entered into three related term loan facilities (which are
referred to herein as the &€ceDerby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facilitya€ and the a€ceDerby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facilitya€), resulting in aggregate gross loan proceeds of $13.0
million. See Note 15. a&€ceDebta€ for additional information regarding the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility.During the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company closed on a tax equity financing transaction with Franklin Park 2023 FCE Tax Equity Fund, LLC (&€ceFranklin Parka€), a subsidiary of Franklin Park
Infrastructure, LLC, for two fuel cell power plant installations -- the 14.0 MW Derby Fuel Cell Project and the 2.8 MW SCEF Fuel Cell Project, both located in Derby, Connecticut (collectively,
the a€ceDerby Projectsa€). Franklin Parka€™s tax equity commitment with respect to the Derby Projects totaled $30.2 million. Of this amount, approximately $9.1 million was received on
October 31, 2023 and the remaining approximately $21.1 million was received during the nine months ended July 31, 2024. In connection with the initial closing of this tax equity financing
transaction in fiscal year 2023, the Company paid closing costs of approximately $1.8 million, which included appraisal fees, title insurance expenses and legal and consulting fees. During the
first quarter of fiscal year 2024, the Company completed the Technical Improvement Plan to bring the Groton Project (defined elsewhere herein) to its rated capacity and the Groton Project
reached its design rated output of 7.4 MW. The Company achieved all conditions precedent required for the first annual funding from East West Bank under the tax equity financing transaction
between the Company and East West Bank and, as a result, the Company received a $4.0 million contribution during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 which is recorded as noncontrolling
interest on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We believe that our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, expected receipts from our contracted backlog, funds received upon the maturity of
U.S. Treasury Securities, and release of short-term restricted cash less expected disbursements over the next twelveA months will be sufficient to allow the CompanyA toA meet its obligations
for at least oneA year from the date of issuance of the financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.To date, we have not achieved profitable operations or sustained
positive cash flow from operations. The Company4a€™s future liquidity, for the remainder of fiscal year 2024 and in the long-term, will depend on its ability to (i)A timely complete current
projects in process within budget, (ii)A increase cash flows from its generation operating portfolio, including by meeting conditions required to timely commence operation of new projects,
operating its generation operating portfolio in compliance with minimum performance guarantees and operating its generation operating portfolio in accordance with revenue expectations,
(iii)A obtain financing for project construction and manufacturing expansion, (iv)A obtain permanent 37 Table of Contentsfinancing for its projects once constructed, (v)A increase order and
contract volumes, which would lead to additional product sales, service agreements and generation revenues, (vi)A obtain funding for and receive payment for research and development under
current and future Advanced Technologies contracts, (vii) successfully commercialize its solid oxide, hydrogen and carbon capture platforms, (viii)A implement capacity expansion for solid oxide
product manufacturing, (ix) implement the product cost reductions necessary to achieve profitable operations, (x)A manage working capital and the Companya€™s unrestricted cash

balanceA and (xi)A access the capital markets to raise funds through the sale of debt and equity securities, convertible notes, and other equity-linked instruments.We are continually assessing
different means by which to accelerate the Companya€™s growth, enter new markets, commercialize new products, and enable capacity expansion. Therefore, from time to time, the Company
may consider and enter into agreements for one or more of the following: negotiated financial transactions, minority investments, collaborative ventures, technology sharing, transfer or other
technology license arrangements, joint ventures, partnerships, acquisitions or other business transactions for the purpose(s) of geographic or manufacturing expansion and/or new product or
technology development and commercialization, including hydrogen production through our carbonate and solid oxide platforms and storage and carbon capture, sequestration and utilization
technologies. Our business model requires substantial outside financing arrangements and satisfaction of the conditions of such arrangements to construct and deploy our projects to facilitate
the growth of our business. The Company has invested capital raised from sales of its common stock to build out its project portfolio. The Company has also utilized and expects to continue to
utilize a combination of long-term debt and tax equity financing (e.g., sale-leaseback transactions, partnership flip transactions and the monetization and/or transfer of eligible investment and
production tax credits) to finance its project asset portfolio as these projects commence commercial operations, particularly in light of the passage of the Inflation Reduction Act in August 2022.
The Company may also seek to undertake private placements of debt securities to finance its project asset portfolio. The Company is also pursuing financing to support its commercial efforts
which includes deployment of modules to the repowering opportunities in the Korean market including the GGE project (as defined elsewhere herein). A The proceeds of any such financing, if
obtained, may allow the Company to reinvest capital back into the business and to fund other projects. We may also seek to obtain additional financing in both the debt and equity markets in the
future. If financing is not available to us on acceptable terms if and when needed, or on terms acceptable to us or our lenders, if we do not satisfy the conditions of our financing arrangements,
if we spend more than the financing approved for projects, if project costs exceed an amount that the Company can finance, or if we do not generate sufficient revenues or obtain capital
sufficient for our corporate needs, we may be required to further reduce or slow planned spending, further reduce staffing, sell assets, seek alternative financing and take other measures, any
of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.Generation Operating Portfolio, Project Assets, and BacklogTo grow our generation operating portfolio,
the Company expects to continue to invest in developing and building turn-key fuel cell projects, which will be owned by the Company and classified as project assets on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. This strategy requires liquidity and the Company expects to continue to have increasing liquidity requirements as project sizes increase and more projects are added to backlog.
We may commence building project assets upon the award of a project or execution of a multi-year PPA with an end-user that has a strong credit profile. Project development and construction
cycles, which span the time between securing a PPA and commercial operation of the platform, vary substantially and can takeA years. As a result of these project cycles and strategic decisions
to finance the construction of certain projects, we may need to make significant up-front investments of resources in advance of the receipt of any cash from the sale or long-term financing of
such projects. To make these up-front investments, we may use our working capital, seek to raise funds through the sale of equity or debt securities, or seek other financing arrangements.
Delays in construction progress and completing current projects in process within budget, or in completing financing or the sale of our projects may impact our liquidity in a material way.We
believe our generation operating portfolio generally contributes to higher long-term cash flows to the Company than if these projects had been sold. Our generation operating portfolio totaled
62.8 MW as of July 31, 2024. We expect generation revenue to continue to grow as additional projects achieve commercial operation, but this revenue amount may also fluctuate fromA year
toA year depending on platform output, operational performance and management and site conditions. The Company actively markets its products in order to grow this portfolio; however, the
Company may also sell certain projects to investors from time to time. As of July 31, 2024, the Company had two projects representing an additional 1.3 MW in development, which projects are
expected to generate operating cash flows in future periods, if completed. We have worked with and are continuing to work with lenders and financial institutions to secure construction 38
Table of Contentsfinancing, long-term debt, tax equity and sale-leasebacks for our project asset portfolio, but there can be no assurance that such financing can be attained, or that, if attained,
it will be retained and sufficient.As of July 31, 2024, net debt outstanding related to project assets was $118.7 million. Future required payments, inclusive of principal and interest, totaled
$144.2 million as of July 31, 2024. The outstanding finance obligations under our sale-leaseback transactions totaled $18.8 million as of July 31, 2024, of which $10.2 million represents the
current carrying value of finance obligations less future required payments. Generation Operating PortfolioOur generation operating portfolio provides us with the full benefit of future cash
flows, net of any debt service requirements.The following table summarizes our generation operating portfolio as of July 31, 2024:4€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€a€a€<a€<«a€«Project

NameA A A A LocationA A A A PowerA OffA -A TakerA A A A RatedCapacity(MW)

(WAAAA ActualCommermalOperatlonA Date(FuelCellA EnergyFlscalA Quarter)A A A A PPAA Term(Years)Central CT State University(a€ceCCSUa€)a€«New Britain, CTa€<CCSU (CT
University)a€< 1.44€<Q2 4€"12&€<15Riverside Regional WaterQuality Control Planta€«Riverside, CA&€<City of Riverside (CA Municipality)a€« 1.44€<Q4 '16a€<20Pfizer, Inc. 4€<Groton,
CTa€<Pfizer, Inc.a€< 5.6a€<Q4 '16a€<«20Santa Rita Jaila€<Dublin, CAd€<Alameda County, California &€« 1.4a€<Q1 '17a€<20Bridgeport Fuel Cell Projecta€<Bridgeport, CTa€<Connecticut Light and
Power Company (CT Utility)a€« 14.9a€<Q1 '13a€<15Tulare BioMATa€<Tulare, CAd€<Southern California Edison (CA Utility)a€« 2.8a€<Q1 '204€<20San Bernardinoa€«San Bernardino, CAa€«City of
San Bernardino Municipal Water Departmenta€< 1.4a€<Q3 '21a€<«20LIPA Yaphank Projecta€<«Long Island, NYa€«PSEG / LIPA, LI NY (Utility)a€« 7.4a€<Q1 '224€<18Groton Projecta€<Groton,
CTa€<«CMEEC (CT Electric Co-op)a€« 7.4(2)a€«Q1 '23a€<«20Toyotad€<Long Beach, CAa€<Southern California Edison; Toyota &€« 2.34€<Q1 '244€<20Derby - CT RFP-2a€<Derby,
CTa€<Eversource/United Illuminating (CT Utilities)a€< 14.0a€<Q1 '244€<20SCEF - Derbya€<Derby, CTa€<Eversource/United [lluminating (CT Utilities)a€«< 2.8a€<Q1 '244€<20 a€<a€« a€<a€«Total
MW Operating:a€< 62.8a€« a€<«a€« a€<«(1)Rated capacity is the platforma€™s design rated output as of the date of initiation of commercial operations, except with respect to the Groton Project.
(2)The Groton Project was previously operating (including as of the date of initiation of commercial operations) at a reduced output of approximately 6.0 MW. During the first quarter of fiscal
year 2024, the Groton Project reached its design rated output of 7.4 MW.Generation Projects in ProcessDuring fiscal year 2022, we entered into a PPA with Trinity College in Hartford,
Connecticut, for our 250 kW solid oxide fuel cell power generation system. Power and heat produced from the platform will be used at Trinitya€™s campus in Hartford, Connecticut to lower
energy cost and enhance energy reliability and security. A This project is currently under development and the solid oxide fuel cell power generation system is expected to be installed in fiscal
year 2025. Modules for our solid oxide platform are manufactured at our manufacturing and research and development facility in Calgary, Alberta, Canada, and this project will be fully
assembled and integrated at our facilities in Connecticut.39 Table of ContentsIn March 2024, we entered into a PPA with the University of Connecticut (4€ceUConné€), in Storrs, Connecticut,
for four 250 kW solid oxide fuel cell power generation systems totaling 1 MW. Power from these solid oxide fuel cells will be used by UConnéa€™s new Innovation Partnership Building. Any
unused power will be exported to the grid under the fuel cell net metering tariffs. This project is currently under development and the solid oxide fuel cell power generation system is expected
to be installed in phases, with the first phase beginning in calendar year 2025 and construction concluding with installation of the last phase in calendar year 2026. Fuel cell stacks for our solid
oxide platform are manufactured at our manufacturing and research and development facility in Calgary, Alberta, Canada, and this project will be fully assembled and integrated at our facilities
in Connecticut.BacklogBacklog by revenue category is as follows:a—Service agreements backlog totaled $178.4 million as of July 31, 2024, compared to $136.6 million as of July 31, 2023.
Service agreements backlog includes future contracted revenue from maintenance and scheduled module exchanges for power plants under service agreements. During the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2023, the Company entered into a 14-year service agreement with Noeul Green Energy, Co. Ltd. (&€ceNoeul Green Energya€) for their 20 MW plant in Korea. The contract value
totaled approximately $75.6 million. A In addition, during the three months ended July 31, 2024, the Company entered into a long-term service agreement (the 4€ceL.TSA&€) with Gyeonggi
Green Energy Co., Ltd. (24€ceGGEa€) with respect to GGEa€™s 58.8 MW fuel cell power platform in Hwaseong-si, Korea (the &€0eGGE Platforméa€). The contract value totaled approximately
$159.6 million, of which approximately $33.6 million is allocated to service and will be recognized as revenue as the Company performs service at the GGE Platform over the term of the LTSA.&
—Generation backlog totaled $839.5 million as of July 31, 2024, compared to $915.1 million as of July 31, 2023. Generation backlog represents future contracted energy sales under contracted
PPAs or approved utility tariffs.d—Product backlog totaled $136.7 million as of July 31, 2024, compared to $26.0 thousand as of July 31, 2023. Product backlog increased during the period
ended July 31, 2024 primarily as a result of the LTSA with GGE which added $126.0 million. Product backlog will be recognized as revenue over time as the Company completes commissioning
of the replacement modules. Commissioning of the first six 1.4-MW replacement fuel cell modules is expected to be completed in the fall of calendar year 2024, with an additional 30 1.4-MW



replacement fuel cell modules expected to be commissioned throughout the course of calendar year 2025, and the remaining six 1.4-MW replacement fuel cell modules expected to be
commissioned in the first half of calendar year 2026.4—Advanced Technologies contract backlog totaled $42.5 million as of July 31, 2024, compared to $11.6 million as of July 31, 2023.
Advanced Technologies contract backlog primarily represents remaining revenue under our Joint Development Agreement with EMTEC, revenue from a purchase order valued at $11.6 million
from Esso, an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation and EMTEC, and remaining revenue under our government projects.Overall, backlog increased by approximately 12.6% to $1.20 billion as of
July 31, 2024, compared to $1.06 billion as of July 31, 2023, primarily as a result of the LTSA with GGE with respect to the GGE Platform. A The GGE Platform is comprised of 21 SureSource
3000 molten carbonate fuel cells (each a 4€cePlanta€). Each Plant is comprised of two 1.4-MW carbonate fuel cell modules. A Pursuant to the LTSA, GGE and the Company have agreed that (i)
GGE will purchase from the Company 42 1.4-MW carbonate fuel cell modules to replace existing fuel cell modules at the GGE Platform, (ii) the Company will provide certain balance of plant
replacement components if and to the extent the parties reasonably determine existing components should be replaced, and (iii) the Company will provide long term operations and maintenance
services for the GGE Platform. A The total amount payable by GGE under the LTSA for the 42 replacement fuel cell modules, balance of plant replacement components, and service is $159.6
million USD, with payments to be made over time as such replacement fuel cell modules are commissioned and the service obligations under the LTSA for such Plants commence. This amount
was recorded as backlog concurrent with the execution of the LTSA on May 28, 2024.Backlog also increased due to the service agreement with Noeul Green Energy entered into during the
fiscal year ended October 31, 2023, new Advanced Technologies contract backlog as a result of the purchase order received from Esso during the first quarter of fiscal year 2024, and additional
Advanced Technologies contract backlog related to Amendment 40 Table of ContentsNo. 5 to the Joint Development Agreement between the Company and EMTEC entered into in April 2024,
partially offset by revenue recognition under generation, service and Advanced Technologies agreements since July 31, 2023.Backlog represents definitive agreements executed by the Company
and our customers. Projects for which we have an executed PPA are included in generation backlog, which represents future revenue under long-term PPAs. The Companya€™s ability to
recognize revenue in the future under a PPA is subject to the Companya€™s completion of construction of the project covered by such PPA. Should the Company not complete the construction
of the project covered by a PPA, it will forgo future revenues with respect to the project and may incur penalties and/or impairment charges related to the project. Projects sold to customers
(and not retained by the Company) are included in product sales and service agreements backlog, and the related generation backlog is removed upon sale. Together, the service and generation
portion of backlog had a weighted average term of approximately 17 years as of July 31, 2024, with weighting based on the dollar amount of backlog and utility service contracts of up to 20
years in duration at inception.Factors that may impact our liquidityFactors that may impact our liquidity in fiscalA year 2024 and beyond include:A—The Companya€™s cash on hand and access
to additional liquidity. As of July 31, 2024, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $159.3 million. In addition, the Company has invested in United States (U.S.) Treasury Securities with
maturity dates of less than one year. The amortized cost of the U.S. Treasury Securities outstanding totaled $107.8 million as of July 31, 2024 compared to $103.8 million as of October 31, 2023
and is classified as Investments - short-term on the Companya€™s Consolidated Balance Sheets.d&—The Company has been largely reliant on the equity markets to raise capital to fund its
operations, commercialization and expansion plans. During the nine months ended July 31, 2024, approximately 101.7 million shares of the Companya€™s common stock were sold under the
Amended Sales Agreement at an average sale price of $0.72 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $73.6 million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net
proceeds to the Company of approximately $71.7 million after deducting sales commissions totaling approximately $1.5 million and fees totaling approximately $0.4 million. Given the volatility
and decline in the Companya€™s stock price during fiscal year 2024, as well as the requirement to meet the continued listing standards of The Nasdaq Global Market (further discussed in Part
II, Item 1A a€ceRisk Factorsa€ of this Quarterly Report), the Company may be unable to raise capital at the same levels as it has in the past in the equity markets.a—We bid on large projects in
diverse markets that can have long decision cycles and uncertain outcomes. &—We manage our factory production rate based on expected demand and project schedules. Changes to production
rate take time to implement. During the nine months ended July 31, 2024, we operated at an annualized production rate of approximately 31.1 MW at our Torrington manufacturing facility,
compared to an annualized production rate for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 of 31.9 MW. This reduction in annualized production rates is primarily due to moderating our production
levels in our Torrington facility as a result of market demand timing. We continue to monitor and make adjustments to our production rate, including material and staffing levels, at our
Torrington facility to meet current and expected demand.4€<4—As project sizes and the number of projects evolve, project cycle times may increase. We may need to make significant up-front
investments of resources in advance of the receipt of any cash from the financing or sale of our projects. These amounts include development costs, interconnection costs, costs associated with
posting of letters of credit, bonding or other forms of security, and engineering, permitting, legal, and other expenses.&—The amount of accounts receivable and unbilled receivables as of July
31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 wasA $61.2 million ($19.9 million of which is classified as &€ceOther assetsa€) and $45.9 million ($25.8 million of which is classified as &€ceOther assetsa€),
respectively. Unbilled accounts receivable represent revenue that has been recognized in advance of billing the customer under the terms of the underlying contracts. Such costs have been
funded with working capital and the unbilled amounts are expected to be billed and collected from customers once we meet the billing criteria under the contracts. Our accounts receivable
balances may fluctuate as of any balance sheet date depending on the timing of individual contract milestones and progress on completion of our projects.41 Table of Contentsa—The amount of
total inventory as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 was $132.1 million ($2.7 million is classified as long-term inventory) and $91.8 million ($7.3 million is classified as long-term inventory),
respectively, which includes work in process inventory totaling $94.4 million and $55.6 million, respectively. Work in process inventory can generally be deployed rapidly while the balance of
our inventory requires further manufacturing prior to deployment. To execute on our business plan, we must produce fuel cell modules and procure balance of plant (4€ceBOPa€) components in
required volumes to support our planned construction schedules and potential customer contractual requirements. As a result, we may manufacture modules or acquire BOP components in
advance of receiving payment for such activities. This may result in fluctuations in inventory and cash as of any given balance sheet date.&—The amount of total project assets as of July 31, 2024
and October 31, 2023 was $248.8 million and $258.1 million, respectively. Project assets consist of capitalized costs for fuel cell projects that are operating and producing revenue or are under
construction. Project assets as of July 31, 2024 consisted of $248.7 million of completed, operating installations and $0.1 million of projects in development. As of July 31, 2024, we had 62.8 MW
of operating project assets that generated $38.0 million of revenue for the nine months ended July 31, 2024.4—As of July 31, 2024, the Company had 1.3A MW of projects under development
that are expected to be completed by the end of calendar year 2026.A To build out these projects, as of July 31, 2024, we estimate the total remaining investment in project assets to be in the
range of approximately $15.0 million to $20.0 million through calendar year 2026.For fiscal year 2024, including the $11.8 million spent during the first nine months of fiscal year 2024, we
expect total project asset expenditures to range from approximately $12.0 million to $15.0 million. This estimated range is lower than the $15.0 million to $25.0 million range estimated at the
beginning of fiscal year 2024, due to a change in the expected completion date of the Trinity project being shifted from fiscal year 2024 to calendar year 2025. This compares to project asset
expenditures of approximately $53.0 million during fiscal year 2023. The expected reduction in such expenditures during fiscal year 2024 is due to the completion of the Derby and Toyota
Projects, and it is expected that the lower expenditures in fiscal year 2024 will benefit the Companya€™s liquidity position. To fund expected remaining project expenditures, the Company
expects to use unrestricted cash on hand and potentially seek sources of construction financing. InA addition, once the projects become operational, the Company will seek to obtain permanent
financingA (tax equity and debt), which would be expected to return cash to the business. For the nine months ended July 31, 2024, capitalized project asset expenditures were $11.8 million. In
addition, the Company expensed costs related to the Toyota Project, which totaled $6.3 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024. &—Certain of our PPAs for project assets in our
generation operating portfolio expose us to fluctuating fuel price risks as well as the risk of being unable to procure the required amounts of fuel and the lack of alternative available fuel
sources. We seek to mitigate our fuel risk using strategies including: (i) fuel cost reimbursement mechanisms in our PPAs to allow for pass through of fuel costs (full or partial) where possible,
which we have done with our 14.9 MW operating project in Bridgeport, CT (the a€ceBridgeport Fuel Cell Projecta€); (ii) procuring fuel under fixed price physical supply contracts with
investment grade counterparties, which we have done for twenty years for our Tulare BioMAT project, the initial seven years of the eighteen year PPA for our LIPA Yaphank Project (through
September 2028), six years of the twenty year PPA for our 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby Projects (through October 2029), and the initial two years of the twenty year hydrogen power purchase
agreement for our Toyota Project (through May of 2025); and (iii) potentially entering into future financial hedges with investment grade counterparties to offset potential negative market
fluctuations. The Company does not take a fundamental view on natural gas or other commodlty pricing and seeks commercially available means to reduce commodity exposure. If the Company
is unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result in impairment charges.A—Expenditures for property, plant and equipmentA are expected to range betweenA $45.0

millionA and $60.0 million for fiscalA year 2024. A Our expected expenditures for the fiscal year have been reduced (from a range of $60.0 million to $75.0 million as of the beginning of fiscal
year 2024) as a result of a decision to defer certain elements of the Calgary expansion due to the pace of market developments. The expected expenditures for fiscal year 2024 are in addition to
the capital expenditures and commitments made by the Company in fiscal year 2023 to upgrade our manufacturing facilities, including the expansion of solid oxide manufacturing capacity at
our Calgary facility, which is now 42 Table of Contentsexpected to be completed by the end of calendar year 2025. We are also increasing the carbonate manufacturing capabilities in our
Torrington facility for expected growth in carbon capture and recovery. During the first nine months of fiscal year 2024, cash payments for capital expenditures totaled approximately $37.2
million.Included in projected expenditures associated with the capacity expansion for molten carbonate is equipment to launch the carbon capture platform manufacturing required for the
assembly of the technology we jointly developed with EMTEC. The solid oxide production capacity expansion is underway in our Calgary, Canada facility and is expected to increase the capacity
of the facility from 1 MW to 10 MW per year of solid oxide fuel cell production or from 4 MW to 40 MW per year of solid oxide electrolysis cell (a€ceSOEC&€) production by the end of calendar
year 2025. Our current carbonate and solid oxide platform capacity expansion plans are as follows:Carbonate Platform: At this time, the maximum annualized capacity (module manufacturing,
final assembly, testing and conditioning) is 100 MW per year under the Torrington facilitya€™ s current configuration when fully utilized. The Torrington facility is sized to accommodate the
eventual annualized production capacity of up to 200 MW per year with additional capital investment in machinery, equipment, tooling, labor and inventory. The Company continues to invest in
capability with the goal of reducing production bottlenecks and driving productivity, including investments in automation, laser welding, and the construction of additional integrated
conditioning capacity. The Company also constructed a SureSource 1500 in Torrington during fiscal year 2022, which operates as a testing facility for qualifying new supplier components and
performance testing and validation of continued platform innovations. During fiscal year 2023, the Company made investments to add engineered carbon recovery capability to the onsite
SureSource 1500. This addition is expected to be completed in calendar year 2024. This product enhancement will allow potential customers to observe the operating plant and, given the
targeted market of food and beverage companies, will allow for the sampling and testing of recovered CO2 to verify quantity, quality or purity requirements. In addition, the Company recently
began manufacturing carbonate modules optimized for direct flue gas carbon capture at the Torrington facility.Solid Oxide Platforms: The Company continues to invest in product development
and manufacturing scale up for two solid oxide platforms: power generation and electrolysis. A Both platforms are based on the Companya€™s differentiated thin, lightweight, electrode
supported cells, which are configured into compact, lightweight stacks. A The thin electrode structure minimizes electrolyte materials, leading to very low use of rare earth minerals compared
to other solid oxide technologies, and the electrodes do not require the platinum group materials that lower temperature systems require. The thin electrodes also have very low electrical
resistance, leading to high efficiency in both power generation and electrolysis applications. We provide integrated products with the goal of offering complete customer solutions. A Our
electrolysis platform includes integrated steam generation and hydrogen drying systems, so it will be fed with water, not steam, and will provide dried hydrogen. A A steam supply can optionally
be used to increase the electrical efficiency of the system from 90% to 100% (based on higher heating value). Our power generation platform can operate on natural gas, biogas, hydrogen, or
fuel blends, and is capable of combined heat and power operation at up to 80% efficiency (based on lower heating value).During the year ended October 31, 2023, Versa Power Systems Ltd.
(&€mwVersa Ltd.a€), a subsidiary of FuelCell Energy, entered into a lease expansion, extension and amending agreement which expanded the space leased by Versa Ltd. in Calgary, Alberta,
Canada to include an additional approximately 48,000 square feet, for a total of approximately 80,000 square feet of space. The Company took possession of part of the additional space on April
1, 2023 and took possession of the rest of the additional space on June 1, 2023. A In addition, long-lead process equipment has been ordered to facilitate the expansion of manufacturing
capacity for the solid oxide platforms in Calgary. Upon the completion of the Calgary capacity expansion, the Company expects that it will be able to increase annual production capacity and
that it will be capable of delivering up to 40 MW of annualized SOEC production per year. During the engineering and permitting phase of this initial manufacturing expansion project, the
Company has designed in flexibility that would allow us to further increase cell stack manufacturing capacity at our Calgary facility to facilitate the potential annualized production of up to an
additional 40 MW of SOECs per year by leasing additional space and investing in various process optimizations intended to increase throughput and yield. This approach would allow for the
potential to increase our total annualized SOEC manufacturing capacity to up to 80 MW per year. Additional investments in our Torrington, CT manufacturing 43 Table of Contentsfacility could
also be undertaken to provide solid oxide module assembly to further enhance overall SOEC manufacturing capacity. The Company has hired and trained additional staff for a 3-shift production
operation to support the initial planned expansion to 40 MW and would need to add additional staff as required in the future to realize the potential 80 MW of annualized SOEC production.Our
solid oxide manufacturing operation is in the process of building four units: two units that will run internally for advanced testing and two production units for delivery externally. As part of this
process, the Company continues to focus on optimizing and improving its solid oxide technology, including stack life, performance and efficiency. Once complete, one of these units 4€“ our
electrolysis platform 4€“ is expected to be delivered to Idaho National Laboratory (d€ceINLa€), and another of these units - our distributed power platform a€“ is expected to be delivered to
Trinity College in Hartford, Connecticut for use under a long-term PPA. All four of these units are in the design, fabrication or manufacturing process, with the INL unit in the final stages of
construction and testing. The other three units are now expected to be completed and delivered during calendar year 2025 (rather than calendar year 2024 as previously expected) depending
on timing of site readiness, permitting and key component deliveries. The change in the expected timing of completion and delivery is due to allocation of resources as the market for these
products further develops as well as our continued work on product improvements prior to delivery. If needed to accommodate future commercial orders, the Company may reallocate one or
more of its planned internal units for commercial delivery. The expansion of the Calgary manufacturing facility is phase 1 of the Companya€™s planned operational expansion of production
capability. While this expansion is expected to increase our production capacity from 4 MW per year to 40 MW per year of SOECs, the Company also plans to add up to an additional 400 MW of
solid oxide manufacturing capacity in the United States, with timing depending on the development of market demand for our products. Preliminary facility design and engineering
requirements have been developed, and the Company has engaged in an extensive search in the United States for a potential location for a new manufacturing facility, which would be
incremental to the Calgary facility. A The Company is also exploring adding certain solid oxide manufacturing capabilities to its Torrington, Connecticut production facility. Decisions with
respect to the Companya€™ s investment in facility expansion will be paced by market demand.Lastly, the Company is in the process of examining or actively applying for various financial
programs offered by both Canada and the United States to provide subsidies, investment tax credits and other assistance with the goal of expanding capacity for clean energy manufacturing. &
—Company-funded research and development expenses are expected to be in the range between $56.0 millionA and $61.0 million for fiscalA year 2024 reflecting a decrease from our prior
estimated expenses at the beginning of fiscal year 2024 of $60.0 million to $70.0 million and a decrease from our prior estimated expenses at the end of the second quarter of fiscal year 2024 of
$60.0 million to $65.0 million, given the amount of resources expected to be allocated to this effort. During the nine months ended July 31, 2024, we incurred a total of $43.8 million of
Company-funded research and development expenses as we continued to focus on accelerating commercialization of our Advanced Technologies solutions including distributed hydrogen,
hydrogen based long duration energy storage and hydrogen power generation. The Company continues to advance its solid oxide platform research, including increasing production of solid
oxide fuel cell modules and expanding manufacturing capacity. The Company continues to work with INL on a demonstration high-efficiency electrolysis platform. This project, done in
conjunction with the U.S. Department of Energy, is intended to demonstrate that the Companya€™s platform can operate at higher electrical efficiency than currently available electrolysis
technologies through the inclusion of an external heat source. To further accelerate the commercialization activity for the solid oxide platform, the Company commenced the design and



construction of two advanced prototypes: (i) a 250 kW power generation platform, and (ii) a 1 MW high-efficiency electrolysis platform. These advanced prototypes are in process and expected
to be completed during calendar year 2025 (rather than calendar year 2024 as previously expected). The change in expected timing of completion is due to allocation of resources as the market
for these products further develops. &—Under the terms of certain contracts, the Company will provide performance security for future contractual obligations. As of July 31, 2024, we had
pledged approximately $58.8 million of our cash and cash equivalents as collateral for performance security and for letters of credit for certain banking requirements and contracts. This
balance may increase with a growing backlog and installed fleet.44 Table of Contentsa—The Companya€™s ability to continue to implement cost saving measures if sales activities do not occur
when expected. As noted above, the Company has made certain downward adjustments to expected spending during fiscal year 2024 as a result of the pace of market development and due to
the need to continue the Companya€™s work to optimize and focus on optimizing and improving the Companya€™ s solid oxide technology, including its stack life, performance and efficiency.
Adjustments to expected spending for fiscal year 2024 have included reductions in capital expenditures and Company-funded research and development expenses. The Company has also
extended the timing of deployment of certain first article solid oxide units as a result of the factors above. In September 2024, as part of its cost saving measures, the Company also made job
eliminations in certain areas and reduced its workforce by approximately 4% (calculated as a percentage of total salaries being reduced). The Company expects to continue to focus its strategy
to respond to market conditions which may result in additional spending and headcount reductions in future periods.a€<Depreciation and AmortizationAs the Company builds project assets and
makes capital expenditures, depreciation and amortization expenses are expected to increase. For the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, depreciation and amortization totaled $9.2
million and $6.6 million, respectively (of these totals, approximately $7.3 million and $5.4 million for the three months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, relate to depreciation of
project assets in our generation operating portfolio and amortization of a generation intangible asset). For the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, depreciation and amortization totaled
$27.4 million and $18.7 million, respectively (of these totals, approximately $21.3 million and $14.9 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, relate to depreciation
of project assets in our generation operating portfolio and amortization of a generation intangible asset). Cash FlowsCash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents totaled
$218.2 million as of July 31, 2024 compared to $299.6 million as of OctoberA 31, 2023. As of July 31, 2024, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents was $159.3 million compared to $250.0
million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents as of OctoberA 31, 2023. As of July 31, 2024, restricted cash and cash equivalents was $58.8 million, of which $9.7 million was classified as
current and $49.1 million was classified as non-current, compared to $49.6 million of restricted cash and cash equivalents as of OctoberA 31, 2023, of which $5.2 million was classified as
current and $44.5 million was classified as non-current.The following table summarizes our consolidated cash flows:a€<a€<a€«a€<a€<a€<a€«a€«a€«a€<Nine Months Ended July 31,(dollars in
thousands)A A A A 20244€<2023A A A A Consolidated Cash Flow Data:a€<4€<4€<4€<4€<4€<&€Net cash used in operating activitiesa€<$ (158,751)a€<$ (124,422)a€Net cash used in investing
activitiesa€<a€« (18,978)a€<a€« (138,493)a€«Net cash provided by financing activitiesa€<a€« 96,238a€<a€« 118,161a€<Effects on cash from changes in foreign currency ratesa€<«a€< 96a€<a€«
1324€«Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted casha€«$ (81,395)a€«$ (144,622)a€<«a€<The key components of our cash inflows and outflows were as follows:Operating

ActivitiesA 4€“ Net cash used in operating activities was $158.8 million during the nine months ended July 31, 2024, compared to $124.4 million of net cash used in operating activities during
the nine months ended July 31, 2023.Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 was primarily a result of the net loss of $117.2 million, increases in inventory
of $44.9 million, unbilled receivables of $8.0 million, accounts receivable of $7.4 million, other assets of $33.3 million and decreases in accounts payable of $6.0 million, partially offset by an
increase in accrued liabilities of $0.5 million and in deferred revenue of $9.5 million and non-cash adjustments of $48.7 million.Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended
July 31, 2023 was primarily a result of the net loss of $78.6 million, increases in unbilled receivables of $25.6 million, other assets of $12.0 million and accounts receivable of $5.2 million and
decreases in deferred revenue of $22.3 million and accrued liabilities of $4.2 million, partially offset by a decrease in inventories of $5.3 million, an increase in accounts payable of $0.9 million
and non-cash adjustments of $18.2 million.45 Table of ContentsInvesting ActivitiesA 4€“A Net cash used in investing activities was $19.0 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2024,
compared to net cash used in investing activities of $138.5 million during the nine months ended July 31, 2023.Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended July 31, 2024
included funds received from the maturity of U.S. Treasury Securities of $506.8 million, partially offset by cash used of $476.8 million for the purchase of U.S. Treasury Securities, $11.8 million
of project asset expenditures and $37.2 million of capital expenditures.Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 included $195.8 million for the purchase of
U.S. Treasury Securities, $35.4 million of project asset expenditures and $28.1 million of capital expenditures, partially offset by funds received from the maturity of U.S. Treasury Securities of
$120.9 million.Financing ActivitiesA 4€“A Net cash provided by financing activities was $96.2 million during the nine months ended July 31, 2024, compared to net cash provided by financing
activities of $118.2 million during the nine months ended July 31, 2023.Net cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended July 31, 2024 resulted from $25.1 million of
contributions received from a noncontrolling interest in our tax equity partnerships for the Derby and Groton Projects, $71.7 million of net proceeds from sales of common stock, and $13.0
million in debt proceeds, partially offset by debt repayments of $8.8 million, payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards of $1.1 million, payment of $2.4 million in
preferred dividends, distribution to noncontrolling interest of $1.1 million and payment of debt issuance costs of $0.3 million.Net cash provided by financing activities during the nine months
ended July 31, 2023 resulted from $85.9 million of net proceeds from sales of common stock and $80.5 million of proceeds from debt, partially offset by debt repayments of $42.2 million,
payments of debt issuance costs of $2.9 million, payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards of $0.4 million, payment of $2.4 million in preferred dividends and
distribution to noncontrolling interest of $0.4 million.Sources and Uses of Cash and InvestmentsIn order to consistently produce positive cash flow from operations, we need to increase order
flow to support higher production levels, leading to lower costs on a per unit basis. We also continue to invest in new product and market development and, as a result, we are not generating
positive cash flow from our operations. Our operations are funded primarily through cash generated from product sales, service contracts, generation assets and Advanced Technologies
contracts, as well as sales of equity and equity linked securities, issuances of corporate and project level debt, and monetization of technology through licenses.Commitments and Significant
Contractual ObligationsA summary of our significant commitments and contractual obligations as of July 31, 2024 and the related payments by fiscalA year are as

follows:A€ <A€<A€ A€ A€ A€ AE<AE A€ AL AEAEAE AEAEAE«AEA€Payments Due by Period(dollars in thousands)A A A A TotalA A A A Less than1 YearA A A A 1 4€“ 3YearsA A A A 3 a€“

5YearsA A A A More than5 YearsPurchase commitments (1)a€<$ 73,2124€<$ 58,2158€<$ 14,9924€<$ 5a4€<$ -Term loans (principal and interest)a€<a€« 142,2394€<a€<« 17,2494€4€« 32,3014€<A€<
26,255a€<a€< 66,4340perating lease commitments (2)a€<a€« 18,1483€<a€« 1,307a€<a€« 2,5314€<a€« 2,188a€<a€« 12,122Sale-leaseback finance obligations (3)a€«a€« 8,642a€<a€<« 1,509a€«a€«
2,7934€<a€« 2,669a€<a€< 1,671 Natural gas and biomethane gas supply contracts (4)a€<«a€« 55,465a€<a€« 21,529a€<a€« 17,035a€<a€<« 15,278a€<a€« 1,623Series B Preferred dividends payable
(5)a€<a€« -a€<a€« -a€<a€« -a€«a€« -a€<a€« -Totalsa€<$ 297,706a€<$ 99,809a€<$ 69,6514€<$ 46,3964€<$ 81,849(1)Purchase commitments with suppliers for materials, supplies and services
incurred in the normal course of business.(2)Future minimum lease payments on operating leases.(3)Represents payments due under sale-leaseback transactions and related financing
agreements between certain of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and Crestmark Equipment Finance (4€ceCrestmarka€). Lease payments for each lease under these financing agreements are
generally payable in fixed quarterly installments over a 10-year period. (4)During fiscalA year 2020, the Company entered into a 7-year natural gas contract for the Companya€™s LIPA Yaphank
Project with an estimated annual cost perA year of $2.0 million, under which service began on December 7, 2021. 46 Table of ContentsDuring fiscal year 2023, the Company entered into a 2-
year Biomethane gas contract for the Companya€™ s Toyota Project, under which service began on May 1, 2023. Also, during fiscal year 2023, the Company entered into (a) a 6-year natural gas
contract for the Company&€™s 14.0 MW Derby Project, under which service began on June 1, 2023, and (b) a 6-year natural gas contract for the Companya€™s 2.8 MW SCEF Derby Project,
under which service began in November 2023. The costs of the contracts are expected to be offset by generation revenues.(5)We pay $3.2 million in annual dividends on our SeriesA B Preferred
Stock, if and when declared. The $3.2 million annual dividend payment, if dividends are declared, has not been included in this table as we cannot reasonably determine when or if we will be
able to convert the SeriesA B Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock. We may, at our option, convert these shares into the number of shares of our common stock that are issuable at
the then prevailing conversion rate if the closing price of our common stock exceeds 150% of the then prevailing conversion price ($1,692 per share at July 31, 2024) for 20 tradingA days during
any consecutive 30 trading day period.Outstanding Loans as of July 31, 2024Derby Back Leverage FinancingOn April 25, 2024, FuelCell Energy Derby Finance Holdco, LLC (&€eDerby Holdco
Borrowera€), a wholly owned subsidiary of FuelCell Energy Finance, LLC (4€ceFCEFA€), which, in turn, is a wholly owned subsidiary of FuelCell Energy,A Inc. (A4€ceParenta€), entered into: (i) a
Credit Agreement (the &€ceDerby Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreementa€) with, by and among Liberty Bank, in its capacities as a lender (&€ceLiberty Lendera€), administrative agent (the
&€ceSenior Administrative Agenta€), and lead arranger, and Connecticut Green Bank, in its capacity as a lender (4€ceGreen Bank Lendera€ and, collectively with Liberty Lender, the &€ceDerby
Senior Back Leverage Lendersa€), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed an aggregate of $9.5 million to be provided 68% by Liberty Lender and 32% by Green Bank Lender (such
facility, the &€ceDerby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility,&€ each such term loan, a &€ceDerby Senior Back Leverage Loana€ and such term loans together, the 4€ceDerby Senior Back
Leverage Loansa€); and (ii) a Credit Agreement (the &€ceDerby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreementd€) with Connecticut Green Bank, as administrative agent (the a€ceSubordinated
Administrative Agenta€) and lender (&€ceDerby Subordinated Back Leverage Lendera€), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed $3.5 million (such facility, the &€ceDerby
Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facilitya€ and such term loan, the &€ceDerby Subordinated Back Leverage Loana€). The Derby Senior Back Leverage Lenders and the Derby Subordinated
Back Leverage Lender are referred to collectively as the &€ceDerby Back Leverage Lenders.a€Derby Holdco Borrowera€™ s obligations under the Derby Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement
and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement are secured by a lien on all of Derby Holdco Borrowera€™ s assets, consisting principally of its Class B Member Interests (the
a€ceDerby Class B Interestsa€) in Derby Fuel Cell Holdco, LLC (the 4€ceDerby Tax Equity Holdcoa€). A TheA Class A Membership Interests (the &€ceDerby Class A Interestsa€) in the Derby Tax
Equity Holdco are held by Franklin Park (see Note 1 for further discussion of the tax equity financing transaction structure). A DerbyA Holdco Borrower is also the Managing Member of the
Derby Tax Equity Holdco. A The Derby Tax Equity Holdcoa€ ™s primary asset is ownership of all of the outstanding equity interests in Derby Station Fuel Cell, LLC and SCEF1 Fuel Cell, LLC
(the a€ceDerby Project Companiesa€). A The Derby Project Companies, in turn, are the owners of theA fuel cell power plants located in Derby, Connecticut (which are referred to herein as the
a€ceDerby Projectsa€). A As additional context concerning the relationship among the parties with respect to the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back
Leverage Loan Facility more fully described below, on October 19, 2018, the Derby Project Companies and ParentA entered into an Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (the
a€ceDerby Amended and Restated PPA&€) with The Connecticut Light and Power Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (&4€ceCLPC&€), pursuant to which the Derby Project Companies agreed to
sell to CLPC, and CLPC agreed to purchase from the Derby Project Companies, all of theA electricity output produced by the Derby Projects pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Derby
Amended and Restated PPA. At the closing (the &€ceDerby Closinga€) of each of the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, which
occurred simultaneously on April 25, 2024 (the a&€ceDerby Closing Datea€), the entire amount of each of the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back
Leverage Loan Facility was drawn down in the aggregate amount of $13.0 million. A After payment of fees and transaction costs (including fees to the Derby Back Leverage Lenders and legal
costs) of approximately $0.2 million in the aggregate, the remaining proceeds of approximately $12.8 million were used as follows: (i) approximately $0.9 million was used to fund debt service
and module replacement reserve accounts (4€ceDSCR Reserve Accountsa€) for the Derby Senior Back Leverage Lenders in amounts of approximately $0.6 million for Liberty Lender and
approximately $0.3 million for Green Bank Lender; (ii) approximately $0.4 million was used to fund a DSCR Reserve Account for the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Lender; and (iii) the
remaining amount of approximately $11.5 million was released to Parent from the Derby Back Leverage 47 Table of ContentsLenders. A Additionally, the Company incurred legal fees of
approximately $0.2 million in relation to the financing that was not deducted from the debt proceeds. The Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount
calculated from the date of such Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date at a rate per annum equal to 7.25%. A Quarterly principal amortization and interest payments are
required to be made by Derby Holdco Borrower on the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan based on a seven-year amortization period. A The Derby Senior Back Leverage Loans have a seven-year
term, maturing on March 31, 2031. The Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of such Derby Subordinated Back
Leverage Loan until the maturity date at a rate per annum equal to 8%. A Pursuant to the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, during the 4€ceDerby Interest Only Perioda€ (as
defined below), Derby Holdco Borrower is required to make quarterly payments of interest only until June 30, 2031. A Following the end of the &€ceDerby Interest Only Period,&€ principal and
interest payments are required to be made quarterly in quarterly level payments (A€cemortgage stylea€) of principal and interest until the maturity date on March 31, 2038. A Each of the Derby
Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement contains certain reporting requirements and other affirmative and negative covenants
which are customary for transactions of this type. Included in the covenants are covenants that: (i) Derby Holdco Borrower maintain a &€ceSeniora€ debt service coverage ratio (which is
computed taking into account debt service obligations on the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loans) of not less than 1.25:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested every quarter) and a
ad€ceTotala€ debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into account debt service obligations on both the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loans and the Derby Subordinated Back
Leverage Loan) of not less than 1.10:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested on a quarterly basis); (ii) Derby Holdco Borrower may make distributions or dividends only if the foregoing
debt to equity coverage ratios have been satisfied and Derby Holdco Borrower is not in default under any provisions of either the Derby Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement or the Derby
Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement, including having made all required deposits into reserve accounts; (iii) Derby Holdco Borrower is required to exercise its right under the Derby
Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement to acquire the Derby Class A Interests from Franklin Park during the ninety day period beginning on the &€ceFlip Pointa€ (which,
pursuant to the Derby Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement, is the date on which the holder of Derby Class A Interests has realized a certain return on investment and,
accordingly, Derby Holdco Borrower, as holder of the Derby Class B Interests, has the right to purchase the Derby Class A Interests); and (iv) the consent of the Senior Administrative Agent is
required prior to Derby Holdco Borrowera€™ s taking certain material actions under the Derby Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement. Each of the Derby Senior Back Leverage
Credit Agreement and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and customary events of default that cause, or entitle
the Derby Back Leverage Lenders to cause, the outstanding loans to become immediately due and payable. A In addition to customary events of default for transactions of this kind, the events
of default include if a Change of Control occurs (meaning Parent no longer directly or indirectly owns Derby Holdco Borrower), a cross default (meaning that a default under the Derby Senior
Back Leverage Loan Facility shall be deemed a default under the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility and vice versa) or if CLPC should become insolvent, is in bankruptcy or
commits a specified number of payment defaults with regard to its payment obligations to the Derby Project Companies.The Derby Senior Back Leverage Loans may be prepaid at any time at
the option of Derby Holdco Borrower provided that (i) each prepayment on or prior to the second anniversary of the Derby Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 3% of the principal
amount being prepaid; (ii) each prepayment after the second anniversary of the Derby Closing Date but on or prior to the fourth anniversary of the Derby Closing Date shall require a
prepayment fee of 2% of the principal amount being prepaid; and (iii) each prepayment after the fourth anniversary of the Derby Closing Date but on or prior to the seventh anniversary of the
Derby Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 1% of the principal amount being prepaid. The Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan may be prepaid at any time without premium or
penalty.OpCo Financing FacilityOn MayA 19, 2023, FuelCell Energy Opco Finance 1, LLC (4€0eOpCo Borrowera€), a wholly owned subsidiary of FCEF, which, in turn, is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Parent, entered into a Financing Agreement (as amended, the &€eFinancing Agreementa€) with, by and among Investec Bank plc in its capacities as a lender (&€eInvestec
Lendera€), administrative agent (4€ceAdministrative Agenta€), and collateral agent (a4€ceCollateral Agenta€); Investec,A Inc. as coordinating lead arranger and sole bookrunner; Bank of
Montreal (Chicago Branch) in its capacity as a lender (4€eBMO Lendera€) and as mandated lead 48 Table of Contentsarranger; and each of Liberty Bank, Amalgamated Bank and Connecticut
Green Bank as lenders (collectively with Investec Lender and BMO Lender, the &€ceLendersa€) for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed $80.5 million (the 4€ceTerm Loan Facilitya€
and such term loan, the &€ceTerm Loana€) and a letter of credit facility in an amount not to exceed $6.5 million (the 4€ceLC Facilitya€ and together with the Term Loan Facility, the &€0eOpCo



Financing Facilitya€).0pCo Borrowera€™s obligations under the Financing Agreement are secured by Parenta€™s interest in six operating fuel cell generation projects: (i)A the Bridgeport Fuel
Cell Project, located in Bridgeport, Connecticut; (ii)A the Central CT State University Project, located in New Britain, Connecticut; (iii)A the Pfizer Project, located in Groton, Connecticut;

(iv)A the LIPA Yaphank Project, located in Long Island, New York; (v)A the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project, located in Riverside, California; and (vi)A the Santa Rita Jail
Project, located in Alameda County, California (each, a 4&€ceProjecta€ and collectively, the &€eProjectsa€).Immediately prior to the closing on the OpCo Financing Facility, which closing
occurred on MayA 19, 2023, Parent caused to be transferred to OpCo Borrower all of the outstanding equity interests in: (i)A Bridgeport Fuel Cell, LLC (the a€ceBridgeport Project Companya€),
the entity that owns the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project; (ii)A New Britain Renewable Energy, LLC (the 4€eCCSU Project Companya€), the entity that owns the Central CT State University Project;
(iii)A Groton Fuel Cell 1, LLC (the &€cePfizer Project Companya€), the entity that owns the Pfizer Project; (iv)A Riverside Fuel Cell, LLC (the 4€ceRiverside Project Companya€), the entity that
owns the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project; WV)A SRJFC, LLC (the &€ceSanta Rita Project Company4€), the entity that owns the Santa Rita Jail Project; and (vi)A Fuel Cell
YT Holdco, LLC (the 4€ceClassA B Membera€), the entity that owns Parenta€™s ClassA B membership interest in YTBFC Holdco, LLC (the &€ceYaphank Tax Equity Partnershipa€), the tax
equity partnership with Renewable Energy Investors, LLC (the 4€ceClassA A Membera€), as tax equity investor, which Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership, in turn, owns Yaphank Fuel Cell Park,
LLC (the &€ceYaphank Project Companya€), the entity that owns the LIPA Yaphank Project.At the time of closing on the OpCo Financing Facility: (i)A the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project was
encumbered by senior and subordinated indebtedness to Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut Green Bank in the aggregate amount of approximately $11.4 million; and (ii)A the Pfizer
Project, the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project and the Santa Rita Jail Project were subject to sale and leaseback transactions and agreements with PNC Energy Capital,
LLC (a€0ePNCa€) in which the lease buyout amounts, including sales taxes, were approximately $15.7 million, $3.7 million and $2.8 million, respectively. In connection with closing on the OpCo
Financing Facility, all of the foregoing indebtedness and lease buyout amounts were repaid and extinguished with proceeds of the Term Loan and funds of approximately $7.3 million that were
released from restricted and unrestricted reserve accounts held at PNC at the time of closing, resulting in the applicable project companies re-acquiring ownership of the three leased projects
from PNC, the termination of the agreements with PNC related to the sale-leaseback transactions, and the termination of the senior and subordinated credit agreements with, the related
promissory notes issued to, and the related pledge and security agreements with, Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut Green Bank related to the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project.
Further, in connection with the closing on the OpCo Financing Facility and the termination of the senior and subordinated credit agreements with Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and
Connecticut Green Bank related to the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project, Fifth Third Bank and the Bridgeport Project Company agreed that the obligations arising out of the swap transactions
contemplated by their related interest rate swap agreement were terminated and waived and the swap agreement was effectively terminated. In addition, in connection with closing on the
OpCo Financing Facility, proceeds of the Term Loan were used to repay a portion of Parenta€™s long-term indebtedness to Connecticut Green Bank in the amount of approximately $1.8
million.At the closing, $80.5 million, the entire amount of the Term Loan portion of the OpCo Financing Facility, was drawn down. After payment of fees and transaction costs (including fees to
the Lenders and legal costs) of approximately $2.9 million in the aggregate, the remaining proceeds of approximately $77.6 million were used as follows: (i)A approximately $15.0 million was
used (in addition to the approximately $7.3 million released from restricted and unrestricted reserve accounts held at PNC) to pay the lease buyout amounts and sales taxes referred to above
and to re-acquire the three projects owned by PNC as referred to above; (ii)A approximately $11.4 million was used to extinguish the indebtedness to Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank, and
Connecticut Green Bank relating to the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project; (iii)A approximately $1.8 million was used to repay a portion of Parent&€™s long-term indebtedness to Connecticut Green
Bank; (iv)A $14.5 million was used to fund a capital expenditure reserve account required to be maintained pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement (which is classified
as restricted cash on the Companya€™s Consolidated Balance Sheets); and (v)A approximately $34.9 million was distributed to Parent for use as Parent determines in its sole discretion. In
addition, in connection with the extinguishment of the Companya€™s indebtedness to Liberty Bank and Fifth Third Bank referred to above, approximately $11.2 million of restricted cash was
released to the Company from Liberty Bank and Fifth Third 49 Table of ContentsBank. Taking into consideration the release of such funds, the total net proceeds to the Company from these
transactions were approximately $46.1 million.The Term Loan portion of the OpCo Financing Facility will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of such Term
Loan until the maturity date thereof at a rate per annum during each Interest Period (as defined in the Financing Agreement) for such Term Loan equal to (A)A with respect to Secure Overnight
Financing Rate (4€0eSOFRA€) Rate Loans, (i)A the Adjusted Daily Compounded SOFR for such Interest Period with respect to SOFR Rate LoansA plusA (ii)A the Applicable Margin, and

(B)A with respect to Base Rate Loans, (i)A the Base Rate from time to time in effectA plusA (ii)A the Applicable Margin (in each case as defined in the Financing Agreement). The Applicable
Margin for SOFR Rate Loans is 2.5% for the first four years of the term and thereafter, 3%. The Applicable Margin for Base Rate Loans is 1.5% for the first four years of the term and thereafter,
2%. At the closing, in connection with the draw down of the entire amount of the Term Loan, OpCo Borrower elected to make such draw down a SOFR Rate Loan with an initial Interest Period
of three months. After the initial Interest Period of three months, OpCo Borrower may elect both the applicable Interest Period (i.e., one month, three months or six months) and whether the
Term Loan will be treated as a SOFR Rate Loan or a Base Rate Loan for such Interest Period. Interest payments are required to be made quarterly.Quarterly principal amortization obligations
are also required to be made (based on 17-year principal amortization designed to be fully repaid in 2039), with quarterly amortization payments based on a 1.30x debt service coverage ratio
sizing based on contracted cash flows (before giving effect to module replacement expenses and module replacement drawdown releases). The Term Loan has a seven-year term, maturing on
MayA 19, 2030.Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower is required to maintain a capital expenditures reserve to pay for expected module
replacements. The total reserve balance is required to reach $29.0 million, $14.5 million of which was funded out of the closing advance of the Term Loan and the remainder of which is to be
funded pursuant to an agreed upon funding schedule through cash flows generated by the Projects set forth in the Financing Agreement for the period of June 30, 2023 through December 31,
2029.Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower is required to maintain a debt service reserve of not less than six months of the scheduled principal and
interest payments. The letter of credit component of the OpCo Financing Facility is for the purpose of obtaining letters of credit to satisfy such obligation; at the closing, an Irrevocable Letter of
Credit was issued by Investec Bank plc as the issuing bank in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Lenders in the amount of $6.5 million to satisfy the debt service reserve funding
obligation.Pursuant to the Financing Agreement, within 30 days of the financial close of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower was required to enter into one or more hedge transactions,
with a Lender or an affiliate thereof pursuant to one or more interest rate agreements, to hedge OpCo Borrowera€™s interest rate exposure relating to the Term Loan from floating to fixed.
Such hedge transactions are required to be in effect at all times during the entire amortization period and have an aggregate notional amount subject to the hedge transactions at any time
equal to at least 75% and no more than 105% of the aggregate principal balance of the Term Loan outstanding (taking into account scheduled amortization of the Term Loan).Upon closing, on
MayA 19, 2023, OpCo Borrower entered into an ISDA 2002 Master Agreement (the 4€ceInvestec Master Agreement&€) and an ISDA Schedule to the 2002 Master Agreement with Investec Bank
plc as a hedge provider, and an ISDA 2002 Master Agreement (the 4€ceBMO Master Agreementa€) and an ISDA Schedule to the 2002 Master Agreement A with Bank of Montreal (Chicago
Branch) as a hedge provider. On MayA 22, 2023, OpCo Borrower executed the related trade confirmations for these interest rate swap agreements with these hedge providers to protect against
adverse price movements in the floating SOFR rate associated with 100% of the aggregate principal balance of the Term Loan outstanding. Pursuant to the terms of such agreements, OpCo
Borrower will pay a fixed rate of interest of 3.716%. The net interest rate across the Financing Agreement and the swap transaction is 6.366% in the first four years and 6.866% thereafter. The
obligations of OpCo Borrower to the hedge providers under the interest rate swap agreements are treated as obligations under the Financing Agreement and, accordingly, are secured, on a pari
passu basis, by the same collateral securing the obligations of OpCo Borrower under the Financing Agreement, which collateral is described below. The Company has not elected hedge
accounting treatment and, as a result, the derivative will be remeasured to fair value quarterly, with the resulting gains/losses recorded to other income/expense. The fair value adjustment for
the nine months ended July 31, 2024 resulted in a loss of $3.2 million. The Financing Agreement contains certain reporting requirements and other affirmative and negative covenants which are
customary for transactions of this type. Included in the covenants are covenants that: (i)A the Yaphank Project Company 50 Table of Contentsobtain ongoing three year extensions of its current
gas agreement; (ii)A any annual operating expense budget that exceeds 115% of the Base Case Model (as defined in the Financing Agreement) for that year be approved by the Required
Lenders (i.e., Lenders constituting more than 50% of the amounts loaned); (iii)A OpCo Borrower maintain a debt service coverage ratio of not less than 1.20:1.00 (based on the trailing 12
months and tested every six months); and (iv)A the ClassA B Member is required to exercise its option to purchase the ClassA A Membera€™s interest in the Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership
during the six month period following the &€ceFlip Pointa€ as set forth in the limited liability company agreement for the Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership. The Financing Agreement also
contains customary representations and warranties and customary events of default that cause, or entitle the Lenders to cause, the outstanding loans under the Financing Agreement to become
immediately due and payable.The Term Loan may be prepaid at any time at the option of OpCo Borrower without premium or penalty other than any a€celiquidation costsa€ if such prepayment
occurs other than at the end of an Interest Period. In addition, there are certain mandatory repayments required under the Financing Agreement, including in connection with any sale or
disposition of all of the Projects or of any of the LIPA Yaphank Project, the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project or the Pfizer Project. If the Company disposes of any of the Riverside Regional Water
Quality Control Plant Project, the Santa Rita Jail Project or the Central CT State University Project, OpCo Borrower is required to prepay an amount of the Term Loan based on the then
stipulated value of the disposed Project.Simultaneously with OpCo Borrower entering into the Financing Agreement, FCEF (as pledgor), OpCo Borrower and each of the Bridgeport Project
Company, the Pfizer Project Company, the Riverside Project Company, the Santa Rita Project Company, the CCSU Project Company and the ClassA B Member, each as a subsidiary grantor
party and guarantor, entered into an Omnibus Guarantee, Pledge and Security Agreement (the &€ceSecurity Agreementa€) with Investec Bank plc as Collateral Agent, pursuant to which, as
collateral for the Term Loan Facility, the LC Facility and the hedge agreements (i)A FCEF granted to Collateral Agent a security interest in all of FCEFA€™s equity interest in OpCo Borrower;
(ii)A OpCo Borrower granted to Collateral Agent a security interest in all of OpCo Borrowera€™s assets consisting of its equity interests in the Bridgeport Project Company, the Pfizer Project
Company, the Riverside Project Company, the Santa Rita Project Company, the CCSU Project Company and the ClassA B Member; (iii)A each of the Bridgeport Project Company, the Pfizer
Project Company, the Riverside Project Company, the Santa Rita Project Company and the CCSU Project Company granted to Collateral Agent a security interest in all of each such entitya€™s
assets consisting principally of the respective generation facilities and project agreements; and (iv)A the ClassA B Member granted to Collateral Agent a security interest in all of such ClassA B
Membera€™s assets, consisting principally of its equity interest in the Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership. Pursuant to the Security Agreement, each of the subsidiary grantor parties jointly and
severally guaranteed payment of all of the obligations secured by the Security Agreement.Simultaneously with the execution of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower,A Investec Bank plc as
Collateral Agent and Administrative Agent and Liberty Bank as Depositary Agent entered into a Depositary Agreement (the &€ceDepositary Agreementa€) pursuant to which OpCo Borrower
established certain accounts at Liberty Bank, all of which were pledged to Collateral Agent as security for the Term Loan Facility, the LC Facility and the hedge agreements, including a
Revenue Account; a Debt Service Reserve Account; a Redemption Account (for prepayments); a Capital Expenditure Reserve Account; and a Distribution Reserve Account (in each case as
defined in the Depositary Agreement). Pursuant to the terms of the Financing Agreement and the Depositary Agreement, OpCo Borrower may make quarterly distributions to FCEF and Parent
provided that: (i)A no Event of Default or Default (in each case as defined in the Financing Agreement) exists under the OpCo Financing Facility; (ii)A all reserve accounts have been funded;
(iii)A no letter of credit loans or unpaid drawings are outstanding with regard to any drawn down letter of credit under the LC Facility; (iv)JA OpCo Borrower has maintained a greater than
1.20:1.00 debt service coverage ratio for the immediate 12 month period; and (v)A no Cash Diversion Event (i.e., certain events that would adversely impact distributions to the ClassA B
Member in connection with the LIPA Yaphank Project, as further defined in the Financing Agreement) has occurred. Beginning with the quarter ending JuneA 2025 and continuing until the
quarter ending MarchA 2026, prior to making contributions to the Debt Service Reserve Account or the Capital Expenditure Reserve Account or having funds available for distribution, out of
operating cash flow, OpCo Borrower is required to make a quarterly payment to the Administrative Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) in the amount of $675,000 per quarter to be applied to
outstanding principal.Groton Back Leverage FinancingOn August 18, 2023, FuelCell Energy Finance Holdco, LLC (&€ceGroton Holdco Borrowera€), a wholly owned subsidiary of FCEF, which,
in turn, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, entered into: (i) a Credit Agreement (the &€ceGroton Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreementa€) with, by and among Liberty Bank, in its
capacities as a lender (&€ceLiberty Lendera€), 51 Table of Contentsadministrative agent (the a€ceSenior Administrative Agenta€), and lead arranger, and Amalgamated Bank, in its capacity as a
lender (4€ceAmalgamated Lendera€ and, collectively with Liberty Lender, the a€ceGroton Senior Back Leverage Lendersa€), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed an aggregate of
$12.0 million to be provided 50% by Liberty Lender and 50% by Amalgamated Lender (such facility, the &€ ceGroton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility,a€ each such term loan, a &€ceGroton
Senior Back Leverage Loana€ and such term loans together, the &€ceGroton Senior Back Leverage Loansa€); and (ii) a Credit Agreement (the 4€ceGroton Subordinated Back Leverage Credit
Agreementa€) with Connecticut Green Bank, as administrative agent (the 4€ceSubordinated Administrative Agenta€) and lender (d€ceGroton Subordinated Back Leverage Lendera€), for a term
loan facility in an amount not to exceed $8.0 million (such facility, the 4€ceGroton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facilityd€ and such term loan, the &€ceGroton Subordinated Back Leverage
Loané&€). The Groton Senior Back Leverage Lenders and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Lender are referred to collectively as the a&€ceGroton Back Leverage Lenders.a€Groton Holdco
Borrowera€™s obligations under the Groton Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement are secured by a lien on all of Groton
Holdco Borrowera€™ s assets, consisting principally of its Class B Member Interests (the 4€aeClass B Interestsa€) in Groton Station Fuel Cell Holdco, LLC (the &€ ceGroton Tax Equity Holdcoa€).
A Class A Membership Interests (the 4€ceClass A Interestsa€) in the Groton Tax Equity Holdco are held by East West Bank. A Groton Holdco Borrower is also the Managing Member of the
Groton Tax Equity Holdco. A The Groton Tax Equity Holdcoa€™s primary asset is ownership of all of the outstanding equity interests in Groton Station Fuel Cell, LLC (the &€ceGroton Project
Companya€). A The Groton Project Company, in turn, is the owner of theA fuel cell power plant at the U.S. Navy Submarine Base New London located in Groton, Connecticut (the 4€ceGroton
Projecta€). A As additional context concerning the relationship among the parties with respect to the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage
Loan Facility more fully described below, on December 16, 2022, the Groton Project Company and ParentA entered into an Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (the 4€ceGroton
Amended and Restated PPA&€) with Connecticut Municipal Electric Energy Cooperative (4€ceCMEEC&€), pursuant to which the Groton Project Company agreed to sell to CMEEC, and CMEEC
agreed to purchase from the Groton Project Company, all of the A electricity output produced by the Groton Project pursuant to the terms and conditions A of the Groton Amended and Restated
PPA. At the closing (the &€0eGroton Closinga€) of each of the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, which occurred
simultaneously on August 18, 2023 (the &€ceGroton Closing Date&€), the entire amount of each of the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage
Loan Facility was drawn down in the aggregate amount of $20.0 million. A After payment of fees and transaction costs (including fees to the Groton Back Leverage Lenders and legal costs) of
approximately $0.4 million in the aggregate, the remaining proceeds of approximately $19.6 million were used as follows: (i) approximately $1.7 million was used to fund debt service reserve
accounts (&€eDSCR Reserve Accountsa€) for the Groton Senior Back Leverage Lenders in equal amounts of approximately $0.83 million for Liberty Lender and approximately $0.83 million for
Amalgamated Lender; (ii) approximately $6.5 million was used to fund operations and maintenance and module replacement reserve accounts for the Groton Senior Back Leverage Lenders in
equal amounts of approximately $3.25 million for Liberty Lender and approximately $3.25 million for Amalgamated Lender; (iii) approximately $0.3 million was used to fund a DSCR Reserve
Account for the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Lender; and (iv) the remaining amount of approximately $11.1 million was released to Parent from the Groton Back Leverage Lenders. As
discussed in additional detail below, simultaneous with the Groton Closing, a portion of the proceeds were used to: (a) make Output Shortfall Payments (which are cash payments required to be
made by the Groton Project Company in the event that the Groton Project produces electricity in any year less than the minimum required amount for such year) totaling approximately $1.3
million, which were deposited into a payment reserve account, and (b) pay approximately $3.0 million to Connecticut Green Bank, which represented payment, in full, of all outstanding
obligations under Parenta€™ s loan agreement with Connecticut Green Bank. After taking into account such Output Shortfall Payments and such payment to Connecticut Green Bank,



approximately $6.8 million will be classified as unrestricted cash on the Companya€™s Consolidated Balance Sheet. The portion of the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan provided by Liberty
Lender will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of such Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date at a rate per annum equal to 6.75%. A The
portion of the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan provided by Amalgamated Lender will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of such Groton Senior Back
Leverage Loan until the maturity date thereof at 6.07% during all times at which a &€ceCarbon Offset Eventa€ is not continuing and 7.32% at all times at which a &€ceCarbon Offset Eventa€ has
occurred and is continuing. A A a€ceCarbon Offset Eventa€ is deemed to occur if Groton Holdco Borrower, Parent or any direct or indirect subsidiary thereof does not purchase carbon offsets
from an Acceptable Carbon Offset Provider (as defined below) each fiscal year in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Annual 52 Table of ContentsCarbon Offset Requirement for such fiscal
year, which is derived based on a formula equal to the outstanding balance of the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan provided by Amalgamated Lender multiplied by the Groton Projecta€™s
annual carbon emissions for such year and divided by the total project costs of the Groton Project, and (ii) the Annual Carbon Offset Cap for such fiscal year, which is $12.66 multiplied by the
Annual Carbon Offset Requirement and divided by the Carbon Offset Price for such fiscal year. The a&€ceCarbon Offset Priced€ means the price, per metric ton of carbon dioxide, of the carbon
offsets available for purchase from an Acceptable Carbon Offset Provider. An a&€ceAcceptable Carbon Offset Providera€ is either Climate Vault or any other seller of carbon offsets acceptable to
Amalgamated Lender. Quarterly principal amortization and interest payments are required to be made by Groton Holdco Borrower on the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loans based on a ten-
year amortization period. A The Groton Senior Back Leverage Loans have a seven-year term, maturing on August 18, 2030, at which time all outstanding principal is due.The Groton
Subordinated Back Leverage Loan will accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to 8% for the period of time prior to the &€ceStep Down Datea€ and, after the &€ceStep Down Date,a€ at the
lesser of 8% or the interest rate on a 10 year U.S. Treasury Note plus 275 basis points (subject to a minimum floor of 5% per annum). A The 4€ceStep Down Datea€ is the date on which both of
the following events have occurred: Groton Holdco Borrower has purchased East West Banka€™ s Class A Interests in the Groton Tax Equity Holdco and the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loans
have been repaid in full. A Interest is payable each quarter based on an agreed upon schedule.Pursuant to the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, during the &€ceGroton Interest
Only Perioda€ (as defined below), Groton Holdco Borrower is required to make quarterly payments of principal in amounts equal to 50% of excess cash flow available to Groton Holdco
Borrower. A For purposes of the foregoing, excess cash flow is all excess cash flow of Groton Holdco Borrower after the payment of required principal and interest on the Groton Senior Back
Leverage Loans, required deposits in the various reserve accounts, the payment of interest on the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan and payment of Groton Holdco Borrowera€™s
operating expenses. A Following the end of the 4€ceGroton Interest Only Period,&€ principal and interest payments are required to be made quarterly in quarterly level payments (A€cemortgage
stylea€) of principal and interest until the maturity date, which is the first to occur of 20 years following the Groton Projecta€™s commercial operations date and termination of the Groton
Amended and Restated PPA. A The maturity date of the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility is currently contemplated to be September 30, 2038. A The 4€ceGroton Interest Only
Period&€ is the period beginning on the Groton Closing Date and ending the first to occur of (i) eighty-four months after the Groton Closing Date; or (ii) the date the Groton Senior Back
Leverage Loan Facility has been fully repaid.Each of the Groton Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement contains certain
reporting requirements and other affirmative and negative covenants which are customary for transactions of this type. Included in the covenants are covenants that: (i) Groton Holdco
Borrower maintain a &€ceSeniora€ debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into account debt service obligations on the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loans) of not less than
1.20:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested every quarter) and a &€aeTotala€ debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into account debt service obligations on both the
Groton Senior Back Leverage Loans and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan) of not less than 1.10:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested on a quarterly basis); (ii) Groton
Holdco Borrower may make distributions or dividends only if the foregoing debt to equity coverage ratios have been satisfied and Groton Holdco Borrower is not in default under any provisions
of either the Groton Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement or the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement, including having made all required deposits into reserve accounts;
(iii) Groton Holdco Borrower is required to exercise its right under the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement to acquire the Class A Interests from East West Bank
during the ninety day period beginning on the a€ceFlip Pointa€ (which, pursuant to the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement, is the date on which the holder of Class A
Interests has realized a certain return on investment and, accordingly, Groton Holdco Borrower, as holder of the Class B Interests, has the right to purchase the Class A Interests); and (iv) the
consent of the Senior Administrative Agent is required prior to Groton Holdco Borrowera€™ s taking certain material actions under the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company
agreement. Each of the Groton Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties
and customary events of default that cause, or entitle the Groton Back Leverage Lenders to cause, the outstanding loans to become immediately due and payable. A In addition to customary
events of default for transactions of this kind, the events of default include if a Change of Control occurs (meaning Parent no longer directly or indirectly owns Groton Holdco Borrower), a cross
default (meaning that a default under the Groton Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility shall be deemed a default under the Groton Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility and vice versa) or if
CMEEC should become insolvent, is in bankruptcy or commits a specified number of payment defaults with regard to its payment obligations to the Groton Project Company.53 Table of
ContentsThe Groton Senior Back Leverage Loans may be prepaid at any time at the option of Groton Holdco Borrower provided that (i) each prepayment on or prior to the second anniversary of
the Groton Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 3% of the principal amount being prepaid; (ii) each prepayment after the second anniversary of the Groton Closing Date but on or
prior to the fourth anniversary of the Groton Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 2% of the principal amount being prepaid; and (iii) each prepayment after the fourth anniversary of
the Groton Closing Date but on or prior to the seventh anniversary of the Groton Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 1% of the principal amount being prepaid. The Groton
Subordinated Back Leverage Loan may be prepaid at any time without premium or penalty.State of Connecticut LoanIn NovemberA 2015, the Company closed on a definitive Assistance
Agreement with the State of Connecticut (the a€ceAssistance Agreementa€) and received a disbursement of $10.0 million, which was used for the first phase of the expansion of the
Companya€™s Torrington, Connecticut manufacturing facility. In conjunction with this financing, the Company entered into a $10.0 million promissory note and related security agreements
securing the loan with equipment liens and a mortgage on its Danbury, Connecticut location. Interest accrues at a fixed interest rate of 2.0%, and the loan is repayable over 15 years from the
date of the first advance, which occurred in NovemberA of 2015. Principal payments were deferred for four years from disbursement and began on DecemberA 1, 2019. Under the Assistance
Agreement, the Company was eligible for up to $5.0 million in loan forgiveness if the Company created 165 full-time positions and retained 538 full-time positions for two consecutiveA years (as
amended from time to time, the &€cEmployment Obligationd€) as measured on OctoberA 28, 2017 (as amended from time to time, the d€ceTarget Datea€). The Assistance Agreement was
subsequently amended in AprilA 2017 to extend the Target Date by twoA years to OctoberA 28, 2019.In JanuaryA 2019, the Company and the State of Connecticut entered into a Second
Amendment to the Assistance Agreement (the 4€ceSecond Amendment4€). The Second Amendment extended the Target Date to OctoberA 31, 2022 and amended the Employment Obligation to
require the Company to continuously maintain a minimum of 538 full-time positions for 24 consecutiveA months. If the Company met the Employment Obligation, as modified by the Second
Amendment, and created an additional 91 full-time positions, the Company would have received a credit in the amount of $2.0 million to be applied against the outstanding balance of the loan.
The Second Amendment deleted and canceled the provisions of the Assistance Agreement related to the second phase of the expansion project and the loans related thereto, but the Company
had not drawn any funds or received any disbursements under those provisions. In April 2023, the Company signed a Third Amendment to the Assistance Agreement (the &€ceThird
Amendmenta€). A The Third Amendment was approved by the State of Connecticut Office of Attorney General on May 18, 2023, and the State of Connecticut Office of Attorney General
released, and the Company received, the countersigned Third Amendment on May 24, 2023, at which time the Third Amendment became effective. The Third Amendment further extended the
Target Date to October 31, 2024 and amended the Employment Obligation to require the Company to retain 538 full-time positions in Connecticut on or before October 31, 2024 and to maintain
such positions for 24 consecutive months. The 24 consecutive month period ending on or before the Target Date (as extended by the Third Amendment) that yields the highest annual average
positions will be used to determine compliance with the amended Employment Obligation, provided that no portion of such 24 consecutive months may begin before the date of the Third
Amendment. The Third Amendment also requires the Company to furnish a job audit (the &€ceJob Audita€) to the Commissioner of Economic and Community Development (the
a€ceCommissionera€) no later than 90 days following the 24-month period described above. A If, as a result of the Job Audit, the Commissioner determines that the Company has failed to meet
the Employment Obligation (as amended by the Third Amendment), the Company will be required to immediately repay a penalty of $14,225.00 per each full-time employment position below
the amended Employment Obligation. The amount repaid will be applied first to any outstanding fees, penalties or interest due, and then against the outstanding balance of the loan.If, as a
result of the Job Audit, the Commissioner determines that the Company has met the amended Employment Obligation and has created an additional 91 full-time employment positions, for a total
of 629 full-time employees, the Company may receive a credit in the amount of $2.0 million, which will be applied against the then-outstanding principal balance of the loan. Upon application of
such credit, the Commissioner will recalculate the monthly payments of principal and interest such that such monthly payments shall amortize the then remaining principal balance over the
remaining term of loan.54 Table of ContentsIn AprilA of 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the State of Connecticut agreed to defer three months of principal and interest payments
under the Assistance Agreement, beginning with the MayA 2020 payment. These deferred payments will be added at the end of the loan, thus extending out the maturity date by

threeA months.Restricted CashAs of July 31, 2024, we have pledged approximately $58.8 million of our cash and cash equivalents as performance security and for letters of credit for certain
banking requirements and contracts. As of July 31, 2024, outstanding letters of credit totaled $14.2 million. These expire on various dates through OctoberA 2029. Under the terms of certain
contracts, we will provide performance security for future contractual obligations. The restricted cash balance as of July 31, 2024 also included $2.9 million primarily to support obligations
under the power purchase and service agreements related to Crestmark sale-leaseback transactions, $11.1 million relating to future obligations associated with the Groton Senior Back
Leverage Loan Facility, $2.7 million relating to future obligations associated with the Derby Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Derby Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility and
$22.5 million relating to future obligations associated with the OpCo Financing Facility.Power purchase agreementsUnder the terms of our PPAs, customers agree to purchase power or other
value streams delivered such as hydrogen, steam, water, and/or carbon from the Companya€™s fuel cell power platforms at negotiated rates. Electricity rates are generally a function of the
customersa€™ current and estimated future electricity pricing available from the grid. We are responsible for all operating costs necessary to maintain, monitor and repair our fuel cell power
platforms. Under certain agreements, we are also responsible for procuring fuel, generally natural gas or biogas, to run our fuel cell power platforms. In addition, under certain agreements, we
are required to produce minimum amounts of power under our PPAs and we have the right to terminate PPAs by giving written notice to the customer, subject to certain exit costs. As of July 31,
2024, our generation operating portfolio was 62.8 MW.Service and warranty agreementsWe warranty our products for a specific period of time against manufacturing or performance defects.
Our standard U.S. warranty period is generally 15A months after shipment or 12A months after acceptance of the product. In addition to the standard product warranty, we have contracted
with certain customers to provide services to ensure the power plants meet minimum operating levels for terms of up to 20A years. Pricing for service contracts is based upon estimates of
future costs, which could be materially different from actual expenses. Refer to a€ceCritical Accounting Policies and Estimatesa€ for additional details.Advanced Technologies contractsWe have
contracted with various government agencies and certain companies from private industry to conduct research and development as either a prime contractor or sub-contractor under multi-year,
cost-reimbursement and/or cost-share type contracts or cooperative agreements.A Cost-share terms require that participating contractors share the total cost of the project based on an agreed
upon ratio.A In many cases, we are reimbursed only a portion of the costs incurred or to be incurred under the contract. While government research and development contracts may extend for
manyA years, funding is often provided incrementally on aA year-by-year basis if contract terms are met and Congress authorizes the funds. As of July 31, 2024, Advanced Technologies contract
backlog totaled $42.5 million, of which $33.0 million is non-U.S. Government-funded and $9.5 million is U.S. Government-funded.Off-Balance Sheet ArrangementsWe have no off-balance sheet
debt or similar obligations, which are not classified as debt. We do not guarantee any third-party debt. See NoteA 17. &€ceCommitments and Contingenciesa€ to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024 included in this Quarterly Report on FormA 10-Q for further information.CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ESTIMATESThe preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, revenue recognition, lease 55 Table
of Contentsright-of-use assets and liabilities, loss accruals on service agreements, excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventories, product warranty accruals, loss accruals on service agreements,
share-based compensation expense, allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization, impairment of goodwill and in-process research and development intangible assets,
impairment of long-lived assets (including project assets), valuation of derivatives, and contingencies. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results in future
periods may differ from those estimates.Our critical accounting policies are those that are both most important to our financial condition and results of operations and require the most difficult,
subjective or complex judgments on the part of management in their application, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. For a
complete description of our critical accounting policies that affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements,
refer to our Annual Report on FormA 10-K for theA year ended OctoberA 31, 2023 filed with the SEC.ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE UPDATESee NoteA 2. 4€ceRecent Accounting
Pronouncements,a€ to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on FormA 10-Q for a summary of recently adopted accounting

financial institutions and therefore we are not exposed to market risk on our cash holdings from changing interest rates. Based on our overall interest rate exposure as of July 31, 2024,
including all interest rate sensitive instruments, a change in interest rates of 1% would not have a material impact on our results of operations.Foreign Currency Exchange RiskAs of July 31,
2024, approximately 1.1% of our total cash and cash equivalents were in currencies other than U.S. dollars (primarily the Euro, Canadian dollars and Korean Won) and we have no plans of
repatriation. We make purchases from certain vendors and receive payment from certain customers in currencies other than U.S. dollars. Although we have not experienced significant foreign
exchange rate losses to date, we may in the future, especially to the extent that we do not engage in currency hedging activities. The economic impact of currency exchange rate movements on
our operating results is complex because such changes are often linked to variability in real growth, inflation, interest rates, governmental actions and other factors. These changes, if material,
may cause us to adjust our financing and operating strategies.Derivative Fair Value Exposure RiskInterest Rate SwapOn May 19, 2023, in connection with the closing of the OpCo Financing
Facility, the Company entered into an ISDA 2002 Master Agreement and an ISDA Schedule to the 2002 Master Agreement with Investec Bank plc as a hedge provider, and an ISDA 2002 Master
Agreement and an ISDA Schedule to the 2002 Master Agreement with Bank of Montreal (Chicago Branch) as a hedge provider. On MayA 22, 2023, OpCo Borrower executed the related trade
confirmations for these interest rate swap agreements with these hedge providers to protect against adverse price movements in the floating SOFR rate associated with 100% of the aggregate
principal balance of the Term Loan outstanding. Pursuant to the terms of such agreements, OpCo Borrower will pay a fixed rate of interest of 3.716%. The net interest rate across the Financing
Agreement and the swap transaction is 6.366% in the first four years and 6.866% thereafter. The obligations of OpCo Borrower to the hedge providers under the interest rate swap agreements
are treated as obligations under the Financing Agreement and, accordingly, are secured, on a pari passu basis, by the same collateral securing the obligations of OpCo Borrower under the
Financing Agreement. The Company has not elected hedge accounting treatment and, as a result, the derivative will be remeasured to fair value quarterly with the resulting gains/losses
recorded to other income/expense. A The fair value adjustments for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024 resulted in a loss of $2.4 million and $3.2 million, respectively. 56 Table of
ContentsProject Fuel Price Exposure RiskCertain of our PPAs for project assets in our generation operating portfolio expose us to fluctuating fuel price risks as well as the risk of being unable
to procure the required amounts of fuel and the lack of alternative available fuel sources. We seek to mitigate our fuel risk using strategies including: (i) fuel cost reimbursement mechanisms in



our PPAs to allow for pass through of fuel costs (full or partial) where possible, which we have done with our 14.9 MW operating project in Bridgeport, CT; (ii) procuring fuel under fixed price
physical supply contracts with investment grade counterparties, which we have done for twenty years for our Tulare BioMAT project, the initial seven years of the eighteen year PPA for our
LIPA Yaphank Project (through September 2028), six years of the twenty year PPA for our 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby Projects (through October 2029), and the initial two years of the twenty
year hydrogen power purchase agreement for our Toyota project (through May of 2025); and (iii) potentially entering into future financial hedges with investment grade counterparties to offset
potential negative market fluctuations. The Company does not take a fundamental view on natural gas or other commodity pricing and seeks commercially available means to reduce commodity
exposure. If the Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result in impairment charges.Historically, this risk has not been material to our financial statements as
our operating projects prior to July 31, 2024 either did not have fuel price risk exposure, had fuel cost reimbursement mechanisms in our related PPAs to allow for pass through of fuel costs (full
or partial), or had established long term fixed price fuel physical contracts. To provide a meaningful assessment of the fuel price risk arising from price movements of natural gas, the Company
performed a sensitivity analysis to determine the impact a change in natural gas commodity pricing would have on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(assuming that all projects with fuel price risk were operating). A $1/Metric Million British Thermal Unit (4€ceMMBTua€) increase in market pricing compared to our underlying project models
would result in a cost impact of approximately $26,000 to our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss on an annual basis. We have also conducted a sensitivity analysis
on the impact of RNG pricing and a $10/MMBTu increase in market pricing compared to our underlying project models would result in an impact of approximately $2.0 million to our
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss on an annual basis.The Company net settled certain natural gas purchases under previous normal purchase normal sale
contract designations during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2023 for one contract and the second quarter of fiscal year 2024 for other contracts, and recorded a mark-to-market gain of $4.1
million during the year ended October 31, 2023. The Company recorded a mark-to-market net loss for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024 of $0.9 million and $5.1 million,
respectively.ltemA 4 AAAAAAAA A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURESThe Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in the Company4€ ™ s periodic SEC reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECA€™s rulesA and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Companya€™s principal executive officer and principal
financial officer have concluded that the Companya€™s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in the Companya€™ s periodic SEC reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SECA€™ s rulesA and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.4€<57 Table of ContentsPARTA II. OTHER INFORMATIONItemA 1.AA A A A A A A A LEGAL PROCEEDINGSFrom time to time, the Company
is involved in legal proceedings, including, but not limited to, regulatory proceedings, claims, mediations, arbitrations and litigation, arising out of the ordinary course of its business (4€ceLegal
Proceedingsé€). Although the Company cannot assure the outcome of such Legal Proceedings, management presently believes that the result of such Legal Proceedings, either individually, or in
the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements, and no material amounts have been accrued in the Companya€™s consolidated
financial statements with respect to these matters.ItemA 1A.A AA A A A A A A RISK FACTORSPart I, Item 1A, 4€ceRisk Factorsa€ of our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 31, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 19, 2023 (the 4€ce2023 Annual Reporta€), sets forth information relating to important risks
and uncertainties that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. Those risk factors continue to be relevant to an understanding of our business,
financial condition and operating results and, accordingly, you should review and consider such risk factors in making any investment decision with respect to our securities. The following risk
factors are being provided to supplement and update the risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1A, &€ceRisk Factorsa€ of the 2023 Annual Report.If we do not meet the continued listing standards
of The Nasdaq Global Market, our common stock could be delisted from trading, which could limit investorsa€™ ability to make transactions in our common stock and subject us to additional
trading restrictions.Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Market, which imposes continued listing requirements with respect to listed securities, including a minimum bid price
requirement. On May 31, 2024, we received written notice from the Listing Qualifications Department of The Nasdaq Stock Market (a&€ceNasdaga€) notifying us that we are not in compliance
with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) because the closing bid price of our common stock was below the required minimum of $1.00 per share for the previous 30 consecutive business days. In
accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rules, we have a period of 180 calendar days, or until November 27, 2024, to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. To regain compliance,
the closing bid price of the Companya€™s common stock must be at least $1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days during this 180 calendar day period. If we do not
regain compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) by November 27, 2024, we may be eligible for an additional 180 calendar day compliance period if we transfer the listing of our common
stock to The Nasdaq Capital Market. To qualify, we would be required to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards of
The Nasdaq Capital Market, with the exception of the minimum bid price requirement, and would need to provide written notice of our intention to cure the minimum bid price deficiency during
the second compliance period by effecting a reverse stock split if necessary. As part of its review process, Nasdaq Staff would make a determination of whether they believe we will be able to
cure this deficiency. If Nasdaq Staff concludes that we will not be able to cure the deficiency, or if we determine not to submit a transfer application or make the required representation,
Nasdaq will provide notice that our common stock will be subject to delisting.There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to regain compliance with the minimum bid price
requirement or that we will otherwise maintain compliance with other Nasdaq listing requirements. If we fail to regain and maintain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement or to
meet the other applicable continued listing requirements in the future and Nasdaq determines to delist our common stock, the delisting could adversely affect the market price and liquidity of
our common stock, reduce our ability to raise additional capital and result in operational challenges and damage to investor relations and market reputation.If we elect to implement a reverse
stock split to regain compliance with the Nasdaq continued listing requirements, such reverse stock split could have a materially adverse effect on our business.In the event that we are unable
to regain compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) through other methods, we may implement a reverse stock split in order to do so. In order to effect a reverse stock split, we would
need to submit a reverse stock split proposal for approval by our stockholders. However, even if our stockholders approve such a proposal and a reverse stock split is effected, there can be no
assurance that we will be successful in regaining compliance with the minimum bid price requirement or that we would be able to satisfy all other continued listing requirements of The Nasdaq
58 Table of ContentsGlobal Market and maintain the listing of our common stock on The Nasdaq Global Market. In addition, there are a number of risks associated with implementing a reverse
stock split, including, without limitation:a—the market price per share of our common stock post-reverse stock split may not remain in excess of the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement, as
required by Nasdag, or we may fail to meet the other requirements for continued listing on Nasdaq, resulting in the delisting of our common stock from The Nasdaq Global Market;a—the
reverse stock split may not result in a price per share that will successfully attract certain types of investors, and such resulting share price may not satisfy the investing guidelines of
institutional investors or investment funds;a—the trading liquidity of the shares of our common stock may not improve, or may decline, as a result of the reverse stock split and there can be no
assurance that the reverse stock split, if completed, would result in the intended benefits; andd—a reverse stock split could be viewed negatively by the market, which may adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.There can be no assurance that a reverse stock split would be approved by our stockholders or that the implementation of a reverse stock split would allow us
to prevent the delisting of our common stock from The Nasdaq Global Market, and it could have a materially adverse effect on our business.a€<a€<59 Table of

ContentsItemA 2.A AA AA A A A A UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS(a)None.(b)Not applicable.(c)Stock RepurchasesThe following table sets forth

information with respect to purchases made by us or on our behalf of our common stock during the periods indicated: a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a€<a§<1_’epgdA A A A Total NumberA of Shares

Purchased (1)A AAA AverageA PriceA PaldperA ShareA A A A TotalA NumberA ofA Shares PurchasedA as PartA of Publicly AnnouncedA ProgramsA A A A Maximum NumberA of
SharesA thatA MayA YetA beA PurchasedA UnderA theA PlansA orProgramsMay 1, 2024 May 31, 2024a€< 1 433a€<$ 0.804€<« a€”a€< a€”June 1, 2024 - June 30, 20244€« 28,4394€<a€< 0.67a€<«

SECURITIESNone.ltemA 4.AAAA A A A A A MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURESNone ItemA 5.A A A AAA A A A OTHER INFORMATION(c) Director and Section 16 Officer Rule 10b5-1 Trading
ArrangementsDuring the three months ended July 31, 2024, no director or Section 16 officer of the Company adopted or terminated a 4€ceRule 10b5-1 trading arrangementa€ or a&€cenon-Rule
10b5-1 tradlng arrangement,a€ as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.4€<60 Table of

ContentsItemA 6.A A A A A A A A A EXHIBITSExhibitA No.A A A A Descriptiona€<a€<a€<3.14€«Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended, JulyA 12, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on FormA 8-K dated SeptemberA 21, 1999).3.2a€«Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company,
dated November 21, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K dated January 12, 2017).3.3&€«Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate
of Incorporation of the Company, dated October 31, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 3,
2003).3.44€<Certificate of Designation for the Companya€™s 5% SeriesA B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to ExhibitA 3.1 to the Companya€™s
Current Report on FormA 8-K, dated NovemberA 22, 2004).3.54€<Amended Certificate of Designation of 5% Series B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock, dated March 14, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K dated January 12, 2017).3.6a€«Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company, dated April 8, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K dated JanuaryA 12, 2017).3.7&€<Certificate of Amendment of the
Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated April 5, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to the Companya€ ™s Annual Report on Form 10-K dated January 12,
2017).3.8a€<Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated December 3, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K dated December 3, 2015).3.9a€<Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated April 18, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.9 to the
Companyéa€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending July 31, 2016).3.104€«Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated April 7, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.10 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending July 31, 2017).3.114€«Certificate of Designations for the Companya€™s
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated September 5, 2017).3.12a€«Certificate of Amendment of
the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated December 14, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 14,
2017).3.13a€<Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights for the Companya€™s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 27, 2018).3.14a€«Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of FuelCell Energy, Inc., dated May 8, 2019 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 8, 2019).3.154€«Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of FuelCell Energy, Inc., dated May
11, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 12, 2020).3.16a€<Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation
of FuelCell Energy, Inc. dated April 8, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on April 14, 2021).3.17a€<Certificate of
Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of FuelCell Energy, Inc., dated October 11, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 11, 2023).3.184€<Third Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company, effective as of September 3, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current
Report on FormA 8K filed on September 4, 2024).4.1 4€<Specimen of Common Share Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on FormA 10-K for
fiscal year ended OctoberA 31, 1999).61 Table of ContentsExhibitA No.A A A A Descriptiona€<4€<4€<10.14€<Lease Expansion and Amending Agreement, dated August 2, 2024, between 52nd
Street Business Centre, LP, by its General Partner, 52nd Street Business Centre GP Inc., and Versa Power Systems Ltd.10.24€<Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated May 2, 2024, between
FuelCell Energy Finance Holdco, LLC (as Borrower) and Liberty Bank (as Administrative Agent and Lender) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended April 30, 2024).10.34€<Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated May 2, 2024, among FuelCell Energy Finance Holdco, LLC (as Borrower) and Connecticut
Green Bank (as Administrative Agent and Lender) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 19-Q for the period ended April 30,
2024).31.1a€<Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to SectionA 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200231.24€<Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to SectionA 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200232.14€«Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200232.24a€<Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002101.INS#4&€<Inline XBRL Instance DocumentA 4€“ the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.101.SCH#4a€Inline XBRL Schema Document101.CAL#4a€Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document101.DEF#&€<Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase
Document101.LAB#&€<«Inline XBRL Labels Linkbase Document101.PRE#&€<«Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document104a€<Cover PageA Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL
and contained in ExhibitA 101).4€ *Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement#Filed with this Annual Report on FormA 10-Q are the following documents formatted in iXBRL
(Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i)A theA Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, (ii)A theA Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024, and 2023, (iii)A theA Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2024
and 2023, (iv)A theA Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, (v)A NotesA to the Consolidated Financial Statements and (vi) the information
included in Part II, Item 5(c).a€<a€<a€<62 Table of ContentsSIGNATUREPursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.4€<4€<FUELCELL ENERGY,A INC.4€<4€<(Registrant)a€<a€<a€<September 5, 20244€</s/ Michael S. BishopDate&€Michael S.
BishopExecutive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)a€<a€<a€<«63Exhibit 10.1LEASE EXPANSION AND
AMENDING AGREEMENT&€<This Agreement ("Agreement") is effective as of the last date set forth on the signature page and is madea€<«&€<B E T W E E N:4€<562ND STREET BUSINESS
CENTRE LP, BY ITS GENERAL PARTNER,52ND STREET BUSINESS CENTRE GP INC.("Landlord")a€«- and -4€<VERSA POWER SYSTEMS LTD.("Tenant")a€<a€<a€<«a€<a€<«0OF THE FIRST
PART&€<a€<a€<a€<«OF THE SECOND PARTA€<4€<WHEREAS:4€<A.By a lease dated the 20th day of May, 2005 ("Original Lease") made between Westpen Properties Ltd ("Westpen"), as Landlord,
and the Tenant, Westpen did demise and lease unto the Tenant certain premises comprising approximately thirty-two thousand, two hundred and twenty (32,220) square feet identified as unit
4852 ("Original Premises") in the building municipally known as 4800 - 52nd Street SE, Calgary, Alberta ("4800 Building") located within the project known as 52nd Street Business Centre
("Project"), for a term of five (5) years commencing on the 1st day of February, 2006 and expiring on the 31st day of January, 2011 ("Original Term"), on the terms and conditions more
particularly set forth in the Original Lease;B.By a lease dated the 20th day of April, 2006 ("Amendment"), the Original Lease was amended as more particularly set out therein;C.Effective the 1st
day of October 2010, 52nd Street Business Centre LP, by its General Partner, 52nd Street Business Centre GP Inc., became the successor to Westpen in title and is the Landlord named
herein.D.By a lease renewal agreement dated 11th day of November, 2010 ("Renewal"), the Original Term of the Original Lease was renewed for a further term of three 3) years ("Renewal
Term") so as to expire on the 31st day of January 2014, all upon the terms and conditions set out therein;E.By a lease extension and amending agreement dated the 29th day of October, 2013
("1st Extension"), Landlord and Tenant agreed to amend the Original Lease to, amongst other things, extend the Original Term as renewed by the Renewal Term for a period of three (3) years



("1st Extension Term") so to expire on the 31st day of January 2017, all upon the terms and conditions set out therein;F.By a lease extension and amending agreement dated the 9th day of
November, 2016 ("2nd Extension"), Landlord and Tenant agreed to amend the Original Lease to, amongst other things, extend the Original Term as renewed by the Renewal Term and as
extended by the 1st Extension Term for a period of three (3) years ("2nd Extension Term") so to expire on the 31st day of January 2020, all upon the terms and conditions set out therein;G.By a
lease extension and amending agreement dated the 10th day of January 2020 ("3rd Extension"), Landlord and Tenant agreed to amend the Original Lease to, amongst other things, extend the
Original Term as renewed by the Renewal Term and as extended by the 1st Extension Term and the 2nd Extension Term for a period of three (3) years ("3rd Extension Term") so to expire on the
31st day of January 2023, all upon the terms and conditions set out therein;H.By a lease expansion, extension and amending agreement dated the 5th day of January 2023 ("Expansion and
Extension"), Landlord and Tenant agreed to amend the Original Lease to, amongst other things:(a) extend the Original Term as renewed by the Renewal Term and as extended by the 1st
Extension Term, the 2nd Extension Term and the 3rd Extension Term for a period of five (5) years and eight (8) months ("4th Extension Term") so as to expire on September 30, 2028; and (b)
expand the Original Premises to include additional space ("First Additional Premises") designated as unit 4908 in the building municipally known as 4900 - 52nd Street SE, Calgary, Alberta
("4900 Building") containing a Rentable Area of approximately 48,308 square feet, for a period of five (5) years from October 1, 2023 to September 30, 2028, all as more particularly set forth
therein;1.The Original Term as renewed by the Renewal Term and as extended by the 1st Extension Term, the 2nd Extension Term, the 3rd Extension Term and the 4th Extension Term is
hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Term"), and except to the extent used separately within this Agreement the Original Premises and the First Additional Premises shall be hereinafter
referred to as the "Existing Premises";a€<Page 2 of 17].By a lease expansion and amending agreement - short form dated February 20, 2023 ("Second Expansion"), Landlord and Tenant agreed
to amend the Original Lease to expand the Existing Premises to include additional space ("Second Additional Premises") designated as unit 4912 in the 4900 Building containing a Rentable Area
of approximately 18,627 square feet, for a period of one (1) year and four (4) months from April 1, 2023 to July 31, 2024, all as more particularly set forth therein;K.The Original Lease, the
Amendment, the Renewal, the 1st Extension, the 2nd Extension, the 3rd Extension, the Expansion and Extension and the Second Expansion are hereinafter collectively referred to as the
"Lease", and].Tenant is desirous of leasing the Second Additional Premises on a long term basis, and incorporating the same into the Lease. all on the terms and conditions more particularly set
forth herein.a€<W I T N E S S that in consideration of the sum of one dollar ($1.00) now paid by each party to the other, and for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged), the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows:&€<1.The above recitals are true both in substance and in fact.4€<2.Where used hereinafter, the term
"Lease" shall mean the Lease, as amended by this Agreement, except where a contrary intent is expressly provided.3.Capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise defined herein shall
have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Lease.a€<4.Grant and Term of Second Additional Premisesa€«(a)Landlord hereby grants to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord unit 4912
in the 4900 Building (the "Second Additional Premises") containing approximately 18,627 square feet of Rentable Area, subject to final measurement in accordance with the Lease, for a period
of four (4) years and two (2) months (the "Second Additional Premises Term") , commencing on August 1, 2024 (the "Second Additional Premises Commencement Date") and expiring co-
terminously with the Term , on the same terms and conditions as contained in the Lease for the Existing Premises, save and except as set forth herein.(b)It is acknowledged and agreed by the
parties that the term "Leased Premises" as used in the Lease shall:(i)from the commencement date of the Lease to and including the date immediately preceding September 30, 2023, be
deemed to mean only the Original Premises;a€«<(ii)from October 1, 2023 to and including March 31, 2023, be deemed to mean only the Original Premises plus the First Additional Premises;
and(iii)from and after April 1, 2023, and throughout the remainder of the Term and any renewal or extension thereof, be deemed to mean the whole of the Original Premises, the First Additional
Premises and the Second Additional Premises,without the need for any further agreement between the parties to incorporate this change to the term "Leased Premises" and the parties hereto
do hereby covenant and agree with each other accordingly.a€<«(c)From and after April 1, 2023, Tenant shall be liable for all of the covenants, obligations, terms and conditions of the Lease in
respect of the Second Additional Premises, at which time the Existing Premises and the Second Additional Premises shall be deemed to be and shall be treated as one single premises and
Schedule "A" of the Lease ("Floor Plan") shall be deleted and replaced with Schedule "A" attached hereto indicating the Original Premises hatched, the First Additional Premises cross-hatched,
and the Second Additional Premises outlined in bold.a€<«(d)For greater certainty, Section 12 (Free Base Rent), Section 13 (Allowance) and the bolded language of Section 16 (Restoration) of the
Expansion and Extension shall not apply to the Second Additional Premises. Further, as the Second Additional Premises is the same as the ROFO Space outlined in Section 14 (Right of First
Offer) of the Expansion and Extension, Landlord and Tenant agree that Section 14 (Right of First Offer) is hereby deemed to have been deleted from the Expansion and Extension.a€<Page 3 of
175.Rentd€<Tenant shall pay, in lawful money of Canada, at such address as shall be designated from time to time by Landlord, Base Rent for the Second Additional Premises based on an
amount per square foot of Rentable Area of the Second Additional Premises per annum, in accordance with the following rental schedule:a€<TIME PERIODRATE/SQUARE FOOT RENTABLE
AREA/ANNUMAugust 1, 2024 - Sept 30, 2024$8.000ct 1, 2024 - Sept 30, 2025$8.250ct 1, 2025 - Sept 30, 2026$8.500ct 1, 2026 - Sept 30, 2027$8.750ct 1, 2027 - Sept 30, 2028$9.004€<In
addition to the foregoing Base Rent, Tenant shall pay to Landlord Additional Rent for the Second Additional Premises in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Lease. The Tenant
acknowledges that notwithstanding that the Original Premises is located within the 4800 Building and the Second Additional Premises within the 4900 Building, Additional Rent will be
estimated and charged separately based on the costs applicable to each building, respectively.6.Usea€<Tenant acknowledges that Landlord is making no representation or warranty as to
Tenant's ability to use the Second Additional Premises for its permitted use, and Tenant shall, prior to executing this Agreement, perform such searches in order to confirm, and to otherwise
satisfy itself, that its use is permitted under all applicable laws, and that Tenant will be able to, and shall, at its sole cost and expense, obtain an occupancy permit, if required, as well as any
other permit required for Tenant to complete any Tenant's Work contemplated in connection with the Second Additional Premises, and to use the Second Additional Premises in accordance with
Section 3.7 of the Lease; in addition, Tenant agrees to be responsible to pay any additional development charges or permitting costs associated with: the construction of any Leasehold
Improvements on or serving the Second Additional Premises; and Tenant's use of the Second Additional Premises in accordance with the Lease, in connection with and/or during the Second
Additional Premises Term.a€<7.Condition of Second Additional Premises / Tenant's Worka€«(a)Tenant accepts the Second Additional Premises in the state and condition in which they are
received from Landlord, "as is". For greater clarity, Landlord will not be required to perform any work or expend any funds (other than the Allowance) in order to prepare the Second Additional
Premises for Tenant's occupancy.(b)Upon Landlord review and approval, Tenant shall, at its cost and expense, complete or cause the completion of any Leasehold Improvements which may be
required to complete the Second Additional Premises for Tenant's business operations thereon ("Tenant's Work") in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Lease and in accordance
with the "Tenant Design Criteria Manual', if any, applicable to the Lands and Building. Such Tenant's Work shall include, without limitation, the following:(i)Install a concrete sidewalk to the
same base building specifications as the existing sidewalks at the 4900 Building. Tenant shall pour a sidewalk between the First Additional Premises and the Second Additional Premises in the
grassy area shown below. All work including but not limited to construction, permits, drawings, engineering, and underground locates shall be at Tenant's sole cost and expense. For clarity, this
work shall not be subject to restoration.a€<a€<Page 4 of 17a€«(ii)Tenant shall be allowed to demolish the existing office area on the main floor area of the Second Additional Premises and install
lab areas. All work including but not limited to construction, permits, drawings, and engineering shall be at Tenant's sole cost and expense. This main floor office area in the Second Additional
Premises shall be subject to the restoration provisions of the Lease, and for greater clarity Tenant shall upon expiry or earlier termination of the Lease restore the office area to the same or
similar approved layout with Building standard finishes at Tenant's sole cost and expense unless otherwise agreed in writing by Tenant and Landlord. The Current floor plan as of April 30, 2024,
is shown below.a€«(iii)Tenant shall be allowed to transfer the existing power (including but not limited to the panels, and transformer(s)) in the First Additional Premises into the Second
Additional Premises so that Tenant can use that power during the Second Additional Premises Term and any renewals. This work shall be subject to the restoration provisions of the Lease, and
for greater clarity Tenant shall upon expiry or earlier termination of the Lease relocate the power from the Second Additional Premises into the First Additional Premises to the location and set
up prior to the original move from the First Additional Premises into the Second Additional Premises or similar set up approved by Landlord at Tenant's sole cost and expense upon Landlord's
written request.a€<«a€Page 5 of 17a€<a€<8.Free Base Rent for Second Additional Premisesa€<Provided there is not then any Event of Default, Base Rent shall abate for the first 5 months of the
Second Additional Premises Term (the "Free Base Rent Period").If the Lease is terminated for any reason whatsoever as a result of an Event of Default, or if the Lease is disclaimed pursuant to
Section 65.2(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, as amended or replaced from time to time (the "Bankruptcy Act"), then for the purposes of Section 65.2(4) of the Bankruptcy Act, all of the
Rent that would have been payable under the Lease but for this Section 8 shall immediately become due and payable effective the date which is immediately prior to the date of such
termination or disclaimer, as the case may be.&€<The Tenant shall pay its share of the Operating Costs and Realty Taxes and other charges provided for in the Lease in the manner set out in the
Lease during the entire Second Additional Premises Term. For clarity, the Free Base Rent period shall be applied to the 18,627 square foot Second Additional Premises only, and shall
commence August 1, 2024 and expire December 31, 2024.4€<9.Allowance for Second Additional Premisesa€«(a)Landlord shall pay to the Tenant named herein, one time only, a leasehold
improvement allowance in the amount of up to a maximum of Five Dollars ($5.00) per square foot of the Second Additional Premises, being Ninety-Three Thousand One Hundred Thirty-Five
Dollars ($93,135.00) plus applicable Sales Taxes ("Allowance"), to be applied by Tenant toward the cost of the Tenant's Work in the Second Additional Premises.(b)Subject to the provisions of
subsections (e) below, Landlord shall pay the Allowance to Tenant within a reasonable period of time following Tenant's delivery to Landlord of a formal written invoice ("Invoice") requesting
payment of the Allowance, which Invoice must be delivered within 12 months following the Second Additional Premises Commencement Date.(c)Landlord shall be under no obligation to pay any
portion of the Allowance to Tenant until the Tenant's Work has been completed expressly in accordance with the terms of the Lease, and the following have occurred:a€«(i)the Second Additional
Premises Commencement Date;a€«(ii)the actual, physical occupancy by Tenant of the whole of the Leased Premises (including the Second Additional Premises) and diligent conduct of business
therefrom ; and(iii)Tenant's delivery to Landlord of:a€<(A)copies of invoices (accompanied by reasonable back-up confirming such invoices have been paid in full) for the performance of all of
the Tenant's Work completed as of the date of delivery of the Invoice;(B)a statutory declaration signed by Tenant (or a senior officer of Tenant), to be issued after the expiry of all applicable
statutory lien periods, certifying that: (I) the Tenant's Work has been completed, and the date of such completion; (II) Tenant has paid in full its general contractor engaged to complete the
Tenant's Work; (III) no lien has been, or may be, claimed in respect of the Tenant's Work; and (IV) all construction lien periods have expired; anda€<Page 6 of 17(C)a statutory declaration signed
by Tenant's general contractor (or a senior officer thereof), to be issued after the expiry of all applicable statutory lien periods, certifying that: (I) the Tenant's Work has been completed, and the
date of such completion; (II) the contractor has been paid in full by Tenant; (III) all subcontractors engaged by the general contractor in connection with the Tenant's Work have been paid in full
by the general contractor; (IV) no lien has been, or may be, claimed in respect of the Tenant's Work; and (V) all construction lien periods have expired; anda€«(D)evidence, satisfactory to
Landlord, acting reasonably, that all building permits related to the Tenant's Work have been properly closed.(d)Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) above, and for greater
certainty, the amount to which Tenant is entitled to pursuant hereto shall be the lesser of: (i) the actual cost incurred by Tenant in completing the Tenant's Work as evidenced by receipted
invoices delivered pursuant to the provisions of subsection (c)(ii)(A) above, and (ii) the Allowance expressly provided in subsection (a) above. If the actual cost of the Tenant's Work is less than
the Allowance, then the Tenant shall be reimbursed such lesser amount and the balance of the Allowance remaining shall be retained by Landlord for its own account. Correspondingly, Tenant
shall be responsible for all costs of the Tenant's Work in excess of the Allowance.a€<(e)Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall be under no obligation to pay or credit, as the case may be,
the Allowance to Tenant if, upon the date of such intended payment or credit, a claim for lien or certificate of action has been registered on title to the Lands or Building or there is then an
uncured Event of Default (beyond the expiry of any applicable notice and cure period provided for in the Lease) or an Event of Default for which there is no notice and cure period. If any of the
foregoing have occurred on the date upon which Landlord intends to deliver the Allowance to Tenant or make a credit toward Tenant's account, as the case may be, Landlord shall hold the
Allowance, without interest, until such time as such claim for lien or certificate of action has been discharged or such Event of Default has been remedied in accordance with this Lease, at
which time Landlord shall release the Allowance to Tenant or shall proceed with such credit toward Tenant's account, as applicable.(f)Landlord shall have the right to deduct from the Allowance
all amounts owing to Landlord by Tenant for any reason whatsoever and Landlord shall have the right to pay itself or any other contractor of Tenant any amounts payable in respect of any of the
Tenant's Work, and it is agreed that any such deduction or payment by Landlord shall constitute a payment on account of Landlord's obligation to pay the Allowance.a€<«(g)If at any time during
the Second Additional Premises Term:a€«(i)the Lease is terminated by reason of an uncured Event of Default; ora€«(ii)Tenant has become bankrupt or insolvent or has taken the benefit of any
statute for bankrupt or insolvent debtors, or has filed a proposal, or has made an assignment for the benefit of creditors or any arrangement or compromise,then in such event, and without
prejudice to any of the Landlord's other rights and remedies available to it under the Lease and at law, the unamortized portion of the Allowance calculated from the Second Additional Premises
Commencement Date on the basis of an assumed rate of depreciation of 8% interest rate charged on the unamortized portion each year of the Second Additional Premises Term up to and
including the last day of the Term shall immediately become due and payable to Landlord as Additional Rent.a€«(h)For greater certainty, any portion of the Allowance not claimed by Tenant
expressly in accordance herewith on or before the first anniversary of the execution of this Agreement shall be applied towards Base Rent.a€<10.Lease AmendmentsThe parties hereto agree
that, effective as of the date hereof, the Lease is hereby amended as follows:a€<(a)Paragraph 2 of Basic Terms (Landlord's Address) is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the
following:"2.LANDLORD'S ADDRESS:c/o BentallGreenOak (Canada) Limited Partnership,Suite 240, 640 - 5th Avenue SW Calgary, Alberta T2P 3G4"a€<Page 7 of 17(b)Section 3.10.a. of the
Lease is amended by deleting the phrase "three million dollars ($3,000,000.00)" therefrom and replacing the same with "five million dollars ($5,000,000.00)".(c)The following is hereby added to
the end of Section 3.14 of the Lease:a€<"Without limiting the generality of the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.14, Tenant shall on expiry or earlier termination of the Term effect the
removal and restoration work set out in Schedule "G" attached hereto."a€<(d)Section 8.15 of the Lease is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: "8.15 Privacy PolicyTo the extent
that Tenant provides information, including personal information, in connection with this Lease, Tenant consents to Landlord using and disclosing such information, for the purposes
of:a€<a.determining the suitability of Tenant both for the Term and any renewal or extension thereof;b.taking action for collection of Rent in the case of an Event of Default or otherwise
exercising Landlord's rights under this Lease;c.facilitating any pore-authorized payment plan adopted by the parties hereto; anda€«d.any other matters reasonably relating to this Lease or the
use of the Leased Premises.a€<Consent hereunder includes consent to the disclosure by Landlord of such information, in connection with this Lease, to property managers, credit agencies,
collection agencies and existing or potential lenders, investors and purchasers and as required or permitted by law. Tenant also consents to and confirms its authority and that it has all
necessary consents to enable the collection, use, and disclosure, as provided in this privacy statement, of personal information about employees of Tenant and other individuals whose personal
information is provided to or collected by or on behalf of Landlord in connection with this Lease. To the extent Landlord uses a managing agent, consent under this Lease includes consent for
the managing agent to do all such things on behalf of Landlord. Landlord's current managing agent is BentallGreenOak (Canada) Limited Partnership ("BentallGreenOak"). Tenant also consents
to the terms of BentallGreenOak's privacy policy, a copy of which is available at www.bgo.com, and to the collection, use and disclosure of personal information in accordance with such privacy
policy."a€<«(e)Schedule "A" is deleted in its entirety and replaced with Schedule "A" attached to this Agreement.a€<«(f)Schedule "G" attached to this Agreement is attached to the Lease as new
Schedule "G" thereto, and the list of schedules in the Table of Contents to the Lease is updated accordingly.11.Deposita€<Landlord shall retain the existing Security Deposit, which shall be held
pursuant to Section 3.6 of the Lease.d€<12. Environmentala€<Tenant agrees to complete the environmental questionnaire attached hereto as Schedule "D" and to forthwith advise Landlord, in
writing, of any changes in its activities that may alter the information provided therein.13.Restorationd€<For greater certainty, the provisions of the Lease including Section 3.14, requiring
Tenant to remove such of the Leasehold Improvements (including any of the same existing in the Premises as of the date hereof), if any, as expressly required by the Lease to be removed,
remains in full force and effect, unmodified hereby, save and except as may be expressly hereinabove provided under Section 7(b) and Schedule "G" of this Agreement.14.Managing Agenta€<To
the extent Landlord uses a managing agent, execution and delivery of this Agreement by Tenant constitutes consent by Tenant for the managing agent to act on Landlord's behalf in connection
with the operation, management, administration, maintenance, repair and replacement of the Lands and Building including, without limitation, collecting, using and disclosing information



referred to in Section 8.15 of the Lease. Landlorda€™s current managing agent is BentallGreenOak (Canada) Limited Partnership ("BentallGreenOak"); Landlord may from time to time change
its managing agent upon written notice toa€<Page 8 of 17Tenant. Tenant acknowledges that if this Agreement has been executed for and on behalf, in the name, and with the authority, of
Landlord by a property manager or managing agent, then the covenants and agreements of Landlord are obligations of Landlord and its successors and assigns only and are not obligations
personal to or enforceable against the property manager or managing agent in its own right.4€<15.Agency Disclosured€<Landlord hereby discloses that BentallGreenOak is acting in its capacity
as authorized agents for Landlord in accordance with applicable legislation, and that BentallGreenOak: (a) acts on behalf of Landlord; (b) owes a fiduciary duty to Landlord in this transaction;
and (c) shall be compensated by Landlord.16.The parties hereto shall, at all times hereafter, upon the reasonable request of the others make or procure to be made, done or executed, all such
further assurances and to do all such things as may be necessary to give full force and effect to the full intent of this Agreement.a€<17.The parties hereto hereby acknowledge, confirm and
agree that in all other respects the terms of the Lease and Indemnity are to remain in full force and effect, unchanged and unmodified except in accordance with this Agreement.a4€<18.This
Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, but subject always to the provisions of the Lease restricting or
limiting Tenant's right to assign the Lease or sublet the Leased Premises or carry out any other Transfer, as provided in the Lease.a€<19.Landlord shall not be bound pursuant hereto until
Landlord is in receipt of a fully executed original of this Agreement.20.The parties hereto do hereby acknowledge and confirm with one another that, notwithstanding anything contained in the
Lease to the contrary:(a)this Agreement may be executed by counterparts and by electronic transmission ("email") and, if so executed, each document shall be deemed to be an original, shall
have the same effect as if all parties had executed the same copy of this Agreement, and all of which copies (when taken together) shall constitute one and the same document and shall be legal
and binding upon the parties hereto; anda€«(b)with respect to the execution of this Agreement, they will each accept electronic signatures in accordance with the Electronic Commerce Act
(Alberta).a€<BALANCE OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE&€<Page 9 of 17IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement as of the
date first set out above.a€<VERSA POWER SYSTEMS LTD.(Tenant)a€<a€<Per:/s/ Michael S. BishopName: Michael S. BishopTitle:EVP, Chief Financial Officera€<Per:a€< 4€< Name:Title:I/We have
the authority to bind the Tenant Date:July 31, 20244€<4€<52ND STREET BUSINESS CENTRE LP, by itsgeneral partner, 52ND STREET BUSINESS CENTRE GP INC.(Landlord)a€<Per:a€« a€«/s/
David McLeana€« &€« Name:David McLeanTitle: Vice President, Portfolio Managementa€<a€«Per:/s/ Brad Altona€« 4€< Name:Brad AltonTitle: Vice President, Leasinga€<I/We have the authority
to bind the Landlorda€<a€Date:August 2, 2024a€<a€<a€<Page 10 of 17SCHEDULE "A"a€<Floor Plan of the Leased Premisesa€«Original Premises - 4852-52nd Street SEA€<a€<a€<a€<First
Additional Premises - 4908-52nd Street SE (cross-hatched) Second Additional Premises - 4912-52nd Street SE (outlined in bold)a€<a€<«Page 11 of 17SCHEDULE "D"a€<Environmental
Questionnaired€<The applicant acknowledges that the information provided in this Tenant / Prospective Tenant Environmental Questionnaire will be relied upon by BentallGreenOak in
determining whether the applicant may lease the prospective premises and if so, under what conditions.Applicant's Name (theVersa Power Systems Ltd."Tenant"): &€« 4€<a€« a€< Prospective
Property Address: 4912-52nd Street SE&€< 4€<4€< 4€< Current Tenant Address: 4852-52nd Street SE4€< 4€<&€« 4€« Telephone: ( A )a€< 4€< Email: 4€< 4€< Person Responsible:a€« 4€<4€«
a€<a€«a)Describe the business activities to be carried on in the Premises and specify raw materials used, goods manufactured and any resulting waste materials or by-products that are
generated and the quantities of these materials.4€<a€<a€<b)Will the business activities to be carried on in the Premises entail the use, generating or storing of any contaminants or hazardous
materials (including but not limited to chemical products, degreasers, corrosives, flammable or combustibles, fuels, solvents, paints, medication, oil, gas, batteries, extinguisher, etc.) in any
quantity?NO A qYES A q(If so, describea€!)a€«a€<«a€<«a€<c)If yes to the above, please indicate the approximate quantities of materials which will be used or stored monthly or annually, in the
Premises (please attach a separate inventory list if applicable).4€<a€<a€<a€<«d)Will the business activities to be carried on in the Premises entail the use, generating or storing of any chemical or
hazardous wastes (i.e., non-domestic refuse) in any quantity?NOqYESq(If so, describe&€))a€<a€<a€a€<«a€<e)If yes to the above, please indicate the approximate quantities of wastes which will be
generated or stored monthly or annually, in the Premises (please attach a separate inventory list if applicable).a€<a€<a€<a€<f)How do you intend to store the contaminants and hazardous
materials and/or wastes described in b) and d)?a€<a€<«a€<a€<«g)How will the contaminants and hazardous materials and/or wastes, which are to be generated or used in the Premises, be
transported and disposed of and who will be the carrier?a€<a€<a€<«a€<«Page 12 of 17h)Do the business activities to be carried on in the Premises require that you or anyone else obtain any
certificate of authorizations, permits, environmental approvals or provide environmental data to government agencies?NOqYESq(If so, give details and attach the related
documentation)a€<a€«a€«a€<i)Will the business activities to be carried on in the Premises entail the discharge of contaminants and hazardous materials into the sewer system, into storm water
runoff (either into the system or over land) or into the air?a€<«a€<«a€<a€<j)Is pollution control equipment required to ensure that the discharge of contaminants or hazardous materials in to the
sewer system, storm water system or in the air will comply with all applicable requirements, including environmental laws, regulations, orders, by-laws or permits?NO A qYES A q(If so, give
details and list standards to be met)a€<a€«a€<a€<k)Do the business activities to be carried on in the Premises necessitate the installation of an underground or above ground storage tank in, on
or near the Premises or the Common Facilities?NOqYESq(If so, describe in detail the tank to be installed, material to be stored and whether there is any secondary
containment)a€«a€<a€<a€«a€<1)Will there be a prevention training or emergency plan in place to prevent an environmental incident or to deal with one if it occurs?NOqYESq(If so, give details
and attach a copy of the plan and training procedure)a€<a€<«a€<a€<m)Will there be an environmental management system in place?NOqYESq(If so, give details and attach a copy of the
program)a€<a€<«a€m)ls there appropriate insurance in place to handle issues related to contaminants or hazardous materials and/or wastes, including discharges into the environment? (i.e., on-
premises pollution or fixed site pollution policy - provides environmental coverage for operations that are in the care, custody and control of the tenant)NO A qYES A q(If so, give details and
attach a copy of the policy or certificate of insurance)a€<a€<a€«a€<By signing below, Tenant hereby certifies that the statements made and the information herein and data (if any) supplied
herewith are true, accurate and complete.a€<Tenant's Signature:a€<a€<Name (please print):a€<a€<Title:a€<Date:a€<«a€<Page 13 of 17SCHEDULE "G"a€<TENANT'S ADDITIONAL RESTORATION
OBLIGATIONSa€<a€<Page 14 of 17a€<a€<Page 15 of 17a€<a€<9.Shall remove the dry cooler and related equipment, electrical, piping, and concrete pads. (For clarity all items on the below
drawing that are circled in red shall be subject to restoration and removed)a€<3D PRESENTATION CHILLER/RTO/DRY COOLERA&€<a€<10.Shall close off any drains or piping as directed by the
Landlord.11.Shall remove any additional ventilation for the Tenant's use and shall patch and repair as needed.12.Shall remove excess roof equipment, patching and repairing the roof as
required. The Landlord's roofer shall be used for any work and should the roofer require sections to be fully restored the Tenant shall ensure this is completed.Drawing of roof all equipment
circled in red shall be removed and the roof repaired or restored:a€<13.Remove the new stairwells and covered dock loading siding covering the existing dock door area(s) and restore to its
original condition including installing new 8'x10' metal insulated overhead dock doors, complete with building standard dock pads and bumpers, and 40,000 lbs capacity hydraulica€<Page 16 of
17a€<a€<Page 17 of 17a€<a€<Exhibit 31.1CERTIFICATIONI, Jason B. Few, certify that:1.I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FuelCell Energy, Inc.;2.Based on my knowledge,
this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4.The
registranta€™s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared:(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such
internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™ s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation,
and(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting;
and5.The registrantd€™ s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the
audit committee of registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and(b)Any
fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting.a€<a€<September 5,
2024/s/ Jason B. Fewa€<Jason B. FewPresident and Chief Executive Officer(Principal Executive Officer)a€<a€<«Exhibit 31.2CERTIFICATIONI, Michael S. Bishop, certify that:1.I have reviewed this
quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FuelCell Energy, Inc.;2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3.Based on my knowledge,
the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4.The registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;(c)Evaluated the
effectiveness of the registranta€™s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation, and(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registranta€™ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting; and5.The registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit committee of registranta€™ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):(a)All significant deficiencies
and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™ s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal
control over financial reporting.&€<&€< September 5, 2024/s/ Michael S. Bishop&€<Michael S. BishopExecutive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer(Principle Financial Officer
and Principle Accounting Officer)a€<a€<Exhibit 32.1CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002In connection with the quarterly report of FuelCell Energy, Inc. (the &€ceCompanya€) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the &€ceReporta€), I, Jason B. Few, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. A§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to A§ 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:(1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C 78m or 780(d)); and(2)The
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.a€<a€«September 5, 2024/s/ Jason B. Fewa€<Jason B.
FewPresident and Chief Executive Officer(Principal Executive Officer)A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.a€<«a€<Exhibit 32.2CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002In connection with the quarterly report of FuelCell Energy, Inc. (the &€ceCompanya€) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the a&€ceReporté€), I, Michael S. Bishop, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. A§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to A§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:(1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C 78m or 780(d)); and(2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.a€<«a€<a€«@a€«September 5, 2024/s/ Michael S. Bishopa€Michael S. BishopExecutive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.



